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PART I
Item 1. Business.
We are a diversified business with two focuses:
•

•

specialty finance company that provides funding to nonprofit community associations primarily located in the state of Florida. We offer incorporated nonprofit
community associations, which we refer to as “Associations,” a variety of financial products customized to each Association’s financial needs. Our original product
offering consists of providing funding to Associations by purchasing their rights under delinquent accounts that are selected by the Associations arising from
unpaid Association assessments. Historically, we provided funding against such delinquent accounts, which we refer to as “Accounts,” in exchange for a portion of
the proceeds collected by the Associations from the account debtors on the Accounts. We have started purchasing Accounts on varying terms tailored to suit each
Association’s financial needs, including under our New Neighbor Guaranty™ program.
specialty health insurance broker (IIU, Inc) that was purchased on January 15, 2019, which provides global medical insurance products for international travelers,
specializing in policies covering high-risk destinations, emerging markets and foreign travelers coming to the United States. All policies are fully underwritten
with no claim risk remaining with IIU Inc.

Specialty Finance Company
We purchase Associations’ right to receive a portion of the Association’s collected proceeds from owners that are not paying their assessments. After taking assignment of an
Association’s right to receive a portion of the Association’s proceeds from the collection of delinquent assessments, we engage law firms to perform collection work on a
deferred billing basis wherein the law firms receive payment upon collection from the account debtors or a predetermined contracted amount if payment from account debtors is
less than legal fees and costs owed. Under this business model, we typically fund an amount equal to or less than the statutory minimum an Association could recover on a
delinquent account for each Account, which we refer to as the “Super Lien Amount”. Upon collection of an Account, the law firm working on the Account, on behalf of the
Association, generally distributes to us the funded amount, interest, and administrative late fees, with the law firm retaining legal fees and costs collected, and the Association
retaining the balance of the collection. In connection with this line of business, we have developed proprietary software for servicing Accounts, which we believe enables law
firms to service Accounts efficiently and profitably.
Under the New Neighbor Guaranty program, an Association will generally assign substantially all of its outstanding indebtedness and accruals on its delinquent units to us in
exchange for payment by us of monthly dues on each delinquent unit. This simultaneously eliminates a substantial portion of the Association’s balance sheet bad debts and
assists the Association to meet its budget by receiving guaranteed monthly payments on its delinquent units and relieving the Association from paying legal fees and costs to
collect its bad debts. We believe that the combined features of the program enhance the value of the underlying real estate in an Association and the value of an Association’s
delinquent receivables. We intend to leverage our proprietary software platform, as well as our industry experience and knowledge gained from our original line of business, to
expand the New Neighbor Guaranty program in certain situations and to potentially develop other new products in the future.
Because we acquire and collect on the delinquent receivables of Associations, the Account debtors are third parties about whom we have little or no information. Therefore, we
cannot predict when any given Account will be paid off or how much it will yield. In assessing the risk of purchasing Accounts, we review the property values of the underlying
units, the governing documents of the relevant Association, and the total number of delinquent receivables held by the Association.
Specialty Finance Products
Original Product
Our original product relies upon Florida statutory provisions that effectively protect the principal amount invested by us in each Account. In particular, Section 718.116(1),
Florida Statutes, makes purchasers and sellers of a unit in an Association jointly and severally liable for all past due assessments, interest, late fees, legal fees, and costs payable
to the Association. As discussed above, the statute grants to Associations a so-called “super lien”, which is a category of lien that is given a statutorily higher priority than all
other types of liens other than property tax liens. Under the Florida statute, a Florida Association’s super lien has higher priority than all other lien holders, except that in the
case of property tax liens. The amount of the Association’s priority over a first mortgage holder that takes title to a property through foreclosure (or deed in lieu), referred to as
the Super Lien Amount, is limited to twelve months’ past due assessments or, if less, one percent (1.0%) of the original mortgage amount. Under our contracts with
Associations for our original product, we pay Associations an amount up to the Super Lien Amount for the right to receive all collected interest and late fees on Accounts
purchased from the Associations.
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In other states in which we have offered our original product, which are currently only in Washington, Colorado and Illinois, we rely on statutes that we believe are similar to
the above-described Florida statutes in relevant respects. A total of approximately 22 U.S. states, Puerto Rico and the District of Columbia have super lien statutes that give
Association assessments super lien status under some circumstances, and of these states, we believe that all of these jurisdictions other than Alaska have a regulatory and
business environment that would enable us to offer our original product to Associations in those states on materially the same basis.
New Neighbor Guaranty
In 2012, we began development of a new product, the New Neighbor Guaranty, wherein an Association assigns substantially all of its outstanding indebtedness and accruals on
its delinquent units to us in exchange for payments in an amount equal to the regular ongoing monthly or quarterly assessments for delinquent units when those amounts would
be due to the Association. We assume both the payment and collection obligations for these assigned Accounts under this product. This simultaneously eliminates an
Association’s balance sheet bad debts and assists the Association to meet its budget by receiving guaranteed assessment payments on its delinquent units and relieving the
Association from paying legal fees and costs to collect its bad debts. We believe that the combined features of the product enhance the value of the underlying real estate in an
Association and the value of an Association’s delinquent receivables.
Before we implement the New Neighbor Guaranty program, an Association typically asks us to conduct a review of its accounts receivable. After we have conducted the
review, we inform the Association which Accounts we are willing to purchase and the terms of such purchase. Once we implement the New Neighbor Guaranty program, we
begin making scheduled payments to the Association on the Accounts as if the Association had non-delinquent residents occupying the units underlying the Accounts. Our New
Neighbor Guaranty contracts typically allow us to retain all collection proceeds on each Account other than special assessments and accelerated assessment balances. Thus, the
Association foregoes the potential benefit of a larger future collection in exchange for the certainty of a steady stream of immediate payments on the Account.
Future Products
We are also developing other variations of our contracts with Associations in various states that we may introduce to the market in the future. For example, under one product
under development, at the request of an Association lender we may contract with an Association to provide that the Association will have revenues equal to or more than 90%
of budget or any other percentage the lender requests. If an Association is at 80% of budget and a lender requires it to maintain revenues of 90% of budget, this product would
provide upfront capital to bring the Association to the 90% threshold and then make continuing payments to keep it there through the term of the loan. This minimizes the
lender’s risk of delinquencies adversely affecting the loan’s repayment. Also, this would enable lenders to do business with more Associations than their previous underwriting
guidelines would permit if Associations contract with us as part of the loan package. This product, along with other variations on our contracts with Associations in various
states, remains under development, however, and there is no assurance that we will ultimately launch this product or any other variation on our contracts with Associations in
any state.
Specialty Finance Industry Overview
According to the Community Association Institute (“CAI”), as of January 2016, 65 million people lived in 328,500 Associations in the United States. As a percentage,
homeowners associations accounted for between 51-55% of the total and condominium associations accounted for between 42-45% of the total, with cooperatives comprising
the balance. As of December 2016, Florida had nearly eight million residents living in more than 47,000 community associations. Assuming the national distribution of property
types exists in Florida, Florida has approximately 24,000 homeowners associations and 20,000 condominium associations. During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018, we
contracted with approximately 500 community associations. We believe opportunity remains abundant in our other geographic markets.
Associations typically address delinquencies by paying lawyers or collection agencies to recover amounts owed. While Associations seek recovery of delinquent amounts,
budgets go underfunded causing the need to cut services or raise assessments further. The real estate downturn in 2008 made delinquency issues an acute problem for a large
number of Associations. We were organized in 2008 to immediately address the financial problems faced by Associations as a result of delinquent unit owners.
According to the CAI, as of December 2016, in Florida where we have primarily operated, Associations annually assess their residents $9 billion and nationwide, annual
assessments by Associations are $65 billion. We believe we are the largest purchaser of delinquent Accounts in Florida, with total purchases of approximately $309 million over
a ten-year period. The balance of delinquent Accounts are serviced by lawyers, collection companies, our competitors, or not serviced at all. We believe we offer Associations a
better
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financial solution to Account delinquencies and that Associations will increasingly turn to us and our products as a solution to handle Account delinquencies.
Specialty Finance Strategy
Our primary objective is to utilize our competitive strengths, including our proprietary technology and our management’s experience and expertise in buying and collecting
Association Accounts, to grow our business in Florida and in other states by identifying, evaluating, pricing, and acquiring Association Accounts and maximizing collections of
such Accounts in a cost efficient manner. The principal elements of our strategy and competitive advantage are as follows:
•

Capitalizing on our brand and existing strategic relationships to identify and acquire Association Accounts. We market our “We Buy Problems” and “You Are
Always Better off with LM Funding” brands primarily through trade shows throughout Florida and, to a lesser extent, at national events. Participation in these
shows and events has enabled us to form strategic relationships throughout the Association services industry and has served to provide a positive reputation in
the industry. We leverage our brand and strategic relationships with law firms and Associations to identify and purchase Accounts.

•

Partnering with Associations’ advisors such as law firms, management companies, accountants, Association lenders, and others to efficiently identify and
acquire Accounts on a national basis. The point of purchase for Accounts is at the individual Association board of directors level; therefore, establishing and
maintaining relationships with the advisors of those boards is important to our business strategy. Our strategic relationships with Association boards’ advisors
provide us with opportunities to meet with Association boards on favorable terms and help us to gain their trust and confidence.

•

Providing our proprietary software to our partner law firms in order to cost effectively track, control, and collect purchased Accounts and maintain low fixed
overhead. Our proprietary software provides a competitive advantage that enables law firms’ lawyers to efficiently handle approximately 1,000 accounts at a
time with a high degree of uniformity and accuracy based upon historical caseload per lawyer of Business Law Group, P.A., one of our partner law firms. This
enables our law firms to operate more efficiently and profitably, while simultaneously enabling us to cost effectively track and control our Accounts on a realtime basis.

•

Utilizing increased access to capital and lines of credit to expand our product offerings nationally. As a specialty finance company, capital is our inventory.
Access to capital has always determined the speed of our growth and the amount of upfront funding we can provide with our products. We believe that
increased access to capital will enable us to pursue more opportunities to buy Accounts and to develop a wider array of specialty finance products.

•

Extending secured commercial loans as a means to acquiring large blocks of Accounts. We intend to pursue the extension of secured loans to commercial
partners who, as a condition of such loans, would be required to drive large blocks of accounts to us. Banks, management companies, law firms, and large
Associations control large blocks of Accounts that we may be able to acquire if we help meet their capital needs.

•

Pursuing acquisitions of providers in the Association Account servicing industry. A number of smaller collection companies continue to operate in the
community association market. Some have funded Accounts that we can acquire. Others have customer relationships which can serve as a valuable platform
for selling our products. We will continue to explore opportunities to expand our footprint in both the states in which we operate and by looking to make
strategic acquisitions in states we wish to expand to.

Specialty Health Insurance
Our subsidiary IIU Inc. (“IIU”) through its wholly owned company Wallach and Company (:Wallach”) offers health insurance, travel insurance and other travel services to:
•
•

United States citizens and residents traveling abroad
Non United States citizens or residents who travel to the United States

These services are typically sold through a policy offered by Wallach and fully underwritten by a third party insurance company. The policies offered include:
•
•

HealthCare Abroad - Short term medical insurance, medical evacuation and international assistance for Americans traveling overseas. There is an age limit of 84
years old.
HealthCare Global – up to 6 months coverage for Americans traveling abroad and foreign nationals traveling outside their home countries to destinations other
than the United States. There is an age limit of 70 years old.
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•
•
•

HealthCare America – up to 90 days coverage for foreign nationals visiting the United States. There is an age limit of 70 years old.
HealthCare International – International medical insurance & assistance for persons living outside their home country. There is an age limit of 70 years old.
HealthCare War – up to 6 months coverage for Americans traveling abroad and foreign nationals traveling outside their home countries to identified war risk
areas. There is an age limit of 70 years old.

Specialty Health Insurance Industry Overview
The international travel insurance industry is highly competitive with a number of companies providing such services ranging in size from billion dollar companies such as
AXA Insurance to smaller specialized firms such as IIU. The U.S. Travel Insurance Association estimated in 2016 that consumers spent approximately $2.8 billion on various
types of travel insurance products, an increase of 19.1% from 2014. The main types of travel insurance include: trip cancellation/interruption/delay; baggage loss/delay on
personal effects insurance; travel medical insurance; medical evacuation insurance; and cancel for any reason coverage.
Specialty Health Insurance Strategy
Our strategy is to expand our customer base by identifying business partners who focus on overseas citizens who travel to the United States that are currently underserved by
other competitors and identifying other United Stated based travel providers who can increase revenues by partnering with IIU for providing travel insurance.

Employees
As of April 15, 2019, we had 9 employees all of which are full-time.
Corporate Information
LM Funding, LLC, a wholly-owned subsidiary, was originally organized in January 2008 as a Florida limited liability company. In preparation for our initial public offering in
October 2015, we were incorporated in Delaware on April 20, 2015. Upon completion of our initial public offering, we became the holding company of LM Funding, LLC. All
of our business is conducted through LM Funding, LLC and its subsidiaries.
IIU, Inc a wholly-owned subsidiary was organized in April 2018 as a Virginia corporation. IIU, Inc owns Wallach and Company, a Virginia corporation, was organized in
January 1989.
Item 1A. Risk Factors.
You should carefully consider each of the risks described below, together with all of the other information contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, before making an
investment decision with respect to our securities. If any of the following risks actually occur, our business, financial condition, results of operations, or cash flow could be
materially and adversely affected and you may lose all or part of your investment.
Risks Relating to Our Business
Our quarterly operating results may fluctuate and cause our stock price to decline.
Because of the nature of our business, our quarterly operating results may fluctuate, which may adversely affect the market price of our common stock. Our results may
fluctuate as a result of the following factors:
(i)
(ii)
(iii)
(iv)
(v)
(vi)
(vii)

the timing and amount of collections on our Account portfolio;
our inability to identify and acquire additional Accounts;
a decline in the value of our Account portfolio recoveries;
a decline in the number of travel insurance policies sold;
an increase in the underwriting costs associated with underwriting travel insurance policies;
increases in operating expenses associated with the growth of our operations; and
general, economic and real estate market conditions.
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Any future acquisitions that we make may prove unsuccessful or strain or divert our resources.
We may seek to grow through acquisitions of related businesses. Such acquisitions present risks that could materially adversely affect our business and financial performance,
including:
(i)
(ii)
(iii)
(iv)

the diversion of our management’s attention from our everyday business activities;
the assimilation of the operations and personnel of the acquired business;
the contingent and latent risks associated with the past operations of, and other unanticipated problems arising in, the acquired business; and
the need to expand our management, administration and operational systems to accommodate such acquired business.

If we make such acquisitions we cannot predict whether:
(i) we will be able to successfully integrate the operations of any new businesses into our business;
(ii) we will realize any anticipated benefits of completed acquisitions; or
(iii) there will be substantial unanticipated costs associated with such acquisitions.
In addition, future acquisitions by us may result in potentially dilutive issuances of our equity securities, the incurrence of additional debt, and the recognition of significant
charges for depreciation and amortization related to goodwill and other intangible assets.
Although we have no definitive plans or intentions to make acquisitions of related businesses, we continuously evaluate such potential acquisitions. However, we have not
reached any agreement or arrangement with respect to any particular acquisition and we may not be able to complete any acquisitions on favorable terms or at all.
Our investments in other businesses and entry into new business ventures may adversely affect our operations.
We have made and may continue to make investments in companies or commence operations in businesses and industries that are not identical to those with which we have
historically been successful. If these investments or arrangements are not successful, our earnings could be materially adversely affected by increased expenses and decreased
revenues.
Our organizational documents and Delaware law may make it harder for us to be acquired without the consent and cooperation of our Board of Directors and
management.
Certain provisions of our organizational documents and Delaware law may deter or prevent a takeover attempt, including a takeover attempt in which the potential purchaser
offers to pay a per share price greater than the current market price of our common stock. Under the terms of our certificate of incorporation, our Board of Directors has the
authority, without further action by our stockholders, to issue shares of preferred stock in one or more series and to fix the rights, preferences, privileges and restrictions thereof.
In addition, our directors serve staggered terms of one to three years each and, as such, at any given annual meeting of our stockholders, only a portion of our Board of
Directors may be considered for election, which may prevent our stockholders from replacing a majority of our Board of Directors at certain annual meetings and may entrench
our management and discourage unsolicited stockholder proposals. The ability to issue shares of preferred stock could tend to discourage takeover or acquisition proposals not
supported by our current Board of Directors.
Future sales of our common stock may depress our stock price.
Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market could cause a decrease in the market price of our common stock. We had 3,124,962 shares of
common stock issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2018. We may issue additional shares in connection with our business and may grant stock options to our
employees, officers, directors and consultants under our stock option plans or warrants to third parties. If a significant portion of these shares were sold in the public market, the
market value of our common stock could be adversely affected.
Craven House Capital North America Inc (“Craven”) owns 20% of our company and may exert significant influence over our company, reducing the influence of our
other stockholders.
As of December 31, 2018, Craven House Capital North America Inc. beneficially own, in the aggregate, 20% of our outstanding shares of common stock and its ownership
may increase rise to 46% if the senior secured convertible note it holds is converted into
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shares our common stock. As a result, Craven may be able to influence the actions that require stockholder approval, including the election of a majority of our directors and the
approval of mergers, sales of assets or other corporate transactions or matters submitted for stockholder approval. As a result, our other stockholders may have little or no
influence over matters submitted for stockholder approval once Craven converts its note into shares. In addition, Craven’s influence could deter or preclude any unsolicited
acquisition of us and consequently materially adversely affect the price of our common stock.
Risks Related to Specialty Travel Health Insurance Business
We are subject to intense competition in providing travel health insurance coverage and solutions.
There are a number of companies that provide travel health insurance coverage that are similar to our travel health insurance policies. We compete on the basis of reputation,
industry experience and performance. Some of these competitors have greater contacts with airlines, travel agents and other entities that arrange travel for individual and
business travelers that have greater financial resources and access to capital, more personnel, wider geographic presence and other resources than we have. Aggressive pricing
by our competitors could lower the price of such policies which would may require us to lower our prices to stay competitive. This may result in reduced revenues generated by
us and reduced earnings.
Risks Related to Specialty Finance Business
We may not be able to purchase Accounts at favorable prices, or on sufficiently favorable terms, or at all.
Our success depends upon the continued availability of Association Accounts. The availability of Accounts at favorable prices and on terms acceptable to us depends on a
number of factors outside our control, including:
(i)

the status of the economy and real estate market in markets which we have operations may become so strong that delinquent Accounts do not occur in
sufficient quantities to efficiently acquire them;
(ii) the perceived need of Associations to sell their Accounts to us as opposed to taking other measures to solve budget problems such as increasing
assessments; and
(iii) competitive pressures from law firms, collections agencies, and others to produce more revenue for Associations than we can provide through the purchase
of Accounts.
In addition, our ability to purchase Accounts, in particular with respect to our original product, is reliant on state statutes allowing for a Super Lien Amount to protect our
principal investment; any change of those statutes and elimination of the priority of the Super Lien Amount, particularly in Florida, could have an adverse effect on our ability to
purchase Accounts. If we were unable to purchase Accounts at favorable prices or on terms acceptable to us, or at all, it would likely have a material adverse effect on our
financial condition and results of operations.
We may not be able to recover sufficient amounts on our Accounts to recover charges to the Accounts for interest and late fees necessary to fund our operations.
We acquire and collect on the delinquent receivables of Associations. Since Account debtors are third parties that we have little to no information about, we cannot predict when
any given Account will pay off or how much it will yield. In order to operate profitably over the long term, we must continually purchase and collect on a sufficient volume of
Accounts to generate revenue that exceeds our costs.
We are subject to intense competition seeking to provide a collection solution to Associations for delinquent Accounts.
Lawyers, collection agencies, and other direct and indirect competitors vying to collect on Accounts all propose to solve the problem delinquent Accounts pose to Associations.
Additionally, Associations and their management companies sometimes try to solve their delinquent Account problems in house, without the assistance of third-party collection
agencies. An Account that an Association attempts to collect through any of these other options is an Account we cannot purchase and collect. We compete on the basis of
reputation, industry experience, performance and financing dollars. Some of these competitors have greater contacts with Associations, greater financial resources and access to
capital, more personnel, wider geographic presence and other resources than we have. In addition, we expect the entry of new competitors in the future given the relatively new
nature of the market in which we operate. Aggressive pricing by our competitors could raise the price of acquiring and purchasing Accounts above levels that we are willing to
pay, which could reduce the number of Accounts suitable for us to purchase or if purchased by us, reduce the profits, if any, generated by such Accounts. If we are unable to
purchase Accounts at favorable prices or at all, the revenues generated by us and our earnings could be materially reduced.
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We are dependent upon third-party law firms to service our Accounts.
Although we utilize our proprietary software and in-house staff to track, monitor, and direct the collection of our Accounts, we depend upon third-party law firms to perform the
collection work. As a result, we are dependent upon the efforts of our third-party law firms, particularly Business Law Group, P.A. (“BLG”) to service and collect our Accounts.
As of December 31, 2018, BLG was responsible for servicing over 98% of our Accounts. Our revenues and profitability could be materially affected if:
(i)

our agreements with the third-party law firms we use are terminated and we are not able to secure replacement law firms or direct payments from account
debtors to our replacement law firms;
(ii) our relationships with our law firms adversely change;
(iii) our law firms fail to adequately perform their obligations; or
(iv) internal changes at such law firms occur, such as loss of staff who service us.
If we are unable to access external sources of financing, we may not be able to fund and grow our operations.
We depend upon loans from external sources from time to time to fund and expand our operations. Our ability to grow our business is dependent on our access to additional
financing and capital resources. The failure to obtain financing and capital as needed would limit our ability to purchase Accounts and achieve our growth plans.
We may incur substantial indebtedness from time to time in connection with the purchase of Accounts and could be subject to risks associated with incurring such
indebtedness, including:
(i)

we could be required to dedicate a portion of our cash flows from operations to pay debt service costs and, as a result, we would have less funds available for
operations, future acquisitions of Accounts, and other purposes;
(ii) it may be more difficult and expensive to obtain additional funds through financings, if such funds are available at all;
(iii) we could be more vulnerable to economic downturns and fluctuations in interest rates, less able to withstand competitive pressures and less flexible in
reacting to changes in our industry and general economic conditions; and
(iv) if we default under any of our existing credit facilities or if our creditors demand payment of a portion or all of our indebtedness, we may not have sufficient
funds to make such payments.
We may encounter difficulties managing changes in our business including cyclical growth and declines, which could disrupt our operations, and there is no assurance
that any such growth (if experienced) can be sustained.
From time to time since our inception, we have experienced periods of significant growth and declines. Although there is no assurance that we will again experience periods of
significant growth or continued declines in the future, if we do, there can be no assurance that we will be able to manage our changing operations effectively or that we will be
able to maintain or accelerate our growth, and any failure to do so could adversely affect our ability to generate revenues and control expenses. Future growth will depend upon
a number of factors, including:
(i)

the effective and timely initiation and development of relationships with law firms, management companies, accounting firms and other trusted advisors of
Associations willing to sell Accounts;
(ii) our ability to continue to develop our proprietary software for use in other markets and with different products;
(iii) our ability to maintain the collection of Accounts efficiently;
(iv) the recruitment, motivation and retention of qualified personnel both in our principal office and in new markets;
(v) our ability to successfully implement our business strategy in states outside of the state of Florida; and
(vi) our successful implementation of enhancements to our operational and financial systems.
Due to our limited financial resources and the limited experience and size of our management team, we may not be able to effectively manage the growth of our business.
Significant growth may lead to significant costs and may divert our management and business development resources. Any inability to manage growth could delay the
execution of our business strategy or disrupt our operations.
Government regulations may limit our ability to recover and enforce the collection of our Accounts.
Federal, state and municipal laws, rules, rules, regulations and ordinances may limit our ability to recover and enforce our rights with respect to the Accounts acquired by us.
These laws include, but are not limited to, the following federal statutes and regulations promulgated thereunder and comparable statutes in states where account debtors reside
and/or located:
(i)
(ii)

the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act;
the Federal Trade Commission Act;
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(iii)
(iv)
(v)
(vi)
(vii)

the Truth-In-Lending Act;
the Fair Credit Billing Act;
the Dodd-Frank Act;
the Equal Credit Opportunity Act; and
the Fair Credit Reporting Act.

We may be precluded from collecting Accounts we purchase where the Association or its prior legal counsel, management company, or collection agency failed to comply with
applicable laws in charging the account debtor or prosecuting the collection of the Account. Laws relating to the collection of consumer debt also directly apply to our business.
Our failure to comply with any laws applicable to us, including state licensing laws, could limit our ability to recover our Accounts and could subject us to fines and penalties,
which could reduce our revenues.
We may become regulated under the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau, or CFPB, and have not developed compliance standards for such oversight.
The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (2010), or Dodd-Frank Act, represents a comprehensive overhaul of the financial services industry within
the U.S. The Dodd-Frank Act allows consumers free access to their credit score if their score negatively affects them in a financial transaction or a hiring decision, and also
gives consumers access to credit score disclosures as part of an adverse action and risk-based pricing notice. Title X of the Dodd-Frank Act establishes the Bureau of Consumer
Financial Protection, or CFPB, within the Federal Reserve Board, and requires the CFPB and other federal agencies to implement many new and significant rules and
regulations. Significant portions of the Dodd-Frank Act related to the CFPB became effective on July 21, 2011. The CFPB has broad powers to promulgate, administer and
enforce consumer financial regulations, including those applicable to us and possibly our funded Associations. Under the Dodd-Frank Act, the CFPB is the principal supervisor
and enforcer of federal consumer financial protection laws with respect to nondepository institutions, or “nonbanks”, including, without limitation, any “covered person” who is
a “larger participant” in a market for other consumer financial products or services. We do not know if our unique business model makes us a covered person.
The CFPB has started to exercise authority to define unfair, deceptive or abusive acts and practices and to require reports and conduct examinations of these entities for purposes
of (i) assessing compliance with federal consumer financial protections laws; (ii) obtaining information about the activities and compliance systems or procedures of such
entities; and (iii) detecting and assessing risks to consumers and to markets for consumer financial products and services. The exercise of this supervisory authority must be
risk-based, meaning that the CFPB will identify nonbanks for examination based on the risk they pose to consumers, including consideration of the entity’s asset size,
transaction volume, risk to consumers, existing oversight by state authorities and any other factors that the CFPB determines to be relevant. When a nonbank is in violation of
federal consumer financial protection laws, including the CFPB’s own rules, the CFPB may pursue administrative proceedings or litigation to enforce those laws and rules. In
these proceedings, the CFPB can obtain cease and desist orders, which can include orders for restitution or rescission of contracts, as well as other kinds of affirmative relief,
and monetary penalties ranging from $5,000 per day for ordinary violations of federal consumer financial protection laws to $25,000 per day for reckless violations and $1
million per day for knowing violations. Also, where a company has violated Title X of the Dodd-Frank Act or CFPB regulations under Title X, the Dodd-Frank Act empowers
state attorneys general and state regulators to bring civil actions for the kind of cease and desist orders available to the CFPB (but not for civil penalties). If the CFPB or one or
more state officials believe that we have committed a violation of the foregoing laws, they could exercise their enforcement powers in a manner that could have a material
adverse effect on us.
At this time, we cannot predict the extent to which the Dodd-Frank Act or the resulting rules and regulations, including those of the CFPB, will impact the U.S. economy and
our products and services. Compliance with these new laws and regulations may require changes in the way we conduct our business and could result in additional compliance
costs, which could be significant and could adversely impact our results of operations, financial condition or liquidity.
Current and new laws may adversely affect our ability to collect our Accounts, which could adversely affect our revenues and earnings.
Because our Accounts are generally originated and collected pursuant to a variety of federal and state laws by a variety of third parties and may involve consumers in all 50
states, the District of Columbia and Puerto Rico, there can be no assurance that all Associations and their management companies, legal counsel, collections agencies and others
have at all times been in compliance with all applicable laws relating to the collection of Accounts. Additionally, there can be no assurance that we or our law firms have been
or will continue to be at all times in compliance with all applicable laws. Failure to comply with applicable laws could materially adversely affect our ability to collect our
Accounts and could subject us to increased costs, fines, and penalties. Furthermore, changes in state law regarding the lien priority status of delinquent Association assessments
could materially and adversely affect our business.
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Class action suits and other litigation could divert our management’s attention from operating our business, increase our expenses, and otherwise harm our business.
Certain originators and servicers involved in consumer credit collection and related businesses have been subject to class actions and other litigation. Claims include failure to
comply with applicable laws and regulations such as usury and improper or deceptive origination and collection practices. From time to time we are a party to such litigation,
and as a result, our management’s attention may be diverted from our everyday business activities and implementing our business strategy, and our results of operations and
financial condition could be materially adversely affected by, among other things, legal expenses and challenges to our business model in connection with such litigation.
If our technology and software systems are not operational, our operations could be disrupted and our ability to successfully acquire and collect Accounts could be
adversely affected.
Our success depends in part on our proprietary software. We must record and process significant amounts of data quickly and accurately to properly track, monitor and collect
our Accounts. Any failure of our information systems and their backup systems would interrupt our operations. We may not have adequate backup arrangements for all of our
operations and we may incur significant losses if an outage occurs. In addition, we rely on third-party law firms who also may be adversely affected in the event of an outage in
which the third-party servicer does not have adequate backup arrangements. Any interruption in our operations or our third-party law firms’ operations could have an adverse
effect on our results of operations and financial condition.
Risks Relating to the Accounts
Insolvency of BLG could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
Our primary Account servicer, BLG, deposits collections on the Accounts in its Interest on Lawyers Trust Account (“IOLTA Trust Account”) and then distributes the proceeds
to itself, us and the Associations pursuant to the terms of the purchase agreements with the Associations and applicable law. We do not have a perfected security interest in the
amounts BLG collects on the Accounts while such amounts are held in the IOLTA Trust Account. BLG has agreed to promptly remit to us all amounts collected on the
Accounts that are owed to us. If, however, BLG were to become subject to any insolvency law and a creditor or trustee-in-bankruptcy of BLG were to take the position that
proceeds of the Accounts held in BLG’s IOLTA Trust Account should be treated as assets of BLG, an Association or another third party, delays in payments from collections
on the Accounts held by BLG could occur or reductions in the amounts of payments to be remitted by BLG to us could result, which could adversely affect our financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows.
Associations do not make any guarantee with respect to the validity, enforceability or collectability of the Accounts acquired by us.
Associations do not make any representations, warranties or covenants with respect to the validity, enforceability or collectability of Accounts in their assignments of Accounts
to us. If an Account proves to be invalid, unenforceable or otherwise generally uncollectible, we will not have any recourse against the respective Association. If a significant
number of our Accounts are later held to be invalid, unenforceable or are otherwise uncollectible, our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows could be
adversely affected.
All of our Accounts are located in Florida, and any adverse conditions affecting Florida could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of
operations.
Our primary business relates to revenues from Accounts purchased by us, which are all based in Florida, and our primary source of revenue consists of payments made by
condominium and home owners to satisfy the liens against their condominiums and homes. As of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, Florida represented 100% of our
Accounts. An economic recession, adverse market conditions in Florida, and/or significant property damage caused by hurricanes, tornadoes or other inclement weather could
adversely affect the ability of these condominium and home owners to satisfy the liens against their condominiums and homes, which could, in turn, have a material adverse
effect on our financial condition and results of operations.
Foreclosure on an Association’s lien may not result in our company recouping the amount that we invested in the related Account.
All of the Accounts purchased by us are in default. The Accounts are secured by liens held by Associations, which we have an option to foreclose upon on behalf of the
Associations. Should we foreclose upon such a lien on behalf of an Association, we are generally entitled pursuant to our contractual arrangements with the Association to have
the Association quitclaim its interests in the condominium unit or home to us. In the event that any Association quitclaims its interests in a condominium unit or home to us, we
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will be relying on the short-term rental prospects, to the extent permitted under bylaws and rules applicable to the Association, and value of its interest in the underlying
property, which value may be affected by numerous risks, including:
(i)
(ii)
(iii)
(iv)
(v)
(vi)
(vii)
(viii)

changes in general or local economic conditions;
neighborhood values;
interest rates;
real estate tax rates and other operating expenses;
the possibility of overbuilding of similar properties and of the inability to obtain or maintain full occupancy of the properties;
governmental rules and fiscal policies;
acts of God; and
other factors which are beyond our control.

It is possible that as a result of a decrease in the value of the property or any of the other factors referred to in this paragraph, the amount realized from the sale of such property
after taking title through a lien foreclosure may be less than our total investment in the Account. If this occurs with regard to a substantial number of Accounts, the amount
expected to be realized from the Accounts will decrease and our financial condition and results of operations could be harmed.
If Account debtors or their agents make payments on the Accounts to or negotiate reductions in the Accounts with an Association, it could adversely affect our financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows.
From time to time account debtors and/or their agents may make payments on the Accounts directly to the Association or its management company. Our sole recourse in this
instance is to recover these misapplied payments through set-offs of payments later collected for that Association by our third-party law firms. A significant number of
misapplied or reduced payments could hinder our cash flows and adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.
Account debtors are subject to a variety of factors that may adversely affect their payment ability.
Collections on the Accounts have varied and may in the future vary greatly in both timing and amount from the payments actually due on the Accounts due to a variety of
economic, social and other factors. Failures by account debtors to timely pay off their Accounts could adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows.
Defaults on the Accounts could harm our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
We take assignments of the lien foreclosure rights of Associations against delinquent units owned by account debtors who are responsible for payment of the Accounts. The
payoff of the Accounts is dependent upon the ability and willingness of the condominium and home owners to pay such obligations. If an owner fails to pay off the Account
relating to his, her or its unit or home, only net amounts, if any, recovered will be available with respect to that Account. Foreclosures by holders of first mortgages generally
result in our receipt of reduced recoveries from Accounts. In addition, foreclosure actions by any holder of a tax lien may result in us receiving no recovery from an Account to
the extent excess proceeds from such tax lien foreclosure are insufficient to provide for payment to us. If, at any time, (i) we experience an increase in mortgage foreclosures or
tax lien foreclosures or (ii) we experience a decrease in owner payments, our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows could be adversely affected.
We depend on the skill and diligence of third parties to collect the Accounts.
Because the collection of Accounts requires special skill and diligence, any failure of BLG, or any other law firm utilized by us, to diligently collect the Accounts could
adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
The payoff amounts received by us from Accounts may be adversely affected due to a variety of factors beyond our control.
Several factors may reduce the amount that can be collected on any individual Account. The delinquent assessments that are the subject of the Accounts and related charges are
included within an Association’s claim of lien under the applicable statute. In Florida, Association liens are recorded in the official county records and hold first priority status
with respect to a first mortgage holder for an amount equal to the Super Lien Amount. Associations have assigned to us the right to direct law firms to collect on the liens and
foreclose, subject to the terms and conditions of the purchase agreements between each Association and us.
Each Account presents a separate risk as to the creditworthiness of the debtor obligated to pay the Account, which, in general, is the owner of the unit or home when the
Account was incurred and subsequent owners. For instance, if the debtor has incurred a property tax lien, a sale related to such lien could result in our complete loss of the
Account. Also, a holder of a first mortgage taking title
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through a foreclosure proceeding in which the Association is named as a defendant must only pay the Super Lien Amount in a state with a super lien statute. Although we
purchase Accounts at a discount to the outstanding balance and the owner remains personally liable for any deficiency, we may decide that it is not cost-effective to pursue such
a deficiency. As a result, the purchase or ownership of a significant number of Accounts which result in payment of only the Super Lien Amount or less where no statute
specifying a Super Lien Amount applies, could adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.
The liens securing the Accounts we own may not be superior to all liens on the related units and homes.
Although the liens of the Associations securing the Accounts may be superior in right of payment to some of the other liens on a condominium unit or home, they may not be
superior to all liens on that condominium unit or home. For instance, a lien relating to delinquent property taxes would be superior in right of payment to the liens securing the
Accounts. In addition, if an Association fails to assert the priority of its lien in a foreclosure action, the Association may inadvertently waive the priority of its lien. In the event
that there is a lien of superior priority on a unit or home relating to one of the Accounts, the Association’s lien might be extinguished in the event that such superior liens are
foreclosed. In most instances, the unit or home owner will be liable for the payment of such Account and the ultimate payment would depend on the creditworthiness of such
owner. In the case of a tax lien foreclosure, an owner taking title through foreclosure would not be liable for the payment of obligations that existed prior to the foreclosure sale.
The purchase or ownership of a significant number of Accounts that are the subject of foreclosure by a superior lien could adversely affect our financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows.
We may not choose to pursue a foreclosure action against condominium and home owners who are delinquent in paying off the Accounts relating to their units or homes.
Although we have the right to pursue a foreclosure action against a unit or home owner who is delinquent in paying off the Account relating to his or her unit or home, we may
not choose to do so as the cost of such litigation may be prohibitive, especially when pursuing an individual claim against a single unit or home owner. Our choice not to
foreclose on a unit or home may delay our ability to collect on the Account. If we decide not to pursue foreclosure against a significant number of Accounts, it could adversely
affect our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
The holding period for our Accounts from purchase to payoff is indeterminate.
It can take our third-party law firms anywhere from three months to four years or longer to collect on an Account. Approximately 75% of our Accounts were purchased prior to
2014, with some being purchased as early as 2008. Due to various factors, including those discussed above, we cannot project the payoff date for any Account. This
indeterminate holding period reduces our liquidity and ability to fund our operations. If our ability to collect on a material number of Accounts was significantly delayed, it
could adversely affect our cash flows and ability to fund our operations.
Our business model and related accounting treatment may result in acceleration of expense recognition before the corresponding revenues can be recognized.
As we expand our business, we may incur significant upfront costs relating to the acquisition of Accounts. Under United States generally accepted accounting principles
(“GAAP”) such amounts may be required to be recognized in the period that they are expended. However, the corresponding revenue stream relating to the acquisition of such
Accounts will not be recognized until future dates. Therefore, we may experience reduced earnings in earlier periods until such time as the revenue stream relating to the
acquisition of such Accounts may be recognized.
Risks Relating to our Securities
Future sales of our common stock by our affiliates or other stockholders may depress our stock price.
Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market could cause a decrease in the market price of our common stock. We had authorized
30,000,000 and 10,000,000 shares of common stock and preferred stock, respectively as of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017.
We had 3,124,961 and 625,318 shares of common stock issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively. In addition, pursuant to our
2015 Omnibus Incentive Plan, options to purchase 19,300 and 11,290 respectively, shares of our common stock were outstanding as of December 31, 2018 and December 31,
2017, of which 6,630 and 6,290, respectively were exercisable.
There were 3,843,587 and 1,200,00 warrants issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively that allowed for the issuance of 2,763,587
and 120,000 shares, respectively. The 1,200,000 warrants that were issued on October 23,
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2015 can be exercised for one-tenth share at $12.50.On April 2, 2018 we issued warrants (subsequently adjusted for a reverse stock split and issuance of new common shares)
to purchase 143,587 shares of our common stock in conjunction with a $500,000 senior secured indebtedness transaction.
We may issue additional shares in connection with our business and may grant additional stock options or restricted shares to our employees, officers, directors and consultants
under our present or future equity compensation plans or we may issue warrants to third parties outside of such plans. If a significant portion of these shares were sold in the
public market, the market value of our common stock could be adversely affected.
The market price and trading volume of our units, shares of common stock and warrants may be volatile, and you may not be able to resell your shares of common stock or
warrants (as the case may be) at or above the price you paid for them.
Our securities may trade at prices significantly below the price you paid for it, in which case, holders of our securities may experience difficulty in reselling, or an inability to
sell, our securities. In addition, when the market price of a company’s equity drops significantly, equity holders often institute securities class action lawsuits against the
company. A lawsuit against us could cause us to incur substantial costs and could divert the time and attention of our management and other resources away from the day-today operations of our business.
Effective December 26, 2017, we are no longer a “controlled company” within the meaning of the rules of The NASDAQ Capital Market and, as a result, we no longer
qualify for, or are able to rely on, exemptions from certain corporate governance requirements.
The entities controlled by Bruce M. Rodgers, our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, and Carollinn Gould, our Vice President-General Manager and director, historically
controlled a majority of the voting power of our common stock. As a result, until December 26, 2017, we were a “controlled company” within the meaning of the corporate
governance standards of The NASDAQ Capital Market.
Because we are no longer a controlled company effective December 26, 2017, we will have to transition into compliance with the following NASDAQ requirements (subject to
certain phase-in periods under the Nasdaq rules):
•
•

the requirement that we have a nominating and corporate governance committee that is composed entirely of independent directors with a written charter
addressing the committee’s purpose and responsibilities;
the requirement for an annual performance evaluation of the nominating and corporate governance and compensation committees.

Securities analysts may not initiate coverage of our securities or may issue negative reports, which may adversely affect the trading price of our securities.
We cannot assure you that securities analysts will cover our company. As of December 31, 2018, no securities analyst covers our company. If securities analysts do not cover
our company, this lack of coverage may adversely affect the trading price of our securities. In the event that securities analyst begin to cover our company, the trading market
for our securities will rely in part on the research and reports that such securities analysts publish about us and our business. If one or more of the analysts who cover our
company downgrades our securities, the trading price of our securities may decline. If one or more of these analysts then ceases to cover our company, we could lose visibility
in the market, which, in turn, could also cause the trading price of our securities to decline. Further, because of our small market capitalization, it may be difficult for us to attract
securities analysts to cover our company, which could significantly and adversely affect the trading price of our securities.
If we do not maintain an effective registration statement, you may not be able to exercise the warrants in a cash exercise.
For you to be able to exercise the warrants, the resale of the shares of common stock to be issued to you upon exercise of the warrants must be covered by an effective and
current registration statement. We cannot guarantee that we will continue to maintain a current registration statement relating to the resale of the shares of common stock
underlying the warrants. In such circumstances, you would be unable to exercise the warrants in a cash exercise and will be required to engage in a cashless exercise in which a
number of warrant shares equal to the fair market value of the exercised shares will be withheld. In those circumstances, we may, but are not required to, redeem the warrants by
payment in cash. Consequently, there is a possibility that you will never be able to exercise the warrants and receive the underlying shares of common stock. This potential
inability to exercise the warrants in a cash exercise, our right to cancel the warrants under certain circumstances, and the possibility that we may redeem the warrants for
nominal value, may have an adverse effect on demand for the warrants and the prices that can be obtained from reselling them.
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We are an “emerging growth company” and the reduced disclosure requirements applicable to emerging growth companies may make our securities less attractive to
investors.
We are an “emerging growth company,” or EGC, as defined in the JOBS Act. We will remain an EGC until the earlier of: (i) the last day of the fiscal year in which we have
total annual gross revenues of $1 billion or more; (ii) the last day of the fiscal year following the fifth anniversary of the date of our initial public stock offering; (iii) the date on
which we have issued more than $1 billion in nonconvertible debt during the previous three years; or (iv) the date on which we are deemed to be a large accelerated filer under
the rules of the SEC, which means the first day of the year following the first year in which the market value of our common stock that is held by non-affiliates exceeds $700
million as of June 30. For so long as we remain an EGC, we are permitted to rely on exemptions from certain disclosure requirements that are applicable to other public
companies that are not emerging growth companies. These exemptions include:
•
•
•
•
•
•

being permitted to provide only two years of audited financial statements, in addition to any required unaudited interim financial statements, with
correspondingly reduced “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” disclosure;
not being required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements in the assessment of our internal control over financial reporting;
not being required to comply with any requirement that may be adopted by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board regarding mandatory audit firm
rotation or a supplement to the auditor’s report providing additional information about the audit and the financial statements;
reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation;
exemptions from the requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory vote on executive compensation and stockholder approval of any golden parachute
payments not previously approved; and
the ability to delay the adoption of certain accounting standards until those standards would otherwise apply to private companies.

We may choose to take advantage of some or all of the available exemptions. We have taken advantage of reduced reporting burdens in this report. Accordingly, the information
contained herein may be different than the information you receive from other public companies in which you hold stock. We cannot predict whether investors will find our
warrants or common stock less attractive if we rely on certain or all of these exemptions. If some investors find our warrants or common stock less attractive as a result, there
may be a less active trading market for our warrants or common stock and the price of our warrants or common stock may be more volatile.
Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.
None.
Item 2. Properties.
Our executive and administrative offices are located in Tampa, Florida, where we lease approximately 11,000 square feet of general office space for approximately $28,000 per
month, plus utilities. The lease was renewed March 2, 2014 and expires on July 31, 2019.
We are actively looking for new space that will fit our future needs.
Item 3. Legal Proceedings.
Other than the lawsuits described below, we are not currently a party to material litigation proceedings. However, we frequently become party to litigation in the ordinary course
of business, including either the prosecution or defense of claims arising from contracts by and between us and client Associations. Regardless of the outcome, litigation can
have an adverse impact on us because of prosecution, defense, and settlement costs, diversion of management resources and other factors.
We were a defendant in an action entitled Solaris at Brickell Bay Condominium Association, Inc. v. LM Funding, LLC, which was brought before the Circuit Court of the
Eleventh Judicial Circuit, Miami-Dade Civil Division on July 31, 2014. In this matter, which was initially preliminarily settled in August 2017, the plaintiff (an association
under contract with us) alleged claims such as a usurious loan transaction, state and federal civil Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organization Act claims, Florida Deceptive
and Unfair Trade Practices Act (“FDUTPA”) violations, and other related claims, and the plaintiff requested rescission of their agreement with us, forfeiture of all amounts lent
by us to the plaintiff, a declaratory judgment that we have violated FDUTPA, other damages for breach of contract and violations of FDUTPA, and attorneys’ fees. On August
4, 2017, an order by the court was entered on Plaintiff’s Motion for Preliminary Approval of Class Action Settlement Agreement. In the order, the motion of the Plaintiff,
Solaris at Brickell Bay Condominium Association, Inc., individually and on behalf of the certified plaintiff class (“Plaintiffs”), for approval of
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the Class Action Settlement Agreement (the “Settlement Agreement”) with Defendant LM Funding, LLC was granted. Despite our belief that we are not liable for the claims
asserted and that we have good defenses thereto, we nevertheless agreed to enter into the Settlement Agreement in order to: (1) avoid any further expense, inconvenience, and
distraction of burdensome and protracted litigation and its consequential negative financial effects to our operations; (2) obtain the releases, orders, and final judgment
contemplated by the Settlement Agreement; and (3) put to rest and terminate with finality all claims that had been or could have been asserted against us by the Plaintiffs arising
from the facts alleged in the lawsuit. Pursuant to the agreement subsequently reached between counsel, all required actions and deadlines set forth in the Settlement Agreement
are currently stayed. On March 1, 2018 a continuation of the abatement was granted until April 2, 2018. As of December 31, 2017, we had accrued costs of $505,000 as part of
the Settlement Agreement. The settlement amount was contingent upon us obtaining sufficient financing within the allotted timeframe of the Settlement Agreement. On April 2,
2018, the Plaintiffs withdrew from the Settlement Agreement. On August 14, 2018, the parties to the Solaris class action litigation entered into a revised settlement in whichthe
Plaintiffs amended their complaint (the Fourth Amended Complaint) to reflect no demand for damages and only a claim for declarative and injunctive relief and amended the
class definition to reflect a requirement that class members must have active units still under contract with LMF under a “Traditional Model” waterfall in the Allocation of
Collection Proceeds. This was submitted to the court who approved the amended Complaint and Class Action Settlement Agreement. On November 6, 2018, the court entered
an order granting Plaintiff’s Motion for Final Approval of Class Action Settlement. The New Settlement Agreement also reimbursed the Plaintiff’s opposing counsel $99,000
plus an administrative fee.
As such, we adjusted the class action accrual to $100,000 and recorded a $405,000 class action reversal to the statement of operations. The amount was paid during fiscal year
2018.
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.
None
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PART II
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.
Market Information
Following our initial public offering, our units, consisting of one share of our common stock and one warrant to purchase one share of our comment stock, were quoted on the
NASDAQ Capital Market under the symbol “LMFAU” until they ceased trading on December 7, 2015.
Effective December 8, 2015, our common stock and common stock warrants became separately quoted on the NASDAQ Capital Market under the symbols “LMFA” and
“LMFAW,” respectively. On December 31, 2018 there was 1 holder of record of our common stock and 1 holder of record of our common stock warrants.
Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans
See “Equity Compensation Plan Information” in Part III, Item 12 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities
None.
Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer
None.
Item 6. Selected Financial Data
Not applicable
Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.
Forward-Looking Statements
This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains certain forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. All statements other
than statements of historical facts included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including without limitation, statements regarding our future financial position, business
strategy, budgets, projected revenues, projected costs and plans and objectives of management for future operations, are forward-looking statements. Forward-looking
statements generally can be identified by the use of forward-looking terminology such as “may,” “will,” “expects,” “intends,” “plans,” “projects,” “estimates,” “anticipates,”
“believes” or the negative thereof or any variation thereon or similar terminology or expressions.
We have based these forward-looking statements on our current expectations and projections about future events. These forward-looking statements are not guarantees and are
subject to known and unknown risks, uncertainties and assumptions about us that may cause our actual results, levels of activity, performance or achievements to be materially
different from any future results, levels of activity, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. Important factors which could
materially affect our results and our future performance include, without limitation, our ability to purchase defaulted consumer receivables at appropriate prices, competition to
acquire such receivables, our dependence upon third party law firms to service our accounts, our ability to obtain funds to purchase receivables, ability to manage growth or
declines in the business, changes in government regulations that affect our ability to collect sufficient amounts on our defaulted consumer receivables, the impact of class action
suits and other litigation, our ability to keep our software systems updated to operate our business, our ability to employ and retain qualified employees, our ability to establish
and maintain internal accounting controls, changes in the credit or capital markets, changes in interest rates, deterioration in economic conditions, and negative press regarding
the debt collection industry which may have a negative impact on a debtor’s willingness to pay the debt we acquire, as well as other factors set forth under “Risk Factors” in
this report.
Except as required by law, we assume no duty to update or revise any forward-looking statements.
Overview
We are a diversified business with two focuses:
•

specialty finance company that provides funding to nonprofit community associations primarily located in the state of Florida. We offer incorporated nonprofit
community associations, which we refer to as “Associations,” a variety of financial
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•

products customized to each Association’s financial needs. Our original product offering consists of providing funding to Associations by purchasing their rights
under delinquent accounts that are selected by the Associations arising from unpaid Association assessments. Historically, we provided funding against such
delinquent accounts, which we refer to as “Accounts,” in exchange for a portion of the proceeds collected by the Associations from the account debtors on the
Accounts. We have started purchasing Accounts on varying terms tailored to suit each Association’s financial needs, including under our New Neighbor
Guaranty™ program.
specialty health insurance broker (IIU, Inc) that was purchased on January 15, 2019, which provides global medical insurance products for international travelers,
specializing in policies covering high-risk destinations, emerging markets and foreign travelers coming to the United States. All policies are fully underwritten
with no claim risk remaining with IIU Inc.

We provide funding to nonprofit community associations primarily located in the state of Florida and, to a lesser extent, nonprofit community associations in the states of
Washington, Colorado, and, since February 2016, Illinois. We offer incorporated nonprofit community associations, which we refer to as “Associations,” a variety of financial
products customized to each Association’s financial needs. Our original product offering consists of providing funding to Associations by purchasing their rights under
delinquent accounts that are selected by the Associations arising from unpaid Association assessments. We provide funding against such delinquent accounts, which we refer to
as “Accounts,” in exchange for a portion of the proceeds collected by the Associations from the account debtors on the Accounts. More recently, we have started to engage in
the business of purchasing Accounts on varying terms tailored to suit each Association’s financial needs, including under our New Neighbor Guaranty program.
Because of our role as a trusted advisor to our Association clients, we are exploring a potential product line which resembles a more traditional consulting model for
Associations desirous of this relationship. Areas of our consultancy may include purchase money mortgage qualification consulting, accounts receivable management, reserve
study recommendations, and property tax assessed value analysis. In the event we move forward with this new product line, we will seek to provide services and advice inside of
our core competency of community association finance in an effort to drive demand for our financial products.
In our original product offering, we typically purchase an Association’s right to receive a portion of the proceeds collected from delinquent unit owners. Once under contract,
we engage law firms, typically on behalf of our Association clients pursuant to a power of attorney, to perform collection work on delinquent unit accounts. Our law firms
typically service collection matters on a deferred billing basis whereby payment is received upon collection from the delinquent unit account debtors or at a predetermined
contractual rate if amounts collected from delinquent unit account debtors are less than legal fees and costs incurred. We typically fund an amount less than or equal to the
statutory “Super Lien Amount” an Association would recover at some point in the future based on the Association’s statutory lien priority. Upon collection of an Account, the
law firm retained for the collection matter distributes proceeds pursuant to the terms of the agreement by and between the Association and us. Not all agreements are the same,
but our typical payoff distribution will result in us first recovering amounts advanced to the Association, interest, late fees, and costs advanced, with legal fees kept by the
retained law firm, and assessment amounts remitted to the Association client. In connection with our business, we have developed proprietary software for servicing Accounts,
which we believe enables law firms to service Accounts efficiently and profitably.
Under the New Neighbor Guaranty program, an Association will generally assign substantially all of its outstanding indebtedness and accruals on its delinquent units to us in
exchange for payment by us of an amount less than or equal to the monthly assessment payment for each assigned delinquent unit account. This simultaneously eliminates a
substantial portion of the Association’s balance sheet bad debts and assists the Association in meeting its budget by both guaranteeing periodic revenues and relieving the
Association of its legal fee and cost burdens typically incurred to collect bad debts.
In our initial underwriting of an Association and its individual Accounts, we review the property values of the underlying units, the governing documents of the Association,
the total number of delinquent receivables held by the Association, the legal proceedings instituted, and many other factors. While we are relatively certain of the actions
necessary to produce a revenue event, we cannot predict when an individual delinquent unit account will have a revenue event or payoff.
Our subsidiary IIU Inc. (“IIU”) through its wholly owned company Wallach and Company (:Wallach”) offers health insurance, travel insurance and other travel services to:
•
•

United States citizens and residents traveling abroad
Non United States citizens or residents who travel to the United States

These services are typically sold through a policy offered by Wallach and fully underwritten by a third party insurance company. The policies offered include: HealthCare
Abroad, HealthCare Global, HealthCare America, HealthCare International, HealthCare War.
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Corporate History and Reorganization
The Company was originally organized in January 2008 as a Florida limited liability company under the name LM Funding, LLC. Historically, all of our business was
conducted through LM Funding, LLC and its subsidiaries (the “Predecessor”). Immediately prior to our initial public offering in October 2015, the members of the LM
Funding, LLC contributed all of their membership interests to LM Funding America, Inc., a Delaware corporation incorporated on April 20, 2015 (“LMFA”), in exchange for
an aggregate of 2,100,000 shares of the common stock of LMFA (the “Corporate Reorganization”). Immediately after such contribution and exchange, the former members of
LM Funding, LLC became the holders of 100% of the issued and outstanding common stock of LMFA, thereby making the LM Funding, LLC a wholly-owned subsidiary of
LMFA. As used in this discussion and analysis, unless the context requires otherwise, references to “LMF,” “LM Funding,” “we,” “us,” “our,” “the Company,” “our company,”
and similar references refer to (i) following the date of the Corporate Reorganization, LM Funding America, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and its consolidated subsidiaries, and
(ii) prior to the date of the Corporate Reorganization, LM Funding, LLC, a Florida limited liability company, and its consolidated subsidiaries.
Results of Operations
The Year Ended December 31, 2018 compared with the Year Ended December 31, 2017
Revenues
During the year ended December 31, 2018, total revenues decreased by $1.0 million, or 22.8%, to $3.4 million from $4.4 million in the year ended December 31, 2017. The
decrease is due in part to a decrease in interest, administrative and late fees collected during the year.
The decrease in interest, administrative and late fees was the result of a decrease in the average revenue collected per unit. The average revenue per unit was relatively flat at
$3,415 for the year ended December 31, 2018 compared with $3,438 for the year ended December 31, 2017. However, there was a 26% decrease in payoffs as the Company
recorded approximately 785 payoff occurrences for the year ended December 31, 2018 compared with 1,063 payoff occurrences for the year ended December 31,
2017. “Payoffs” consist of recovery of the entire legally collectible portion, or a settlement thereof, of our principal investment, accrued interest, and late fees owed to us from
the proceeds of the Accounts collected by the Associations in accordance with our contracts with Associations. The increase in the number of payoffs was partially offset by a
decrease in revenue per unit.
Rental revenue for the year ended December 31, 2018 was $0.7 million as compared to $0.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2017. There were 17 rental units in the
portfolio as December 31, 2018 compared with 68 rental units as of December 31, 2017.
Operating Expenses
During the year ended December 31, 2018, operating expenses decreased $4.1 million, or 51.8%, to $3.8 million from $7.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2017. The
decrease in operating expenses can be attributed to various factors including the reduction in staffing costs of $0.5 million resulting from the fact that on average we had fewer
employees in 2018 than we did in 2017, reduced professional fees of $1.1 million due to non-recurring expenses associated in part to litigation relating to the Settlement
Agreement listed within Item 1. Item 3. Legal Proceedings of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, lower settlement costs of $0.2 million, reduced collection costs of $0.2 million,
a $1.4 million non-recurrence of the bad debt expense – related parties, and reduced general and administrative expenses due in part to marketing costs of $0.5 million.
Legal fees (excluding fees paid pursuant to our service agreement with BLG), for the year ended December 31, 2018 were approximately $0.3 million compared with
approximately $1.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2017 due in part to resolution of the class action lawsuit. In the ordinary course of our business, we are involved in
numerous legal proceedings. We regularly initiate collection lawsuits, using our network of third-party law firms, against debtors. In addition, debtors occasionally initiate
litigation against us. Legal fees for BLG for the year ended December 31, 2018 were $1.0 million compared to $1.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2017. See Note
10. Related Party Transactions for further discussion regarding the service agreements with BLG.
Interest Expense
During the year ended December 31, 2018, interest expense declined by $0.1 million to $0.5 million compared to $0.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2017.
Of the $0.5 million interest expense for 2018, $154 thousand was due to the issuance of warrants in conjunction with a $0.5 million loan that was treated as a discount which
was amortized as interest expense. The remainder consisted of $30 thousand of cash interest
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expense and $0.3 million of debt issuance costs amortized during the year. The amortization of debt issuance costs is being reported as interest expense underASU 2015-03
(ASC 835-30-45-3).
Loss on Retirement of Debt
During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company incurred approximately $604,000 loss on the settlement of its debt upon the issuance of approximately 2.9 million
shares for $4.7 million in principal, accrued interest and late fees.
Loss on Litigation
During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company settled the Solaris at Brickell Bay Condominium Association, Inc. v. LM Funding class action litigation and adjusted
the $505,000 class action accrual that was incurred during the twelve months ended December 31, 2017 to $100,000 with the $405,000 change reflected as other
income. During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company accrued costs of $505,000 as part of the Settlement Agreement entered into in connection with the class
action litigation. See “Part I. Item 3. Legal Proceedings” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information.
Income Tax Provision (Benefit)
During the year ended December 31, 2017, the income tax provision was $3.4 million due to the Company recording a valuation allowance. The Company did not record an
income tax benefit or expense for the year ended December 31, 2018 due to continuing losses.
Under ASC 740-10-30-5, Income Taxes, deferred tax assets should be reduced by a valuation allowance if, based on the weight of available evidence, it is more-likely-than-not
(i.e., a likelihood of more than 50%) that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The Company considers all positive and negative evidence available
in determining the potential realization of deferred tax assets including, primarily, the recent history of taxable earnings or losses. Based on operating losses reported by the
Company during 2018 and 2017, the Company concluded there was not sufficient positive evidence to overcome this recent operating history. As a result, the Company believes
that a valuation allowance is necessary based on the more-likely-than-not threshold noted above. The Company therefore recorded a valuation allowance of approximately of
$3.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2018.
Net Loss
During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company generated a net loss of $0.5 million as compared to a net loss of $8.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2017 for
the reasons mentioned above.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
General
As of December 31, 2018, we had cash and cash equivalents of $3.5 million compared with $0.6 million at December 31, 2017. The increase in cash is due primarily to the net
proceeds from our secondary offering. The increase was partially offset by a decrease in cash provided by investing activities resulting from a $1.5 million purchase of a senior
secured convertible note.
Cash from Operations
Net cash used in operations was $0.7 million during the year ended December 31, 2018 compared with $1.8 million during the year ended December 31, 2017. This change was
primarily driven by a $8.2 million reduction net income which includes a $0.4 million reversal of a loss on litigation, and a reversal of a $1.4 million bad debt allowance from a
related party.
Cash from Investing Activities
Net cash used in investing activities was $1.1 million during the year ended December 31, 2018 as compared to net cash provided by investing activities of $0.9 million during
the year ended December 31, 2017. The difference was primarily the result of the Company investing $1.5 million in a senior secured convertible note receivable and a
reduction in proceeds from real estate assets by $0.4 million. For the year ended December 31, 2018, cash generated from our net finance receivables fell by $0.1 million. This
was due to the Company not collecting as much on Accounts than what was invested for the period as compared to the prior year. Our primary business relies on our ability to
invest in accounts, and during the year ended December 31, 2018, this balance decreased compared
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with the year ended December 31, 2017. This balance has been in consistent decline since 2012. This balance is very susceptible to housing market fluctuations.
Cash from Financing Activities
Net cash provided by financing activities was $4.8 million during the year ended December 31, 2018 as compared to net cash used in financing activities of $0.8 million for the
year ended December 31, 2017. During 2018, the Company generated $5.2 million from the issuance of shares offset in part by $0.3 million in debt issuance costs. During
2017, the Company repaid $0.6 million in principal repayments.
The Company is obligated to pay Associations $109,000 over the next 12 months for those units that are managed by us. We are also committed to pay $249,000 to
Associations under the New Neighbor program over the next 36 months.

Outstanding Debt
Debt of the Company consisted of the following:
Year ended December 31,
2018
2017
Financing agreement with FlatIron capital that is unsecured. Down payment of $28,125 was required upfront and
equal installment payments of $8,701 to be made over a 10 month period. The note matures May 31, 2019.
Annualized interest is 5.99%

$

Financing agreement with FlatIron capital that is unsecured. Down payment of $16,500 was required upfront and
equal installment payments of $9,610 to be made over a 10 month period. The note matures May 31, 2018.
Annualized interest is 5.25%

$

$

(1)

42,875

42,875

-

39,028
$

39,028

The Company settled the promissory note by issuing 2,953,189 common shares for all of the outstanding principal, accrued interest and late fees during
the month of December 2017.

Minimum required principal payments on the Company’s debt as of December 31, 2018 are as follows :
Years Ending
December 31,
2019
2020

$
$

42,875
42,875

Recent Capital Raising Transaction
On April 2, 2018, the Company entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement (the “SPA”) with a New York-based family office (“Investor”) pursuant to which the Company
issued to Investor a Senior Convertible Promissory Note (“Note”) in the original principal amount of $500,000 in exchange for a purchase price of $500,000. The maturity date
of the Note is six months after the date of issuance (subject to acceleration upon an event of default). Investor may at any time on or after the maturity date convert all or any
part of the outstanding and unpaid principal amount and accrued and unpaid interest of the Note into fully paid and non-assessable shares of our common stock, at a conversion
price equal to 85% of the lowest daily volume weighted average price of our common stock in the 10 trading days immediately prior to conversion. The Note carries a 10.5%
interest rate, with accrued but unpaid interest being payable on the Note’s maturity date. Investor was also issued pursuant to the SPA five- year warrants exercisable at the
closing per share bid price on April 2, 2018 to purchase 400,000 shares of our common stock (the “Warrants”).
Also on April 2, 2018, the Company entered into a Common Stock Purchase Agreement (“Purchase Agreement”) with Investorrelating to the purchase by Investor from the
Company up to $5,000,000 of our common stock. The Purchase Agreement provides that, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth therein, Investor has committed
to purchase up to $5,000,000 worth of the our common stock (“Purchase Shares”) over a 2-year period beginning on the date on which a registration statement relating to the
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resale of the Purchase Shares (the “Registration Statement”) is first declared effective by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Commission”).
The Purchase Agreement requires the Company to issue to the Investor as consideration for the Investor entering into this Purchase Agreement such number of shares of our
common stock that would have a value equivalent to $200,000 calculated using the average of volume weighted average price for our common stock during normal trading
hours during the three business day period immediately preceding the date of issuance of such shares.
On October 5, 2018, the Company exercised its right to terminate the Purchase Agreement originally entered into on April 2, 2018 with the Investor. The Company also repaid
the $500,000 note and accrued interest on October 5, 2018. The Company paid the $200,000 Commitment Fee on November 2, 2018 (see Note 6. Long-Term Debt).
On October 30, 2018, the Company entered into an underwriting agreement (the“Underwriting Agreement”) with Maxim Group LLC (the “Underwriter”) with respect to the
issuance and sale, in an underwritten public offering (the “Offering”), of (i) 1,005,000 units (the “Units”), with each Unit being comprised of one share of our common stock,
and one warrant to purchase one share of our common stock (the “Common Warrants”), (ii) 1,495,000 pre-funded units (the “Pre-Funded Units”), with each Pre-Funded Unit
being comprised of one pre-funded warrant to purchase one share of our common stock at an exercise price of $.01 per share (the “Pre-Funded Warrants”) and one Common
Warrant. Each Unit was sold for a price of $2.40 per Unit, and each Pre-Funded Unit was sold for a price of $2.39 per Unit. The shares of our common stock and Common
Warrants included in the Units, and the Common Warrants and Pre-Funded Warrants included in the Pre-Funded Units, were offered together, but the securities included in the
Units and Pre-Funded Units are issued separately.
Pursuant to the Underwriting Agreement, the Company granted the Underwriter a 45-day option to purchase up to an additional 375,000 shares of common stock and/or
Common Warrants and/or Pre-Funded Warrants at price of $2.399999 per shares of common stock, $0.000001 per Common Warrant, and $2.389999 per Pre-Funded Unit (the
“Over-Allotment”).
Pursuant to the Underwriting Agreement, the Company agreed to issue to the Underwriter warrants (the“Underwriter Warrant”) to purchase a number of shares of common
stock equal to an aggregate of 5% of the total number of shares of common stock sold in the Offering at an exercise price of $2.64 per share, which is 110% of the public
offering price. The Underwriter Warrant is exercisable for a three-year period beginning six months following the closing of the Offering. The Underwriter received an
underwriting discount equal to 8.0% of the offer price of the aggregate number of Units and Pre-Funded Units sold in the Offering and Over-Allotment. The Company also
agreed to reimburse the Underwriter for reasonable out-of-pocket expenses related to the Offering, including, without limitation, the reasonable fees and expenses of counsel to
the Underwriter, up to $90,000.
The Common Warrants were immediately exercisable at a price of $2.40 per share of Common Stock, subject to adjustment in certain circumstances, and will expire five years
from the date of issuance. The Common Warrants contain a full-ratchet anti-dilution exercise price adjustment upon the issuance of any Common Stock, securities convertible
into Common Stock or certain other issuances at a price below the then-existing exercise price of the Common Warrants, with certain exceptions.
The Offering closed on November 1, 2018. A registration statement on Form S-1 relating to the Offering (File No. 333-227203) was declared effective by the Commission on
October 29, 2018. The Offering is being made only by means of a prospectus forming a part of the effective registration statement. Simultaneously with the closing, the
Company sold additional Common Warrants to purchase up to 375,000 shares of Common Stock in connection with the partial exercise of the Over-Allotment.
The net proceeds of the Offering were approximately $5.4 million, after deducting the underwriting discounts and commissions and offering expenses and assuming no exercise
of the Common Warrants or Underwriter Warrant. The Company intends to use the net proceeds from the Offering for general corporate purposes, including working capital
and payment of a past-due $200,000 financing fee to a third-party. As a result of the Offering, the Company’s stockholders’ equity will exceed $2.5 million and its publicly
held shares (i.e., shares not held directly or indirectly by an officer, director, or greater-than-10% of the total shares outstanding) will be approximately 1.1 million shares.
On April 2, 2018, the Company issued warrants that allowed for the right to purchase of 40,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $6.605 per share. Due to the
subsequent issuance of stock and warrants resulting from the Underwriting Agreement, these warrants now have the right to purchase 143,587 shares at an exercise price of
$1.84 per share. These warrants have average remaining life of 4.25 years as of December 31, 2018. These warrants expire in the year 2023.
On November 2, 2018, the Company entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement (the “IIU SPA”) with IIU Inc. (“IIU”), a possible synergistic Virginia based travel
insurance brokerage company controlled by Craven House N.A. (which owns approximately 27% of
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the Company’s outstanding stock as of November 13, 2018), pursuant to which IIU issued to the Company a Senior Convertible Promissory Note (“IIU Note”) in the original
principal amount of $1,500,000 in exchange for a purchase price of $1,500,000.
The Company subsequently purchased 100% of the outstanding stock of IIU for $5,075,000. IIU is required to have a minimum net working capital of $15,000 and at least
$152,000 in cash. The Company paid the Purchase Price at Closing as follows:
•
•

Cancellation by the Company of all principal and accrued interest of the IIU Note which has principal indebtedness and accrued interest of $1,507,387.
The Company issued to Craven a $3,582,613 Convertible Promissory Note for the balance of the purchase price. At the option of Craven, the Convertible Note
may be paid in restricted shares of our common stock or cash. The Convertible Note shall bear simple interest at 3% per annum. The Convertible Note shall be
due and payable 360 days from the Closing Date. If repaid by the Company in restricted common stock, the outstanding principal and interest of the Convertible
Note shall be paid by the Company by issuing to Seller a number of restricted common shares equal to the adjusted principal and accrued interest owing on the
Convertible Note divided by $2.41. It is the intent of Craven to convert the Convertible Note into shares of our common stock.

Liquidity Outlook
The Company has experienced operating losses over the past 3 years (2016, 2017 and 2018) with cumulative losses of approximately $11.5 million as a result of declining
revenues and high expenses due to a number of factors. These losses resulted in the usage of all cash proceeds from the Company’s initial public offering in 2015. The
Company successfully raised net proceeds of $5.4 million through a secondary public offering on October 30, 2018.
The Company has experienced significant operating losses over the past 3 years (2016 through 2018) with cumulative losses of approximately $11,490,000. These losses
resulted in the usage of all cash proceeds from the Company’s initial public offering in 2015.
The Company was able to settle the $4,720,860 promissory note that had been due in April 2018 along with accrued interest and other costs with its primary creditor in
exchange for 2,953,189 common shares and repay its other outstanding promissory note of $717,500 during the twelve months ended December 31, 2017. After the Company
was able to stabilize its business, it successfully raised $5.4 million through a secondary public offering on October 30, 2018.) Under a purchase agreement dated January 16,
2019, the Company owes Craven $3,582,613 which may be converted into common stock or paid in cash by January 15, 2020. Craven’s intent is to convert the note into
common shares and has agreed to extend repayment 12 months from April 15, 2019.
We believe that we have enough cash to mitigate the substantial doubt raised by our recent operating losses and satisfy our estimated liquidity needs for the 12 months from the
issuance of these financial statements and avoid any substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. However, we cannot predict, with certainty,
the outcome of our actions to generate liquidity, including the availability of additional debt financing, or whether such actions would generate the expected liquidity as
currently planned. Additionally, a failure to generate additional liquidity could negatively impact our ability to acquire units.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements.
Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
None
Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.
The Financial Statements of the Company, the Notes thereto and the Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm thereon required by this Item 8 begin on page F1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K located immediately following the signature page.
Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.
None
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Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures
pursuant to Rule 13a-15 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report. In designing
and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only
reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives. In addition, the design of disclosure controls and procedures must reflect the fact that there are resource
constraints and that management is required to apply its judgment in evaluating the benefits of possible controls and procedures relative to their costs.
Based on management’s evaluation (in accordance with Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(b)), our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of
December 31, 2018, due to the weakness in internal control over financial reporting described below, our disclosure controls and procedures are not designed at a reasonable
assurance level or effective to provide reasonable assurance that information we are required to disclose in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded,
processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the Commission’s rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our
management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. As discussed below,
we plan on increasing the size of our accounting staff at the appropriate time for our business and its size to ameliorate our auditor’s concern that the Company does not
effectively segregate certain accounting duties, which we believe would resolve the material weakness in internal control over financial reporting and similarly improve
disclosure controls and procedures, but there can be no assurances as to the timing of any such action or that the Company will be able to do so.
Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting.
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). Our management,
with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting
based on the criteria set forth in Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.
Our management assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018. Based on that assessment, our management
determined that, as of December 31, 2018, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting was not effective for the purposes for which it is intended. Specifically,
management’s determination was based on the following material weaknesses which existed as of December 31, 2018.
During 2017 to the present, the number of full time employees at the Company declined from 19 to 9. The Company has not expanded its accounting and finance staff since that
time. During both 2017 and 2018, the Company did not effectively segregate certain accounting duties due to the small size of its remaining accounting staff. A material
weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of control deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material
misstatement of our annual or interim consolidated financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Notwithstanding the determination that our internal
control over financial reporting was not effective, as of December 31, 2018, and that there was a material weakness as identified in this Annual Report, we believe that our
consolidated financial statements contained in this Annual Report fairly present our financial position, results of operations and cash flows for the years covered hereby in all
material respects.
This Annual Report does not include an attestation report by MaloneBailey LLP, our independent registered public accounting firm, regarding internal control over financial
reporting. As a smaller reporting company, our management's report was not subject to attestation by our registered public accounting firm pursuant to rules of the Commission
that permit us to provide only management’s report in this Annual Report.
Changes in Control Over Financial Reporting.
We regularly review our system of internal control over financial reporting and make changes to our processes and systems to improve controls and increase efficiency.
Changes may include such activities as implementing new, more efficient systems, consolidating activities, and migrating processes. There were no changes in our internal
control over financial reporting that occurred during the three months ended December 31, 2018 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our
internal control over financial reporting. Although we plan to increase the size of our accounting staff at the appropriate time for our business and its size to ameliorate our
auditor’s concern that the Company does not effectively segregate certain accounting duties, there can be no assurances as to the timing of any such action or that the Company
will be able to do so.
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Item 9B. Other Information.
None

PART III
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.
The Directors
Set forth below is a summary of the background and experience of each director. There is no family relationship among any of the directors and/or executive officers of the
company except as follows: Mr. Bruce M. Rodgers, our Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and President, and Ms. Carollinn Gould, our Vice President—General Manager,
Secretary, and director, have been married since 2004 and Joel E. Rodgers, Sr. is the father of Bruce M. Rodgers and the father-in-law of Carollinn Gould.
Class I Directors (Terms expiring in 2019)
Bruce M. Rodgers. Mr. Rodgers, age 55, serves as the Chairman of the Board of Directors, Chief Executive Officer and President of the company. Prior to that Mr. Rodgers
owned Business Law Group, P.A. (“BLG”) and served as counsel to the founders of LM Funding, LLC (“LMF”). Mr. Rodgers was instrumental in developing the company’s
business model prior to inception. Mr. Rodgers transferred his interest in BLG to attorneys within the firm by means of redemption of such interest in BLG prior to the company
going public in 2015. Mr. Rodgers is a former business transactions attorney and was an associate of Macfarlane, Ferguson, & McMullen, P.A. from 1991 to 1995 and a partner
from 1995-1998 and was an equity partner of Foley & Lardner LLP from 1998 to 2003. Originally from Bowling Green, Kentucky, Mr. Rodgers holds an engineering degree
from Vanderbilt University (1985) and a Juris Doctor, with honors, from the University of Florida (1991). Mr. Rodgers also served as an officer in the United States Navy from
1985-1989 rising to the rank of Lieutenant, Surface Warfare Officer. Mr. Rodgers is a member of the Florida Bar and holds an AV-Preeminent rating from Martindale Hubbell.
Mr. Rodgers brings to the Board of Directors considerable experience in business, management, and law, and because of those experiences and his education, he possesses
analytical and legal skills which are considered of importance to the operations of the company, the oversight of its performance and the evaluation of its future growth
opportunities. Furthermore, his performance as Chief Executive Officer has indicated an in-depth understanding of the company’s business.
Carollinn Gould. Ms. Gould, age 55, co-founded LMF in January 2008, and currently serves as Vice President—General Manager, Secretary and a director of the company.
Prior to joining LMF, Ms. Gould owned and operated a recruiting company specializing in the placement of financial services personnel. Prior to that, Ms. Gould worked at
Outback Steakhouse (NYSE: OSI ) (“OSI”) where she opened the first restaurant in 1989 and finished her career at OSI in 2006 as shared services controller for over 1,000
restaurants. Ms. Gould holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Business Management from Nova Southeastern University.
As a co-founder of LMF, Ms. Gould brings to our Board of Directors an encyclopedia of knowledge regarding LMF’s growth, operations, and procedures. Since inception, Ms.
Gould has controlled all bank accounts of the company and managed its internal control systems. Ms. Gould also brings public company audit experience from her duties as
controller at OSI as well as a wealth of personnel management and human resources skills.
Class II Directors (Terms expiring in 2020)
Douglas I. McCree. Mr. McCree, age 53, has served as a director of the company since its initial public offering in October 2015. Mr. McCree has been with First Housing
Development Corporation of Florida (“First Housing”) since 2000 and has served as its Chief Executive Officer since 2004. From 1987 through 2000, Mr. McCree held various
positions with Bank of America, N.A. including Senior Vice President—Affordable Housing Lending. Mr. McCree serves on numerous professional and civic boards. He
received a B.S. from Vanderbilt University majoring in economics. Mr. McCree brings to the Board of Directors many years of banking experience and a strong perspective on
public company operational requirements from his experience as Chief Executive Officer of First Housing.
Joel E. Rodgers, Sr. Mr. Rodgers, age 81, has served as a director of the company since its initial public offering in October 2015. Mr. Rodgers has been Vice President of
Allied Signal, Inc. (1987-1992) and CEO of Baron Blakeslee, Inc. (1985-1987). Since 1995 Mr. Rodgers has served as a part-time Professor at Nova Southeastern University
teaching finance, statistics, marketing, operations, and strategy. He has published numerous articles dealing with empowerment and corporate leadership. Mr. Rodgers
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represented the United States State Department in China, Mexico and Brazil in negotiations regarding the Montreal Protocol which dealt with limiting fluorocarbon discharge.
Mr. Rodgers’ civic work extends to service on the library, hospital, and municipal utility boards of Bowling Green, Kentucky. Mr. Rodgers holds a Doctorate of Business
Administration from Nova Southeastern University, a Masters of Business Administration from University of Kentucky, a B.S. in Mechanical Engineering from University of
New Mexico and was a University of Illinois PhD candidate. He brings to our Board of Directors a lifetime of management, finance and marketing experience as well as an
academic career of study in each.
Class III Directors (Terms expiring in 2021)
Martin A. Traber. Mr. Traber, age 73, has served as a director of the company since its initial public offering in October 2015. From 1994 until 2016, Mr. Traber was a partner
of Foley & Lardner LLP, in Tampa, Florida, representing clients in securities law matters and corporate transactions from 2017 to present, Mr. Traber has served as Chairman of
Skyway Capital markets, LLC. Mr. Traber is a founder of NorthStar Bank in Tampa, Florida and from 2007 to 2011 served as a member of the Board of Directors of that
institution. Mr. Traber served on the Board of Directors of JHS Capital Holdings, Tampa, Florida and on the Advisory Board of Platinum Bank, Tampa, Florida. From 2012 to
2013, he served on the Board of Directors of Exeter Trust Company, Portsmouth, New Hampshire. Mr. Traber holds a Bachelor of Arts and a Juris Doctor from Indiana
University.
Mr. Traber served as a director on the Board of Directors of HCI Group, Inc., a New York Stock Exchange listed company headquartered in Tampa, Florida, primarily engaged
in the homeowners’ insurance business (NYSE: HCI) (“HCI”) from its inception to May 2018.
Mr. Traber brings considerable legal, financial and business experience to the Board of Directors. He has counseled and observed numerous businesses in a wide range of
industries. The knowledge gained from his observations and his knowledge and experience in business transactions and securities law are considered important in monitoring
the company’s performance and when we consider and pursue business acquisitions and financial transactions. As a corporate and securities lawyer, Mr. Traber has a
fundamental understanding of governance principles and business ethics. His knowledge of other businesses and industries are useful in determining management and director
compensation.
Andrew L. Graham. Mr. Graham, age 61, has served as a director of the company since its initial public offering in October 2015. Since June 2008, Mr. Graham has served as
Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary of HCI Group, Inc. (NYSE:HCI). From 1999 to 2007, Mr. Graham served in various capacities, including as General Counsel,
for Trinsic, Inc. (previously named Z-Tel Technologies, Inc.), a publicly-held provider of communications services headquartered in Tampa, Florida. Since 2011, Mr. Graham
has served on the Internal Audit Committee of Hillsborough County, Florida. From 2007 to 2011, he served on the Board of Trustees of Hillsborough Community College, a
state institution serving over 45,000 students annually. Mr. Graham holds a Bachelor of Science, major in Accounting, from Florida State University and a Juris Doctor, as well
as a Master of Laws (L.L.M.) in Taxation, from the University of Florida College of Law. Mr. Graham was licensed in Florida as a Certified Public Accountant from 1982 to
2001. As a Certified Public Accountant, he audited, reviewed and compiled financial statements and prepared tax returns. Mr. Graham’s experience serving as general counsel
to publicly-held companies brings to our Board of Directors a comprehensive understanding of public company operations, financial reporting, disclosure, and corporate
governance, as well as perspective regarding potential acquisitions. With his accounting education and experience, he also brings a sophisticated understanding of accounting
principles, auditing standards, internal accounting control and financial presentation and analysis.
Frederick Mills. Mr. Mills, age 61, has been a partner with the law firm Morrison & Mills, PA since 1989, a Tampa, Florida law firm that focuses on business law. Mr. Mills
is also a founder and board member of Apex Labs, Inc (toxicology lab in Tampa, FL). Mr. Mills serves on numerous professional and civic boards. He received a B.S. from the
University of Florida majoring in accounting and received a J.D. from the University of Florida. Mr. Mills will bring to the Board of Directors many years of business and
financial experience from his past experience as a founding board member and Audit Committee Chairman for Nature Coast Bank (OTCQB:NCBF), which was a publicly-held
company, and his business law practice.
Arrangements as to Selection and Nomination of Directors
We are aware of no arrangements as to the selection and nomination of directors.
Audit Committee
The company has a separately-designated standing audit committee established in accordance with the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934. The audit committee is composed
of three members: Andrew Graham, its chairman, Frederick Mills and Douglas I. McCree. The Board of Directors has determined that Mr. Graham is an audit committee
financial expert.
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Executive Officers
The following table provides information with respect to our executive officers as of April 2, 2018:
Name
Bruce M. Rodgers
Richard Russell
Ryan Duran

Age
55
58
34

Title
Chairman, Chief Executive Office and President
Chief Financial Officer
Vice-President of Operations

Bruce M. Rodgers. See biography above.
Richard Russell. Mr. Russell, age 58, has served as Chief Financial Officer of the company since November 2017. Since 2016 Mr. Russell provided financial and accounting
consulting services with a focus on technical and external reporting, internal auditing, mergers & acquisitions, risk management and interim CFO and controller services. Mr.
Russell also served as Chief Financial Officer for Mission Health from 2013 to 2016 and before that, Mr. Russell served in a variety of roles for Cott Corporation from 2007 to
2013 including Senior Director Finance, Senior Director of Internal Auditing and Assistant Corporate Controller. Mr. Russell’s extensive professional experience with public
companies includes his position as Director of Financial Reporting and Internal Controls for Quality Distribution and as Danka’s Director of Reporting from 2001 – 2004. Mr.
Russell also holds the following positions: Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of Omega Brands Inc. which is an inactive public shell company and Chief
Financial Officer of Generation Income Properties Inc. which is an emerging real estate company. Mr. Russell earned his bachelor of science in accounting and a master’s in tax
accounting from the University of Alabama, a bachelor of arts in international studies from the University of South Florida and a master’s in business administration from the
University of Tampa.
Ryan Duran. Mr. Duran, age 34, currently serves as Vice President of Operations of the company and joined the company in March 2015. Prior to joining the company, Mr.
Duran served as Operations Manager of Business Law Group, since 2008. Mr. Duran holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Real Estate and Finance from Florida State University.
Arrangements as to Selection and Nomination of Officers
We are aware of no arrangements as to the selection or appointment of executive officers.
Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance
Based solely upon a review of Forms 3, 4, and 5 filed for the year 2017, we believe that all our directors, officers, and 10% beneficial owners complied with all Section 16(a)
filing requirements applicable to them. In addition, all such forms were filed timely.
Code of Ethics
We have adopted a code of ethics applicable to all employees and directors, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer. We have posted the text of our
code of ethics to our internet web site: www.lmfunding.com by clicking “Investors” at the top and then “Corporate Governance” and then the appropriate “Code of Ethics”. We
intend to disclose any change to or waiver from our code of ethics by posting such change or waiver to our internet web site within the same section as described above.
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Item 11. Executive Compensation.
Summary Compensation Table
The following table provides summary information concerning compensation for services rendered in all capacities awarded to, earned by or paid to our named
executive officers during the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017. The table does not include compensation for 2017 for each named executive officer if such officer was
not employed by the company in 2018.

Name and Principal Position

Bruce Rodgers
Chairman and CEO
Richard Russell (1), (2)
Chief Financial Officer
Ryan Duran (3)
Vice President of Operations
R. Dean Akers (4)
Former COO

Fiscal
Year

2018
2017
2018
2017
2018
2017
2018
2017

Salary
($)

$ 269,500
269,500
180,000
9,691
132,500
101,385
28,000
140,000

Stock
Awards
($)

Bonus
($)

$

—
—
135,000
—
—
108
—
—

$

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

Option
Awards
($)

$

All Other
Compensation
($)(5)

—
$
—
26,309 (1)
5,800 (2)
8,769 (3)
—
—
—

3,541
1,593
20,759
1,177
19,718
7,062
3,472
21,624

Total
($)

$ 273,041
271,093
362,068
16,668
160,988
108,556
31,472
161,624

(1)Includes an option to purchase 7,500 shares of common stock granted to Mr. Russell on May 29, 2018. The option has an exercise
price of $10.00 per share and expires on May 29, 2028. The option vests fully in three equal annual installments on May 29, 2019,
November 29, 2020 and November 29, 2021.
(2)Includes an option to purchase 2,500 shares of common stock granted to Mr. Russell on November 29, 2017. The option has an
exercise price of $125.00 per share and expires on November 29, 2027. The option vests fully in three equal annual installments on
November 29, 2018, November 29, 2019 and November 29, 2020.
(3)Includes an option to purchase 2,500 shares of common stock granted to Mr. Duran on May 29, 2018. The option has an exercise price
of $10.00 per share and expires on May 29, 2028. The option vests fully in three equal annual installments on May 29, 2019,
November 29, 2020 and November 29, 2021.
(4)Mr. Akers resigned from the company effective February 28, 2018. The Option Award includes an option to purchase 2,500 shares of
common stock granted to Mr. Akers on May 10, 2016. The option has an exercise price of $125.00 per share and expires on May 9,
2026. The option vests fully in three equal annual installments on May 9, 2017, May 9, 2018 and May 9, 2019. The option was
forfeited upon non-exercise 60 days after termination.
(5)These amounts consist of: health insurance premiums paid by the company in excess of non-executive contribution and auto allowance.

(1)

Name

Bruce Rodgers
Richard Russell
Ryan Duran
R. Dean Akers

Health
Insurance
Premiums
($)

Year

2018
2017
2018
2017
2018
2017
2018
2017

$

3,541
1,593
20,759
1,177
19,718
7,062
1,972
14,124

Auto
Allowance
($)

$

—
—
—
—
—
—
1,500
7,500

Total ($)

$

3,541
1,593
20,759
1,177
19,718
7,062
3,472
21,624

Employment Agreements
Certain executives’ compensation and other arrangements are set forth in employment agreements. These employment agreements are described below.
Bruce M. Rodgers. On October 22, 2015, we entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Bruce M. Rodgers, our Chief Executive Officer. A cost-cutting initiative was
implemented by the company on August 31, 2016. The employment agreement was subsequently amended to reduce Mr. Rodgers’ annual compensation to $269,500 but
effective April 15, 2019 his employment agreement was amended to revert his annual base salary back to the amount originally set forth in the employment which was
$385,000. The employment agreement states that he may be granted annual bonuses at the discretion of the Board of Directors. Mr.
28

Rodgers is entitled to participate in all of our pension, life insurance, health insurance,disability insurance and other benefit plans on the same basis as our other employee
officers participate. The term of Mr. Rodgers’ agreement is for three years and is automatically renewed each year unless terminated for “cause”, as defined in the employment
agreement. He will receive the base salary and benefits due under the employment agreement for the remainder of the term if terminated “without cause”, as defined in the
employment agreement, or such base salary shall be paid for the remainder of the term to his estate if his employment is terminated due to his death. Mr. Rodgers’ employment
agreement contains certain non-competition covenants and confidentiality provisions.
Richard Russell. On November 29, 2017, we entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Richard Russell, our Chief Financial Officer. Mr. Russell receives a base salary of
$180,000 per year, subject to possible merit increases, but effective April 15, 2019 he employment agreement was amended to increase his compensation to $200,000. In
addition, Mr. Russell is eligible to receive an annual bonus and long-term incentive awards as determined by the Company’s Board of Directors and is eligible to participate in
any equity incentive plan, stock option plan, or similar plan adopted by the Company. . The term of Mr. Russell’s agreement is for one year and is automatically renewed each
year unless terminated for “cause”, as defined in the employment agreement. The agreement provides that if we terminate Mr. Russel’s employment without cause then he will
be entitled to severance compensation in the amount of his base salary for the 24 month period following the date of termination. The agreement provides that Mr. Russell will
only be entitled to the unpaid base salary owning to him up through and including the date of termination if he (a) is terminated due to death or disability, (b) is terminated by
company for cause, or (c) he chooses to terminate his employment. Mr. Russell’s employment agreement contains certain non-competition covenants and confidentiality
provisions.
On November 29, 2017, Mr. Russell received stock options to purchase 2,500 shares of our common stock under the Company’s 2015 Omnibus Incentive Plan (“Plan”) at a
price equal to $125.00 per share. These stock options vest over a three-year period in equal annual installments beginning on the one-year anniversary of the grant
date. Additional grants under the Plan may be made to Mr. Russell based upon an evaluation of his performance by the Company’s Board of Directors.
Ryan Duran. In March 2015 we entered into an employment agreement with Mr. Ryan Duran, our Vice President of Operations. Effective February 15, 2019, Mr. Duran’s
current compensation was increased to $150,000.
On January 1, 2016, Mr. Duran was awarded an option grant for 413 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $100.00 per share. This option grant was fully vested
upon issuance.
Outstanding Equity Awards at 2018 Fiscal Year-End
The following table provides information on exercisable and unexercisable options and unvested stock awards held by the named executive officers on December 31,
2018.

Name

Number of
Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Options
(#)
Exercisable

Bruce Rodgers

—

Richard Russell
Richard Russell
Ryan Duran
Ryan Duran

Option Awards
Number of
Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Option
Options
Exercise
(#)
Price
Unexercisable
($)

—

Option
Expiration
Date

$

—

—

833
-

1,667
$
7,500 (1) $

125.00
10.00

11/29/2027
5/29/2028

413
-

—
$
2,500 (1) $

100.00
10.00

1/2/2026
5/29/2028

(1) One third of the options vest on May 29, 2019 which is within 60 days of the record date.
Director Compensation
The compensation of our non-employee directors is determined by the Board of Directors which solicits a recommendation from the compensation committee.
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Directors who are employees of the company do not receive any additional compensation for their service as directors. During 2018 and 2017, the company’s non-employee
directors were not awarded any fees.
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.
Equity Compensation Plan Information
The table below sets forth information with respect to shares of common stock that may be issued under our 2015 Omnibus Incentive Plan, as of December 31, 2018:
Equity Compensation Plan Information
(a)
(b)

Plan Category

Equity compensation
plans approved by
security holders
Equity compensation
plans not approved by
security holders

Number of securities
to be issued upon
exercise of outstanding
options, warrants and
rights

Weighted-average
exercise price of
outstanding options,
warrants and rights

19,300

—

(c)

$

$

Number of securities remaining
available for future issuance
under equity compensation plans
(excluding securities reflected in
column (a))

60.51

—

40,700

—

Ownership of Securities
The following table sets forth information regarding the beneficial ownership of our common stock as of March 29, 2019 by:
•

each person who is known by us to beneficially own more than 5% of our outstanding common stock,

•

each of our directors and named executive officers, and

•

all directors and executive officers as a group.

The number and percentage of shares beneficially owned are based on 3,124,961 common shares outstanding as of March 29, 2019. Information with respect to
beneficial ownership has been furnished by each director, officer or beneficial owner of more than 5% of our common stock. Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance
with the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission, which generally require that the individual have voting or investment power with respect to the shares. In computing
the number of shares beneficially owned by an individual listed below and the percentage ownership of that individual, shares underlying options, warrants and convertible
securities held by each individual that are exercisable or convertible within 60 days of March 29, 2019, are deemed owned and outstanding, but are not deemed outstanding for
computing the percentage ownership of any other individual. Except as otherwise indicated in the footnotes to this table, or as required by applicable community property laws,
all individuals listed have sole voting and investment power for all shares shown as beneficially owned by them. Unless otherwise indicated in the footnotes, the address for
each principal shareholder is LM Funding America, Inc., 302 Knights Run Avenue, Suite 1000, Tampa, Florida 33602.
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Amount and Nature of
Beneficial Ownership
5% Stockholders:
1,288,496

Name of Beneficial Owner
5% Stockholders:
Craven House Capital North America Inc.
Carol Linn Gould Revocable Trust (1)
Bruce M. Rodgers Revocable Trust (1)
Executive Officers and Directors
Mark Pajak
Bruce M. Rodgers (2)
Carollinn Gould (2)
Douglas I. McCree (3)
Joel E. Rodgers, Sr. (4)
Fred Mills (5)
Martin A. Traber (6)
Andrew L. Graham (7)
Richard Russell (9)
Ryan Duran (8)
All Executive Officers and Directors as a
individuals)

*

116,183
116,183

1,288,496
238,433

1,246

34.1 %
6.3 %
6.3 %
*
*
*
*
*
*
*

1,779,171

47.1 %

238,433

2,050
700

2,600
2,600

1,280
3,333
Group (10

Represents less than 1% of beneficial ownership

(1) Includes 648,496 shares of common stock and includes 640,000 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise
of warrants. Does not include shares issuable upon the conversion of a Senior Convertible Note issued by the
Company to the stockholder in the aggregate original principal amount of $3,581,982 convertible at a conversion
price of $2.41 per share, as the conversion of such note is subject to stockholder approval and is therefore not
convertible within 60 days of March 29, 2019.
(2) Includes 219,124 shares of common stock and 13,242 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of
warrants held by the two revocable trusts. Bruce M. Rodgers, Carollinn Gould and their family, including trusts or
custodial accounts of minor children of each of Mr. Rodgers and Ms. Gould, own 100% of the outstanding
membership interests of each trust.
(3) Includes 648,496 shares of common stock owned by Craven House Capital North America LLC and includes
640,000 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants.
(4) Includes 232,366 shares beneficially owned by Bruce M. Rodgers Revocable Trust and Carol Linn Gould
Revocable Trust, 4,417 shares beneficially owned by BRR Holding, LLC, 1,550 shares beneficially owned by
Bruce M. Rodgers IRA, and 100 shares beneficially owned by Carollinn Gould IRA, of which 13,242 shares in the
case of Bruce M. Rodgers Revocable Trust and Carol Linn Gould Revocable Trust, 150 shares in the case of BRR
Holding, LLC and 390 shares in the case of Bruce M. Rodgers IRA are issuable upon the exercise of warrants to
purchase shares of common stock. Bruce M. Rodgers is the sole Trustee of the Bruce M. Rodgers Revocable Trust
and Carollinn Gould is the sole Trustee of the Carol Linn Gould Revocable Trust. Bruce M. Rodgers, Carollinn
Gould and their family, including trusts or custodial accounts of minor children of each of Mr. Rodgers and Ms.
Gould owns 100% of the outstanding membership interests of BRR Holding, LLC, and therefore Mr. Rodgers and
Ms. Gould may be deemed to have shared voting and investment power for all 236,784 shares owned by both Trusts
and BRR Holding, LLC.
(5) Includes 500 shares of common stock, 500 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants at an
exercise price of $125.00 and 333 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of options at an exercise price
of $100.00 that are currently exercisable or become exercisable within 60 days after March 29, 2018. This amount
excludes 167 options that are not exercisable 60 days after the record date of March 29, 2019.
(6) Includes 100 shares of common stock, 100 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants at an
exercise price of $125.00, and 333 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of options at an exercise
price of $100.00 that are currently exercisable or become exercisable within 60 days after March 29, 2019. This
amount excludes 167 options that are not exercisable 60 days after the record date of March 29, 2019.
(7) Includes 2,600 shares of common stock.
(8) Includes 1,100 shares of common stock, 1,000 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants at an
exercise price of $125.00, and 333 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of options at an exercise
price of $100.00 that are currently exercisable or become exercisable within 60 days after March 29, 2019. This
amount excludes 167 options that are not exercisable 60 days after the record date of March 29, 2019.
(9) Includes 180 shares of common stock, 600 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of warrants at an
exercise price of $125.00, and 333 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of options at an exercise
price of $100.00 that are currently exercisable or become exercisable within 60 days after March 29, 2019. This
amount excludes 167 options that are not exercisable 60 days after the record date of March 29, 2019.
(10) Includes 833 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of options at an exercise price of $125.00 that are
currently exercisable or become exercisable within 60 days after March 29, 2019, includes 2,500 shares of common
stock issuable upon the exercise of options at an exercise price of $10.00 that are currently exercisable or become
exercisable within 60 days after March 29, 2019. This amount excludes 6,667 options that are not exercisable 60
days after the record date of March 29, 2019.
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Percentage
5% Stockholders:
34.1 %
3.1 %
3.1 %

(11) Includes 413 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of options at an exercise price of $125.00 that are
currently exercisable or become
exercisable within 60 days after April 2, 2018. Includes 833 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercis e of
options at an exercise price of $10.00 that are currently exercisable or become exercisable within 60 days after
March 29, 2019. This amount excludes 1,686 options that are not exercisable 60 days after the record date of March
29, 2019.

Item 13. Ce rtain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.
Transactions with Related Persons
LMF has engaged BLG on behalf of many of its Association clients to service and collect the accounts and to distribute the proceeds as required by Florida law and the
provisions of the purchase agreements between LMF and the Associations. In addition, Ms. Gould entered an employment agreement to work part-time for LMF. Ms. Gould’s
employment agreement with LMF permits her to also work as General Manager of Business Law Group, P.A. which pays her additional compensation of $150,000 per year.
One of our directors, Martin A. Traber, is a former partner at the law firm of Foley & Lardner LLP retiring in 2016. Since our inception in 2015, the firm has provided legal
representation to us. During 2018 and 2017, Foley & Lardner LLP billed us approximately $229,000 and $50,000, respectively, which represents less than 1% of Foley &
Lardner’s fee revenue. These services were provided on an arm’s-length basis, and paid for at fair market value. We believe that such services were performed on terms at least
as favorable to us as those that would have been realized in transactions with unaffiliated entities or individuals.
Director Independence
Based upon recommendations of our nominating and governance committee, the Board of Directors has determined that current directors Messrs. McCree, Graham, Sigety and
Traber are “independent directors” meeting the independence tests set forth by NASDAQ Stock Market and Rule 10A-3(b)(i) under the Exchange Act, including having no
material relationship with the company (either directly or as a partner, shareholder or officer of an organization that has a relationship with the company). In the case of Mr.
Traber, the Board of Directors considered his previous role as a partner of Foley & Lardner LLP, which provides legal services to the company, and determined that the fees
received by the law firm from us amount to less than 1% of the firm’s total revenue and also considered Mr. Traber’s personal financial substance, his other sources of income
and his lack of dependence upon legal fees from the company.
In addition, the members of the audit committee are considered to be “independent directors” pursuant to the definition contained in Rule 5605(a)(2) of the NASDAQ and the
criteria for independence set forth in Rule 10A-3(b)(1) of the Commission, and the members of the compensation committee (Frederick Mills, Douglas I. McCree and Martin A.
Traber) have been determined to be “independent” within the meaning of the Commission and NASDAQ regulations.
Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services.
The following table sets forth the aggregate fees for services related to the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 provided by Malone Bailey, LLP our principal
accountants:
2018

Audit Fees –
Malone
Bailey, LLP
(1)

$

2017

123,000

Audit Fees –
Skoda
Minotti &
Co.
Certified
Public
Accountants

-

(2)

All Other Fees
(3)

Total

$

$

34,500
157,700

85,000

45,000
$

12,500
142,500

(1)Audit Fees represent fees billed for professional services rendered for the audit of our annual financial statements and
review of our quarterly financial statements included in our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q.
(2)Audit Fees represent fees billed for professional service rendered for the audit of our annual financial statements.
(3)All Other Fees represent fees billed for services provided to us not otherwise included in the category above
Pre-Approval Policies
All auditing services and non-auditing services are pre-approved by the audit committee. The audit committee has delegated
this authority to the chairman of the audit committee for situations when pre-approval by the full audit committee is inconvenient. Any
decisions by the chairman of the audit committee must be disclosed at the next audit committee meeting.
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PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.
(a) The following documents are filed as a part of this report:
1. Financial Statements. See the Index to Consolidated Financial Statements on page F-1.
2. Exhibits. See Item 15(b) below.
(b) Exhibits. The exhibits listed on the Exhibit Index, which appears at the end of this report, are filed as part of, or are incorporated by reference into, this report.
(c) Financial Statement Schedule. See Item 15(a)(1) above.
Item 16. Form 10-K Summary.
None.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the shareholders and board of directors of
LM Funding America, Inc.
Opinion on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of LM Funding America, Inc. and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Company”) as of December 31, 2018 and
December 31, 2017, and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes
(collectively referred to as the “financial statements”). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of
December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the years then ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.
Basis for Opinion
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial statements based on our
audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) ("PCAOB") and are required to be independent with
respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the
PCAOB.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an
audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.
Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that
respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included
evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe
that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
/s/ MaloneBailey, LLP
www.malonebailey.com
We have served as the Company's auditor since 2018.
Houston, Texas
April 16, 2019

F-2

LM FUNDING AMERICA, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
December 31,
2018
Assets
Cash
Finance receivables:
Original product (Note 2)
Special product - New Neighbor Guaranty program, net of allowance for credit losses of (Note 3)
Due from related party (Note 10)
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Fixed assets, net
Real estate assets owned (Note 5)
Other assets
Other investments
Total assets

$

3,520,753

42,875
188,354
19,690
250,919

$

3,125
17,295,408
(11,489,884 )
5,808,649
6,059,568

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

590,394
637,937
339,471
101,339
69,505
196,707
32,964
-

6,059,568

Liabilities and stockholders' equity
Notes payable, net of unamortized debt issuance costs (Note 6)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Accrued loss litigation settlement
Other liabilities and obligations
Total liabilities

F-3

$

425,012
237,043
25,507
155,420
33,818
122,604
32,036
1,507,375
$

Stockholders' equity (Note 9)
Common stock, par value $.001; 30,000,000 shares authorized as of December 31, 2018 and 10,000,000 shares
authorized as of December 31, 2017; 3,124,961 and 625,318 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31,
2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders' equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

December 31,
2017

$

#
#
#
#

1,968,317

39,028
477,953
505,000
49,353
1,071,334

$

625
11,914,083
(11,017,725 )
896,983
1,968,317

LM FUNDING AMERICA, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
Years ended December 31,
2018
2017
Revenues
Interest on delinquent association fees
Administrative and late fees
Recoveries in excess of cost - special product
Underwriting fees and other revenues
Rental revenue
Total revenues

$

Operating expenses
Staff costs & payroll
Professional fees
Settlement costs with associations
Selling, general and administrative
Real estate management and disposal
Depreciation and amortization
Collection costs
Bad debt allowance - related party
Provision for credit losses
Other operating
Total operating expenses

2,084,287
230,756
118,540
246,904
709,050
3,389,537

$

1,374,129
1,331,482
40,027
323,030
627,384
68,263
19,025
581
17,964
3,801,885

Operating loss
(Gain) Loss on litigation
Loss on settlement of debt exchange
Interest expense
Total other expenses
Loss before income taxes
Income tax benefit

1,887,830
2,459,888
269,576
810,281
551,708
95,447
228,763
1,408,589
141,286
10,364
7,863,732

(412,348 )

(3,471,753 )

(405,000 )
464,811
59,811

505,000
604,779
614,111
1,723,890

(472,159 )

(5,195,643 )

-

Net loss to common stockholders
Loss per common share attributable to the stockholders of LM Funding America, Inc.
Basic
Diluted
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding
Basic
Diluted

3,431,536

$

(472,159 )

$

(8,627,179 )

$

(0.47 )

$

(25.68 )

$

(0.47 )

$

(25.68 )

996,710
996,710

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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2,935,517
259,653
172,884
286,435
737,490
4,391,979

335,997
335,997

LM FUNDING AMERICA, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECMEBER 31, 2018 AND 2017
Common Stock

Balance - December 31, 2016
Stock issuance for settlement of debt
Stock option expense
Net loss
Balance - December 31, 2017
Stock issuance for cash
Stock option expense
Warrants issued with debt
Purchase of fractional common shares
Net loss
Balance - December 31, 2018

Shares
330,000
295,318
625,318
2,500,000
(357 )
3,124,961

Amount
$

330
295
625
2,500
3,125

$

Additional paid-in
capital
$
6,559,674
5,325,344
29,065
11,914,083
5,203,773
24,770
154,676
(1,894 )
$
17,295,408

Accumulated Deficit
$
(2,390,546 )
(8,627,179 )
(11,017,725 )
-

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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(472,159 )
(11,489,884 )

$

$

Total Equity
4,169,458
5,325,639
29,065
(8,627,179 )
896,983
5,206,273
24,770
154,676
(1,894 )
(472,159 )
5,808,649

LM FUNDING AMERICA, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Years ended December 31,
2018
2017
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net loss

(472,159 )

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to cash used in operating activities
Depreciation
Warrants issued with debt amortization
Stock compensation
Amortization of debt issuance costs
Interest settled with common shares
Reserve for uncollectible related party receivables
Credit loss reserves, net
Loss settlement of debt
(Gain) loss on litigation
Write-off of deferred tax asset, net
Interest income

$

Change in operating assets and liabilities:
Increase in prepaid expenses and other assets
Advances (repayments) to related party
Decrease in accounts payable and accrued expenses
Decrease in other liabilities and obligations
Net cash used in operating activities
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Net collections of finance receivables - original product
Net collections of finance receivables - special product
Capital expenditures
Investment in note receivable
Payments for real estate assets owned
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Issuance of common stock, net of issuance cost
Proceeds from borrowings
Debt issuance costs
Principal repayments
Purchase of fractional common shares
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH
CASH - BEGINNING OF YEAR
CASH - END OF YEAR

$

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASHFLOW INFORMATION
Cash paid for interest
Cash paid for income taxes
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF NON-CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Debt discount on issuance of warrants
Insurance financing
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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68,263
154,676
24,770
291,760
—
—
—
—
(405,000 )
—
(7,375 )

(8,627,179 )

$

95,447
—
29,065
99,396
180,585
1,408,589
88,571
604,779
505,000
3,431,536
—

31,517
(25,507 )
(389,599 )
(29,663 )

147,491
252,771
(15,735 )
(10,814 )

(758,317 )

(1,810,498 )

212,925
102,428
—
(1,500,000 )
41,527

256,610
152,126
(8,673 )
—
491,677

(1,143,120 )

891,740

5,206,273
500,000
(291,760 )
(580,823 )
(1,894 )
4,831,796
2,930,359
590,394
3,520,753

—
—
—
(759,028 )
—
(759,028 )
(1,677,786 )
2,268,180
590,394

$

29,401
—

334,962
—

154,676
84,670

—
78,056

LM FUNDING AMERICA, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEARS DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017
Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Nature of Operations
LM Funding America, Inc. (“LMFA” or the “Company”) was formed as a Delaware corporation on April 20, 2015. LMFA was formed for the purpose of completing a public
offering and related transactions in order to carry on the business of LM Funding, LLC and its subsidiaries (the “Predecessor”). LMFA is the sole member of LM Funding, LLC
and operates and controls all of its businesses and affairs.
LM Funding, LLC a Florida limited liability company organized in January 2008 under the terms of an Operating Agreement dated effective January 8, 2008 as amended, had
two members: BRR Holding, LLC and CGR 63, LLC. The members contributed their equity interest to LMFA prior to the closing of its initial public offering.
The Company acquired IIU, Inc. on January 15, 2019 (IIU, Inc), which provides global medical insurance products for international travelers, specializing in policies covering
high-risk destinations, emerging markets and foreign travelers coming to the United States. All policies are fully underwritten with no claim risk remaining with IIU Inc.
We are a diversified business with two focuses:
•

•

specialty finance company that provides funding to nonprofit community associations primarily located in the state of Florida. We offer incorporated nonprofit
community associations, which we refer to as “Associations,” a variety of financial products customized to each Association’s financial needs. Our original product
offering consists of providing funding to Associations by purchasing their rights under delinquent accounts that are selected by the Associations arising from
unpaid Association assessments. Historically, we provided funding against such delinquent accounts, which we refer to as “Accounts,” in exchange for a portion of
the proceeds collected by the Associations from the account debtors on the Accounts. We have started purchasing Accounts on varying terms tailored to suit each
Association’s financial needs, including under our New Neighbor Guaranty™ program.
specialty health insurance broker (IIU, Inc) that was purchased on January 15, 2019, which provides global medical insurance products for international travelers,
specializing in policies covering high-risk destinations, emerging markets and foreign travelers coming to the United States. All policies are fully underwritten
with no claim risk remaining with IIU Inc.

Specialty Finance
The Company has a specialty finance company that provides funding principally to community associations that are almost exclusively located in Florida. The business of the
Company is conducted pursuant to relevant state statutes (the “Statutes”), principally Florida Statute 718.116. The Statutes provide each community association lien rights to
secure payment from unit owners (property owners) for assessments, interest, administrative late fees, reasonable attorneys’ fees, and collection costs. In addition, the lien rights
granted under the Statutes are given a higher priority (a “Super Lien”) than all other lien holders except property tax liens. The Company provides funding to associations for
their delinquent assessments from property owners in exchange for an assignment of the association’s right to collect proceeds pursuant to the Statutes. The Company derives its
revenues from the proceeds of association collections.
The Statutes specify that the rate of interest an association (or its assignor) may charge on delinquent assessments is equal to the rate set forth in the association’s declaration or
bylaws. In Florida if a rate is not specified, the statutory rate is equal to 18% but may not exceed the maximum rate allowed by law. Similarly, the Statutes in Florida also
stipulate that administrative late fees cannot be charged on delinquent assessments unless so provided by the association’s declaration or bylaws and may not exceed the greater
of $25 or 5% of each delinquent assessment.
The Statutes limit the liability of a first mortgage holder for unpaid assessments and related charges and fees (as set forth above) in the event of title transfer by foreclosure or
acceptance of deed in lieu of foreclosure. This liability is limited to the lesser of twelve months of regular periodic assessments or one percent of the original mortgage debt on
the unit (the “Super Lien Amount”).
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Specialty Health Insurance
Our subsidiary IIU Inc. (“IIU”) through its wholly owned company Wallach and Company (“Wallach”) offers health insurance, travel insurance and other travel services to:
•
•

United States citizens and residents traveling abroad
Non United States citizens or residents who travel to the United States

These services are typically sold through a policy offered by Wallach and fully underwritten by a third party insurance company. The policies offered include:
•
•
•
•
•

HealthCare Abroad - Short term medical insurance, medical evacuation and international assistance for Americans traveling overseas. There is an age limit of 84
years old.
HealthCAre Global – up to 6 months coverage for Americans traveling abroad and foreign nationals traveling outside their home countries to destinations other
than the United States. There is an age limit of 70 years old.
HealthCare America – up to 90 days coverage for foreign nationals visiting the United States. There is an age limit of 70 years old.
HealthCare International – International medical insurance & assistance for persons living outside their home country. There is an age limit of 70 years old.
HealthCare War – up to 6 months coverage for Americans traveling abroad and foreign nationals traveling outside their home countries to identified war risk
areas. There is an age limit of 70 years old.

Principles of Consolidation
The condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of LMFA and its wholly-owned subsidiaries: LM Funding, LLC; LMF October 2010 Fund, LLC; REO
Management Holdings, LLC (including all 100% owned subsidiary limited liability companies); LM Funding of Colorado, LLC; LM Funding of Washington, LLC; LM
Funding of Illinois, LLC; and LMF SPE #2, LLC and various single purpose limited liability corporations owned by REO Management Holdings, LLC which own various
properties. All significant intercompany balances have been eliminated in consolidation.
Basis of Presentation
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared by the Company, pursuant to the rules and regulations of the United States Securities and Exchange Commission
(“SEC”). The Company prepares its consolidated financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States (“GAAP”).
Use of Estimates
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses
during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Significant estimates include the evaluation of any probable losses on amounts funded under the
Company’s New Neighbor Guaranty program as disclosed below, the evaluation of probable losses on balances due from a related party, the realization of deferred tax assets,
the evaluation of contingent losses related to litigation and fair value estimates of real estate assets owned.
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Revenue Recognition
Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 605-10-25-1 of the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) states revenues are realized or realizable when related assets
received or held are readily convertible into known amounts of cash. In those cases where there is no reasonable basis for estimating the “known amount” of cash to be
collected, the cash basis or cost recovery method of recognizing revenues may be used. The Company provides funding to community associations by purchasing their rights
under delinquent accounts from unpaid assessments due from property owners (the “accounts”). Collections on the accounts may vary greatly in both the timing and amount
ultimately recovered compared with the total revenues earned on the accounts because of a variety of economic and social factors affecting the real estate environment in
general. The Company has determined that the known amount of cash to be realized or realizable on its revenue generating activities cannot be reasonably estimated and as
such, classifies its finance receivables as nonaccrual and recognizes revenues in the accompanying statements of income on the cash basis or cost recovery method in
accordance with ASC 310-10, Receivables. The Company recognized revenue in 2017 pursuant to ASC 605 while recognizing revenue in 2018 pursuant to ASC 606.
Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 606 of the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) states an entity needs to conclude at the inception of the contract that
collectability of the consideration to which it will be entitled in exchange for the goods and services that will be transferred to the customer is probable. That is, in some
circumstances, an entity may not need to assess its ability to collect all of the consideration in the contract. The Company provides funding to community associations by
purchasing their rights under delinquent accounts from unpaid assessments due from property owners (the “accounts”). Collections on the accounts may vary greatly in both the
timing and amount ultimately recovered compared with the total revenues earned on the accounts because of a variety of economic and social factors affecting the real estate
environment in general. The Company’s contracts with its customers have very specific performance obligations. The Company has determined that the known amount of cash
to be realized or realizable on its revenue generating activities cannot be reasonably estimated. The Company determined rental income from leasing arrangements is
specifically excluded from the standard. The Company analyzed its remaining revenue streams and concluded there were no changes in revenue recognition with the adoption
of the new standard.
Under both ASC 605 and ASC 606, the Company applies the cash basis method to its original product and the cost recovery method to its special product as follows:
Finance Receivables—Original Product: Under the Company’s original product, delinquent assessments are funded only up to the Super Lien Amount as discussed above.
Recoverability of funded amounts is generally assured because of the protection of the Super Lien Amount. As such, payments by unit owners on the Company’s original
product are recorded to income when received in accordance with the provisions of the Florida Statute (718.116(3)) and the provisions of the purchase agreements entered into
between the Company and community associations. Those provisions require that all payments be applied in the following order: first to interest, then to late fees, then to costs
of collection, then to legal fees expended by the Company and then to assessments owed. In accordance with the cash basis method of recognizing revenue and the provisions of
the statute, the Company records revenues for interest and late fees when cash is received. In the event the Company determines the ultimate collectability of amounts funded
under its original product are in doubt, payments are applied to first reduce the funded or principal amount.
Finance Receivables—Special Product (New Neighbor Guaranty program): During 2012, the Company began offering associations an alternative product under the New
Neighbor Guaranty program where the Company will fund amounts in excess of the Super Lien Amount. Under this special product, the Company purchases substantially all of
the delinquent assessments owed to the association, in addition to all accrued interest and late fees, in exchange for payment by the Company of (i) a negotiated amount or (ii) on
a going forward basis, all monthly assessments due for a period up to 48 months. Under these arrangements, the Company considers the collection of amounts funded is not
assured and under the cost recovery method, cash collected is applied to first reduce the carrying value of the funded or principal amount with any remaining proceeds applied
next to interest, late fees, legal fees, collection costs and any amounts due to the community association. Any excess proceeds still remaining are recognized as revenues. If the
future proceeds collected are lower than the Company’s funded or principal amount, then a loss is recognized.
Cash
The Company maintains cash balances at several financial institutions that are insured under the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation’s (“FDIC”) Transition Account
Guarantee Program. Balances with the financial institutions may exceed federally insured limits.
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Finance Receivables
Finance receivables are recorded at the amount funded or cost (by unit). The Company evaluates its finance receivables at each period end for losses that are considered
probable and can be reasonably estimated in accordance with ASC 450-20. As discussed above, recoverability of funded amounts under the Company’s original product is
generally assured because of the protection of the Super Lien Amount. However, the Company did accrue at December 31, 2017 an allowance for credit losses for this program
of $194,000 and recorded a provision for credit losses of $141,286 (net of deferred origination fees of $52,714 recognized prior to 2015 and reversed in the current year).
Under the New Neighbor Guaranty program (special product), the Company funds amounts in excess of the Super Lien Amount. When evaluating the carrying value of its
finance receivables, the Company looks at the likelihood of future cash flows based on historical payoffs, the fair value of the underlying real estate, the general condition of the
community association in which the unit exists, and the general economic real estate environment in the local area. The Company estimated an allowance for credit losses for
this program of $40,758 and $51,230 as of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017 under ASC 450-20 related to its New Neighbor Guaranty program.
The Company will charge any receivable against the allowance for credit losses when management believes the uncollectibility of the receivable is confirmed. The Company
considers writing off a receivable when (i) a first mortgage holder who names the association in a foreclosure suit takes title and satisfies an estoppel letter for amounts owed
which are less than amounts the Company funded to the association; (ii) a tax deed is issued with insufficient excess proceeds to pay amounts the Company funded to the
association; (iii) an association settles an account for less than amounts the Company funded to the association or (iv) the association terminates its relationship with the
Company’s designated legal counsel. Upon the occurrence of any of these events, the Company evaluates the potential recovery via a deficiency judgment against the prior
owner and the ability to collect upon the deficiency judgment within the statute of limitations period or whether the deficiency judgment can be sold. If the Company determines
that collection through a deficiency judgment or sale of a deficiency judgment is not feasible, the Company writes off the unrecoverable receivable amount. Any losses greater
than the recorded allowance will be recognized as expenses. Under the Company’s revenue recognition policies, all finance receivables (original product and special product)
are classified as nonaccrual.
Investment in Note Receivable
On November 2, 2018, the Company entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement with IIU Inc. (“IIU”), pursuant to which IIU issued to the Company a Senior Convertible
Promissory Note (“IIU Note”) in the original principal amount of $1,500,000 in exchange for a purchase price of $1,500,000. The maturity date of the Note is 360 dates after
the date of issuance (subject to acceleration upon an event of default). The Note carries a 3.0% interest rate, with accrued but unpaid interest being payable on the Note’s
maturity date.
The IIU Note allows the Company the right on or after the maturity date to convert any unpaid principal and accrued and unpaid interest of the IIU Note into shares of IIU based
on a conversion amount which is the fair value of the common shares of IIU at the time. The Company subsequently purchased 100% of the outstanding stock of IIU for
$5,075,000 (see Note 13).
Real Estate Assets Owned
In the event collection of a delinquent assessment results in a unit being sold in a foreclosure auction, the Company has the right to bid (on behalf of the community association)
for the delinquent unit as attorney in fact, applying any amounts owed for the delinquent assessment to the foreclosure price as well as any additional funds that the Company, in
its sole discretion, decides to pay. If a delinquent unit becomes owned by the community association by acquiring title through an association lien foreclosure auction, by
accepting a deed-in-lieu of foreclosure, or by any other way, the Company in its sole discretion may direct the community association to quitclaim title of the unit to the
Company.
Properties quitclaimed to the Company are in most cases acquired subject to a first mortgage or other liens, and are recognized in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets
solely at costs incurred by the Company in excess of original funding. At times, the Company will acquire properties through foreclosure actions free and clear of any mortgages
or liens. In these cases, the Company records the estimated fair value of the properties in accordance with ASC 820-10, Fair Value Measurements. Any real estate held for sale
is adjusted to fair value less the cost to dispose in the event the carrying value of a unit or property exceeds its estimated net realizable value.
The Company capitalizes costs incurred to acquire real estate owned properties and any costs incurred to get the units in a condition to be rented. These costs include, but are
not limited to, renovation/rehabilitation costs, legal costs, and delinquent taxes. These costs
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are depreciated over the estimated minimum time period the Company expects to maintain possession of the units. Costs incurred for unencumbered units are depreciated over
20 years and costs for units subject to a first mortgage are depreciated over 3 years. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, capitalized real estate costs, net of accumulated
depreciation, were $122,604 and $196,707, respectively. During the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, depreciation expense was $45,577 and $46,342, respectively.
If the Company elects to take a quitclaim title to a unit or property held for sale, the Company is responsible to pay all future assessments on a current basis, until a change of
ownership occurs. The community association must allow the Company to lease or sell the unit to satisfy obligations for delinquent assessments of the original debt. All
proceeds collected from any sale of the unit shall be first applied to all amounts due the Company plus any additional funds paid by the Company to purchase the unit, if
applicable. Rental revenues and sales proceeds related to real estate assets held for sale are recognized when earned and realizable. Expenditures for current assessments owed to
associations, repairs and maintenance, utilities, etc. are expensed when incurred.
If the community association elects (prior to the Company obtaining title through its own election) to maintain ownership and not quitclaim title to the Company, the community
association must pay the Company all interest, late fees, collection costs, and legal fees expended, plus the original funding on the unit, which have accrued according to the
purchase agreement entered into by the community association and the Company. In this event, the unit will be reassigned to the community association.
Fixed Assets
The Company capitalizes all acquisitions of fixed assets in excess of $500. Fixed assets are stated at cost. Depreciation is provided on the straight-line method over the
estimated useful lives of the assets. Fixed assets are comprised of furniture, computer and office equipment with an assigned useful life of 3 to 5 years. Fixed assets also
includes capitalized software costs. Capitalized software costs include costs to develop software to be used solely to meet the Company’s internal needs, consist of employee
salaries and benefits and fees paid to outside consultants during the application development stage, and are amortized over their estimated useful life of 5 years. As of December
31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, capitalized software costs, net of accumulated amortization, was $21,951 and $45,210, respectively. Amortization expense for capitalized
software costs for the periods ended December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017 was $23,259.
Debt Issue Costs
The Company capitalizes all debt issue costs and amortizes them on a method that approximates the effective interest method over the remaining term of the note payable.
Unamortized debt issue costs of $0 at December 31, 2018 and $0 at December 31, 2017 are presented in the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheets as a direct
deduction from the carrying amount of that debt liability in accordance with Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2015-03. The Company incurred $291,760 of debt issue
costs during the year ended December 31, 2018.
Debt Discount
On April 2, 2018, the Company entered into a Securities Purchase Agreement (the “SPA”) with a New York-based family office (“Investor”), which was subsequently amended
(see Note 13. Subsequent Events), pursuant to which the Company issued to Investor a Senior Convertible Promissory Note (“Note”) in the original principal amount of
$500,000 in exchange for a purchase price of $500,000. The maturity date of the Note is six months after the date of issuance (subject to acceleration upon an event of default).
The Note carries a 10.5% interest rate, with accrued but unpaid interest being payable on the Note’s maturity date. Investor was also issued pursuant to the SPA five- year
warrants exercisable at the closing per share bid price on April 2, 2018 to purchase 40,000 shares of the Company’s common stock (the “Warrants”) (see Note 6. Long Term
Debt).
The 40,000 warrants were valued on the grant date at approximately $3.87 per warrant or a total relative fair value of $154,676 using a Black-Scholes option pricing model with
the following assumptions: stock price of $7.40 per share (based on the quoted trading price on the date of grant), volatility of 100.6%, expected term of 5 years, and a risk-free
interest rate of 2.55%. The relative fair value of the warrants ($154,676) was treated as a debt discount that is being amortized over 6 months. The amortization of the discount
is recognized as interest expense of which $154,676 was recognized for the year ended December 31, 2018.
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Settlement Costs with Associations
Community associations working with the Company will at times incur costs in connection with litigation initiated by the Company against property owners and or mortgage
holders. These costs include settlement agreements whereby the community association agrees to pay some monetary compensation to the opposing party or judgments against
the community associations for fees of opposing legal counsel or other damages awarded by the courts. The Company indemnifies the community association for these costs
pursuant to the provisions of the agreement between the Company and the community association. Costs incurred by the Company for these indemnification obligations for the
year ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 were $40,027 and $269,576, respectively. The Company does not limit its indemnification based on amounts ultimately collected from
property owners.
Income Taxes
Income taxes are provided for the tax effects of transactions reported in the consolidated financial statements and consist of taxes currently due plus deferred taxes resulting
primarily from the tax effects of temporary differences between financial and income tax reporting. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates
expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled.
Under ASC 740-10-30-5, Income Taxes, deferred tax assets should be reduced by a valuation allowance if, based on the weight of available evidence, it is more-likely-than-not
(i.e., a likelihood of more than 50%) that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The Company considers all positive and negative evidence available
in determining the potential realization of deferred tax assets including, primarily, the recent history of taxable earnings or losses. Based on operating losses reported by the
Company during 2018 and 2017, the Company concluded there was not sufficient positive evidence to overcome this recent operating history. As a result, the Company believes
that a valuation allowance is necessary based on the more-likely-than-not threshold noted above. The Company recorded an initial valuation allowance of approximately of
$3,620,000 during the year ended December 31, 2017 equal to its deferred tax asset as of December 31, 2017. The valuation allowance was subsequently reduced to reflect the
decrease in deferred tax assets resulting from the tax act of 2017. During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company decreased the valuation allowance to $3,204,036 to
reflect a change in deferred tax assets.
Prior to the initial public offering in October 2015, the taxable earnings of the Predecessor were included in the tax returns of its members (separate limited liability companies)
and taxed depending on personal tax situations. In connection with the initial public offering, the members contributed ownership interests to the Company (a newly form CCorporation) and all earnings subsequent to that date (October 23, 2015) are subject to taxes and reflected in the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
Loss Per Share
Basic loss per share is calculated as net loss to common stockholders divided by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period.
The Company issued 2,500,000 shares at various times during the month of November 2018 and has weighted average these new shares in calculating loss per share.
On October 15, 2018, the Company effected a common share consolidation (“Reverse Stock Split”) by means of a one-for-ten (1:10) reverse split of its outstanding common
stock, par value $0.001 per share which resulted in a decrease in outstanding common stock to 625,318 shares. The Reverse Stock Split became effective, on October 16, 2018
and the Company’s common stock began trading on The Nasdaq Global Market on a split-adjusted basis on October 16, 2018.
The Company has restated all share amounts to reflect the Reverse Stock Split.
Diluted loss per share for the period equals basic loss per share as the effect of any stock based compensation awards or stock warrants would be anti-dilutive. The anti-dilutive
stock based compensation awards consisted of:
For the years ended December 31
2018
Stock Options
Stock Warrants – number of shares to purchase

2017
19,300

11,290

2,763,387

120,000
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Stock-Based Compensation
The Company records all equity-based incentive grants to employees and non-employee members of the Company’s Board of Directors in operating expenses in the Company’s
Consolidated Statements of Operations based on their fair values determined on the date of grant. Stock-based compensation expense, reduced for estimated forfeitures, is
recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period of the award, which is generally the vesting term of the outstanding equity awards.

Contingencies
The Company accrues for contingent obligations, including estimated legal costs, when the obligation is probable and the amount is reasonably estimable. As facts concerning
contingencies become known, the Company reassesses its position and makes appropriate adjustments to the consolidated financial statements. Estimates that are particularly
sensitive to future changes include those related to tax, legal and other regulatory matters.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
FASB ASC 825-10, Financial Instruments, requires disclosure of fair value information about financial instruments, whether or not recognized in the balance sheet. The
Company engages a third party valuation firm to assist in estimating the fair value of its finance receivables. See Note 11.
Related Party
ASC 850 - Related Party Disclosures requires disclosure of related party transactions and certain common control relationships. The Company disclosures related party
transactions and such transactions are approved by the board of directors. See Note 10.
Risks and Uncertainties
Funding amounts are secured by a priority lien position provided under Florida law (see discussion above regarding Florida Statute 718.116). However, in the event the first
mortgage holder takes title to the property, the amount payable by the mortgagee to satisfy the priority lien is capped under this same statute and would generally only be
sufficient to reimburse the Company for funding amounts noted above for delinquent assessments. Amounts paid by the mortgagee would not generally reimburse the Company
for interest, administrative late fees and collection costs. Even though the Company does not recognize these charges as revenues until collected, its business model and longterm viability is dependent on its ability to collect these charges.
In the event a delinquent unit owner files for bankruptcy protection, the Company may at its option be reimbursed by the association for the amounts funded (i.e., purchase
price) and all collection rights are re-assigned to the association.

Non-cash Financing and Investing Activities
During the year ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company acquired unencumbered title to certain properties as a result of foreclosure proceedings. Properties were
recorded at fair value less cost to dispose of approximately $0 and $0, respectively. The fair value of these properties was first applied to recover the Company’s initial
investment with any remaining proceeds applied to interest, late fees, and other amounts owed by the property owner.
Credit Losses – In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13-Financial Instruments - Credit Losses which establishes a new approach for credit impairment based on an
expected loss model rather than an incurred loss model. The standard requires the consideration of all available relevant information when estimating expected credit losses,
including past events, current conditions and forecasts and their implications for expected credit losses. The guidance is effective January 1, 2020 with a one-year early adoption
permitted. The Company is evaluating the impact of the new guidance.
Settlement of Debt – for the year ended December 31, 2017 the Company settled $4,721,000 of principal, accrued interest and other charges by issuing 295,318 common
shares. The Company settled $180,585 of accrued interest through the issuance of shares.
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Financing of Insurance Premium – the Company financed the purchase of various insurance policies during the year ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 using a$85,000 and
$78,000 financing agreement.
Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements
In May 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-09, "Compensation—Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Scope of Modification Accounting," which provides guidance about which
changes to the terms or conditions of a share-based payment award require an entity to apply modification accounting pursuant to Topic 718. ASU 2017-09 is effective for fiscal
years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2017. Early adoption is permitted. The amendments in this update are required to be applied
prospectively to an award modified on or after the adoption date. This standard becomes effective for the Company as of January 1, 2018. The impact this standard will have on
the Company's consolidated financial statements and related disclosures will be dependent on the terms and conditions of any modifications made to share-based awards after
January 1, 2018. The Company did not have any modifications during 2018.
In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, "Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606)." This ASU creates a single, comprehensive revenue recognition model for
all contracts with customers. The model is based on changes in contract assets (rights to receive consideration) and liabilities (obligations to provide a good or service). Revenue
will be recognized based on the satisfaction of performance obligations, which occurs when control of a good or service transfers to a customer and enhanced disclosures will be
required regarding the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from an entity's contracts with customers. Either a retrospective or cumulative
effect transition method, referred to as the modified retrospective method, is permitted. The impact from the adoption of this standard was immaterial to the consolidated
financial statements for the full fiscal year 2018. The Company adopted ASU 2014-09 on January 1, 2018 using the modified retrospective method but did not recognize any
cumulative effect of initially applying the new standard as an increase to the opening balance of retained earnings.
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, "Leases (Topic 842)," which requires lessees to recognize right-of-use assets and lease liability, initially measured at present
value of the lease payments, on its balance sheet for leases with terms longer than 12 months and classified as either financing or operating leases. ASU 2016-02 requires a
modified retrospective transition approach for capital and operating leases existing at, or entered into after, the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented in the
financial statements, and provides certain practical expedients that companies may elect including those contained in ASU 2018-01, "Leases (Topic 842): Lease Easement
Practical Expedient for Transition to Topic 842". This ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, including interim periods within those fiscal years
with early adoption permitted. The Company has evaluated the impact that the adoption of this ASU will have on its consolidated financial statements and related disclosures
and does not expect any significant impact to the Company.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted
In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13,Financial Instruments - Credit Losses which establishes a new approach for credit impairment based on an expected loss model
rather than an incurred loss model. The standard requires the consideration of all available relevant information when estimating expected credit losses, including past events,
current conditions and forecasts and their implications for expected credit losses. The guidance is effective January 1, 2020 with a one-year early adoption permitted. The
Company is evaluating the impact of the new guidance.
In June 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-07 " Compensation—Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Improvements to Nonemployee Share-Based Payment Accounting".
The standard simplified the accounting for share-based payments granted to nonemployees for goods and services, therefore guidance on such payments to nonemployees would
be mostly aligned with the requirements for share-based payments granted to employees. ASU 2018-07 will be effective for us beginning October 1, 2019, but early adoption is
permitted (but no earlier than the adoption date of Topic 606). We are currently evaluating the impact of implementation of this standard on our financial statements.
Recent accounting guidance not discussed above is not applicable, did not have, or is not expected to have a material impact to the Company.
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Reclassifications
Certain prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current period presentation.

Note 2. Finance Receivables – Original Product
The Company’s original funding product provides financing to community associations only up to the secured or “Super Lien Amount” as discussed in Note 1. Finance
receivables for the original product as of December 31, based on the year of funding are approximately as follows:

Funded during the current year
1-2 years outstanding
2-3 years outstanding
3-4 years outstanding
Greater than 4 years outstanding

$

Reserve for credit losses
$
Number of active units with delinquent assessments
Amount of outstanding interest and late fees on
active units

$

2018
79,000 $
35,000
18,000
7,000
411,000
550,000
(125,000 )
425,000 $
826

2017
118,000
38,000
12,000
24,000
640,000
832,000
(194,000 )
638,000
1,162

11,268,000

14,600,000

$

Note 3. Finance Receivables – Special Product (New Neighbor Guaranty program)
The Company typically funds amounts equal to or less than the “Super Lien Amount”. During 2012 the Company began offering Associations an alternative product under the
New Neighbor Guaranty program where the Company funds amounts in excess of the “Super Lien Amount”.
Under this special product, the Company purchases substantially all of the outstanding past due assessments due from delinquent property owners, in addition to all interest, late
fees and other charges in exchange for the Company’s commitment to pay monthly assessments on a going forward basis up to 48 months.
As of December 31, 2018, maximum future contingent payments under these arrangements was approximately $249,000. In prior years, the Company had mitigated the credit
risk for these transactions by insuring the payment of a portion of uncollected assessments paid by the Company during 2016 and 2015, (See Note 4 below).
Delinquent assessments and accrued charges under these arrangements as of December 31, are as follows:

Finance receivables, net
Delinquent assessments
Accrued interest and late fees
Number of active units with delinquent assessments

$
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2018
237,000
707,000
465,000
58

$

2017
339,000
1,200,000
728,000
97
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Note 4. New Neighbor Guaranty (NNG) Allowance for Credit Losses
Allowance for credit losses are recorded for losses that are considered “probable” and can be “reasonably estimated” in accordance with ASC 450-20. Recoverability of the
Company’s Original Product is generally assured because of the protection of the Super Lien under Florida statute and as such no allowance is recorded.
Credit losses on the NNG product were estimated by the Company and had a remaining balance of approximately $41,000 and $51,000 as of December 31, 2018 and 2017,
respectively.
Note 5. Real Estate Assets Owned
Real estate assets owned as reported in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets consist of the fair market value less cost to dispose for those foreclosed units acquired free
and clear of any mortgage or other liens plus costs incurred by the Company in excess of original funding on units. Real estate assets owned (free and clear of any mortgage) at
December 31, 2018, and 2017, were approximately $122,600 and $196,700 respectively, consisting of one and two units respectively, at these dates. The Company acquired
none and one new unencumbered units, net of disposals during 2018 and 2017 that were capitalized at fair value less cost to dispose of approximately $0 and $0,
respectively. The fair market value of each unit was first applied to recover the Company’s investment with any remaining proceeds applied next to interest, late fees, legal fees,
collection costs, and payable to the association. Any excess proceeds still remaining were recognized as a gain.
Most units are quitclaimed to the Company without the Company incurring additional cost and are subject to mortgage. Total units within the real estate portfolio at December
31, 2018 and 2017 as a result of foreclosure action were, including those discussed above, 20 and 66, respectively. During 2018 and 2017, the Company sold twentyseven and
eighteen units, respectively, and realized proceeds of approximately $196,000 and $797,000, respectively. Any proceeds collected are first applied to recover the Company’s
investment with any remaining proceeds applied next to interest, late fees, legal fees, collection costs and any amounts due to the community association. Any excess proceeds
still remaining are recognized as gain on sale of real estate assets. If the future proceeds collected are lower than the Company’s carrying value, then a loss is recognized on the
sale. There was no significant gain or loss on the disposal of real estate assets during 2018 or 2017. Rental revenues collected in 2018 and 2017 were approximately $513,000
(net of cost recovery of $10,000) and $737,000, respectively (net of cost recovery of $73,000).
As mentioned above, upon a unit being quitclaim deeded to the Company, the Company becomes responsible for current association assessments. The monthly contingent
obligation for assessments due on these units to associations as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 approximates $9,000 and $23,000, respectively.
Note 6. Long-Term Debt and Other Financing Arrangements
Year ended December 31,
2018
2017
Financing agreement with FlatIron capital that is unsecured. Down payment of $28,125 was required upfront and
equal installment payments of $8,701 to be made over a 10 month period. The note matures May 31, 2019.
Annualized interest is 5.99%

$

Financing agreement with FlatIron capital that is unsecured. Down payment of $16,500 was required upfront and
equal installment payments of $9,610 to be made over a 10 month period. The note matures May 31, 2018.
Annualized interest is 5.25%

$

$
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On October 5, 2018, the Company exercised its right to terminate the Purchase Agreement originally entered into on April 2, 2018 with the Investor. The Company also repaid
the $500,000 note and accrued interest on October 5, 2018. The Company paid the $200,000 Commitment Fee on November 2, 2018.
Minimum required principal payments on the Company’s debt as of December 31, 2018 are as follows :
Years Ending
December 31,
2019

$

42,875

$

42,875

Note 7. Commitments and Contingencies
Leases
The Company leases its office under an operating lease beginning March 1, 2014 and ending July 31, 2019
Future minimum lease payments due under this lease as of December 31, 2018 are as follows:
Years Ending
December 31,
2019

$
$

202,051
202,051

The Company shares this space and the related costs associated with this operating lease with a related party (see Note 10) that also performs legal services associated with the
collection of delinquent assessments. The Company entered into a sub-lease with an unrelated party but we stopped receiving such sub-lease rental income in September 2018.
Net rent expense recognized in 2018 and 2017 approximated $108,000 and $161,000, respectively.
Legal Proceedings
Other than the lawsuits described below, we are not currently a party to material litigation proceedings. However, we frequently become party to litigation in the ordinary course
of business, including either the prosecution or defense of claims arising from contracts by and between us and client Associations. Regardless of the outcome, litigation can
have an adverse impact on us because of prosecution, defense, and settlement costs, diversion of management resources and other factors.
The Company accrues for contingent obligations, including estimated legal costs, when the obligation is probable and the amount is reasonably estimable. As facts concerning
contingencies become known, the Company reassesses its position and makes appropriate adjustments to the consolidated financial statements. Estimates that are particularly
sensitive to future changes include those related to tax, legal, and other regulatory matters.
We were a defendant in an action entitled Solaris at Brickell Bay Condominium Association, Inc. v. LM Funding, LLC, which was brought before the Circuit Court of the
Eleventh Judicial Circuit, Miami-Dade Civil Division on July 31, 2014. In this matter, which was initially preliminarily settled in August 2017, the plaintiff (an association
under contract with us) alleged claims such as a usurious loan transaction, state and federal civil Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organization Act claims, Florida Deceptive
and Unfair Trade Practices Act (“FDUTPA”) violations, and other related claims, and the plaintiff requested rescission of their agreement with us, forfeiture of all amounts lent
by us to the plaintiff, a declaratory judgment that we have violated FDUTPA, other damages for breach of contract and violations of FDUTPA, and attorneys’ fees. On August
4, 2017, an order by the court was entered on Plaintiff’s Motion for Preliminary Approval of Class Action Settlement Agreement. In the order, the motion of the Plaintiff,
Solaris at Brickell Bay Condominium Association, Inc., individually and on behalf of the certified plaintiff class (“Plaintiffs”), for approval of the Class Action Settlement
Agreement (the “Settlement Agreement”) with Defendant LM Funding, LLC was granted. Despite our belief that we are not liable for the claims asserted and that we have good
defenses thereto, we nevertheless agreed to enter into the Settlement Agreement in order to: (1) avoid any further expense, inconvenience, and distraction of burdensome and
protracted litigation and its consequential negative financial effects to our operations; (2) obtain the releases, orders, and final judgment contemplated by the Settlement
Agreement; and (3) put to rest and terminate with finality all claims that had been or could have been
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asserted against us by the Plaintiffs arising from the facts alleged in the lawsuit. Pursuant to the agreement subsequently reached between counsel, all required actions and
deadlines set forth in the Settlement Agreement are currently stayed. On March 1, 2018 a continuation of the abatement was granted until April 2, 2018. As of December 31,
2017, the Company had accrued costs of $505,000 as part of the Settlement Agreement. The settlement amount was contingent upon the Company obtaining sufficient financing
within the allotted timeframe of the Settlement Agreement. On April 2, 2018, the Plaintiffs withdrew from the Settlement Agreement. On August 14, 2018, the parties to the
Solaris class action litigation entered into a revised settlement in which the Plaintiffs amended their complaint (the Fourth Amended Complaint) to reflect no demand for
damages and only a claim for declarative and injunctive relief and amended the class definition to reflect a requirement that class members must have active units still under
contract with LMF under a “Traditional Model” waterfall in the Allocation of Collection Proceeds. This was submitted to the court who approved the amended Complaint and
Class Action Settlement Agreement. On November 6, 2018, the court entered an order granting Plaintiff’s Motion for Final Approval of Class Action Settlement. The New
Settlement Agreement will also reimburse the Plaintiff’s opposing counsel $99,000 plus an administrative fee.
As such, the Company adjusted the class action accrual to $100,000 and recorded a $405,000 gain to other income to the statement of operations. The amount was paid during
fiscal year 2018.
Note 8. Income Taxes
Prior to the initial public offering in October 2015, the earnings of the Predecessor, which was a limited liability company taxed as a partnership, were taxable to its
members. In connection with the contribution of membership interests to the Company (a C-Corporation formed in 2015), the net income or loss of the Company after the
initial public offering is taxable to the Company and reflected in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
The Company performs an evaluation of the realizability of its deferred tax assets on a quarterly basis. The Company considers all positive and negative evidence available in
determining the potential of realizing deferred tax assets, including the scheduled reversal of temporary differences, recent and projected future taxable income and prudent and
feasible tax planning strategies. The estimates and assumptions used by the Company in computing the income taxes reflected in the accompanying consolidated financial
statements could differ from the actual results reflected in the income tax returns filed during the subsequent year. Adjustments are recorded based on filed returns when
finalized or the related adjustments are identified.
Under ASC 740-10-30-5, Income Taxes, deferred tax assets should be reduced by a valuation allowance if, based on the weight of available evidence, it is more-likely-than-not
(i.e., a likelihood of more than 50%) that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The Company considers all positive and negative evidence available
in determining the potential realization of deferred tax assets including, primarily, the recent history of taxable earnings or losses. Based on operating losses reported by the
Company during 2018 and 2017, the Company concluded there was not sufficient positive evidence to overcome this recent operating history. As a result, the Company believes
that a valuation allowance is necessary based on the more-likely-than-not threshold noted above. The Company recorded a valuation allowance of approximately of $3,620,000
during the year ended December 31, 2017 equal to its deferred tax asset as of December 31, 2017 and decreased the valuation allowance to $3,204,000 during the year ended
December 31, 2018.
Significant components of the tax expense (benefit) recognized in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations for the period December 31, 2018 and December 31,
2017) are as follows:
Year Ended
December 31,
2018
Current tax benefit
Federal
State
Total current tax benefit
Deferred tax expense
Rate change adjustment
Valuation allowance (expense)
Income tax (reduction) benefit

$

$
F-18

Year Ended
December 31,
2017

(222,603 ) $
(46,058 )
(268,661 )
685,416
(416,755 )
- $

(1,690,948 )
(220,735 )
(1,911,683 )
(31,974 )
1,754,830
3,620,363
3,431,536
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The reconciliation of the income tax computed at the combined federal and state statutory rate of 25.3% for the year ended December 31, 2018 and 37.6% for the year ended
December 31, 2017 to the income tax benefit is as follows:

Benefit on net loss
Nondeductible expenses
Rate change adjustment
Valuation allowance (expense)
Other items
Tax benefit/effective rate

Year Ended December
Year Ended December
31,
31,
2018
2017
2017
2017
$ 413,361
-87.5 % $ (1,955,121 )
37.6 %
3,394
(0.7 )%
11,464
(0.2 )%
0.0 %
1,754,830
-33.8 %
(416,755 )
88 %
3,620,363
-69.7 %
0.0 %
0.0 %
$
0 % $ 3,431,536
-66.1 %

The significant components of the Company’s deferred tax liabilities and assets as of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017 are as follows:
As of December 31,
2018
2017
Deferred tax liabilities:
Tax expense for debt issuance costs
Tax expense for internally developed software
Tax depreciation in excess of book
Total deferred tax liabilities
Deferred tax assets:
Loss carryforwards
Step up in basis at contribution to C-Corp
Stock option expense
Step up in basis - purchase of non-controlling interest
Allowance for credit losses
Accrued liabilities
Total deferred tax asset
Valuation allowance
Net deferred tax asset

$

$

9,976
4,975
14,951

$

2,156,428
853,410
87,056
59,243
41,849
20,572
3,218,558
(3,203,607 )
- $

15,871
8,921
24,792
2,393,172
1,024,590
80,778
63,890
62,154
20,571
3,645,155
(3,620,363 )
-

As discussed above, the Predecessor effected a transaction resulting in the contribution of member interests to the Company (a newly formed C-Corporation). This transaction
was recorded at the carryover basis of the Predecessor for both tax and financial reporting purposes. In accordance with ASC 740-10-45-19, Income Taxes, the Company
accounted for the tax effect of the difference in tax basis and book basis assets and liabilities at contribution date as a direct consequence of a change in tax status. As such, the
Company recognized a net deferred tax asset for the tax effect of those basis differences equal to $91,068 with a corresponding increase in tax benefit. As a result of various
equity transactions prior to the incorporation, the former members of the Predecessor recognized taxable gains associated with redemption consideration and/or deficit capital
accounts totaling approximately $5.25 million. In accordance with ASC 740-20-45-11, the Company accounted for the tax effect of the step up in income tax basis related to
these transactions with or among shareholders and recognized a deferred tax asset and corresponding increase in equity of approximately $1.97 million. Federal net operating
loss carryforwards of approximately $512,000 related to 2015, $3,850,000 related to 2016, $2,977,000 related to 2017 and $1,060,000 related to 2018 will expire in 2035, 2036,
2037, respectively and net operating loss generated after January 1, 2018 will not expire. The Company's federal and state tax returns for the 2015 through 2018 tax years
generally remain subject to examination by U.S. and various state authorities.
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Note 9. Stockholders’ Equity
Stock Issuance
Fiscal Year 2017
The Company settled $4,720,860 of principal, accrued interest and other charges by issuing 2,953,189 common shares with a fair value of $5,325,639 which resulted in a
$604,779 loss on settlement of debt.
Fiscal Year 2018
On October 15, 2018, the Company effected a common share consolidation (“Reverse Stock Split”) by means of a one-for-ten (1:10) reverse split of its outstanding common
stock, par value $0.001 per share which resulted in a decrease in outstanding common stock to 625,318 shares. The Reverse Stock Split became effective, on October 16, 2018
and the Company’s common stock began trading on The Nasdaq Global Market on a split-adjusted basis on October 16, 2018. This reduced the number of outstanding shares
from 6,253,189 down to 625,319 shares and resulting in a treasury share buyback of 357 shares for $1,894 due to the purchase of fractional shares.
The Company has restated all share amounts to reflect the Reverse Stock Split.
On October 31, 2018, the Company issued 2,500,000 common shares for net proceeds of $5.2 million after offering costs of $0.2 million.
Stock Warrants
As part of its initial public offering, on October 23, 2015 the Company issued warrants that allowed for the right to purchase 120,000 shares of common stock at an average
exercise price of $125.00 per share. Due to the Reverse Stock Split on October 16, 2018, each warrant may only purchase one-tenth a share of common stock at $12.50. These
warrants have weighted average price of $12.50 and weighted average remaining life of 1.81 and 2.94 as of December 31, 2018 and 2017. These warrants expire in the year
2020. The aggregate intrinsic value of the outstanding common stock warrants as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 was $0 and $0 respectively.
On October 31, 2018, the Company issued warrants as part of its secondary offering that allowed for the right to purchase 2,500,000 shares of common stock at an exercise
price of $2.40 per share. These warrants have average remaining life of 4.8 years as of December 31, 2018. These warrants expire in the year 2023.
On April 2, 2018, the Company issued warrants that allowed for the right to purchase 40,000 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $6.605 per share. If the Company,
at any time this warrant is outstanding, combines its outstanding shares of Common Stock into a smaller number of shares or enters into a corporate action or transaction to
change the number of outstanding share of common stock, then the exercise price is adjusted along with the number of shares that can be purchased under this agreement. Due
to the subsequent issuance of stock and warrants on October 31, 2018, these warrants now have the right to purchase 143,587 shares at an exercise price of $1.84 per share.
These warrants have average remaining life of 4.25 years as of December 31, 2018. These warrants expire in the year 2023.
Stock Options
The 2015 Omnibus Incentive Plan provides for the issuance of stock options, stock appreciation rights, performance shares, performance units, restricted stock, restricted stock
units, shares of our common stock, dividend equivalent units, incentive cash awards or other awards based on our common stock. Awards may be granted alone or in addition
to, in tandem with, or (subject to the 2015 Omnibus Incentive Plan’s prohibitions on repricing) in substitution for any other award (or any other award granted under another
plan of ours or of any of our affiliates).
On November 29, 2017 the Company granted a total of 2,500 stock options to an employee at an exercise price of $125.00 per share. These awards will vest evenly over a three
year period. The maximum term of an option is 10 years from the date of grant. The grant date fair value of the options was $0.29. Total expense to be recognized for the
employee options is approximately $5,800.
On May 29, 2018 the Company granted a total of 10,000 stock options to an employee at an exercise price of $10.00 per share. These awards will vest evenly over a three year
period. The maximum term of an option is 10 years from the date of grant. The grant date fair value of the options was $4.68. Total expense to be recognized after adjusting
for forfeitures for the employee options is approximately $35,000.
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The Black-Scholes pricing model was used to determine the fair value of the stock options granted by the Company. The Company recognizes this value as an expense over the
period in which the stock options vest. The weighted average grant date fair value of the options granted was $4.68 and $2.90, respectively for awards granted in the years
ended December 31, 2018 and 2017. Compensation expense recognized from the vesting of stock options was approximately $25,000of which $18,000 was for options issued
prior to 2018 and $29,000 of which $28,800 was for options issued prior to 2017, respectively for the years ended December 31, 2018 and2017. The remaining unrecognized
compensation cost associated with unvested stock options as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 is approximately $32,000 and $37,000, respectively. At December 31, 2018and
2017, the stock options had a remaining life of approximately 7 and 8 years, respectively.
The aggregate intrinsic value of the outstanding common stock options as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 was $0 and $0 respectively.
The Black-Scholes option-pricing model was developed for use in estimating the fair value of traded options that have no vesting restrictions. The model requires the use of
subjective assumptions. Expected volatility was based on the historical volatility of another public company with a similar business model and comparable market share as the
Company. The expected life (in years) was determined using historical data to estimate options exercise patterns. The Company does not expect to pay any dividends for the
foreseeable future thus zero was in the calculation. The risk-free interest rate was based on the rate for US Treasury bonds commensurate with the expected term of the granted
options. Significant assumptions used in the option-pricing model to fair value options granted were as follows:
2018

Risk-free rate
Expected life
Expected volatility
Expected dividend

2.65 %
6 years
108.00 %
—
2017

Risk-free rate
Expected life
Expected volatility
Expected dividend

2.27 %
6 years
50.00 %
—

The following is a summary of the stock option plan activity during 2018 and 2017:
2018
Number of
Options
Options Outstanding at Beginning of the year

11,290

Granted
Exercised
Adjustment
Forfeited

2017
Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

$

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Number of
Options

111.07

21,537

$

113.80

10,000

10.00

2,500

125.00

-

-

-

-

1,010

125.00

793

125.00

(3,000 )

120.83

(13,540 )

125.00

Options Outstanding at End of Year

19,300

$

57.91

11,290

$

11.11

Options Exercisable at End of Year

6,630

$

105.68

6,290

$

103.30

Note 10. Related Party Transactions
Legal services for the Company associated with the collection of delinquent assessments from property owners are performed by a law firm (Business Law Group “BL G”)
which was owned solely by Bruce M. Rodgers, the Chief Executive Officer of LMFA until and through the date of the initial public offering. Following the offering, Mr.
Rodgers transferred his interest in BLG to other attorneys at
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the firm through a redemption of his interest in the firm, and BLG is now under control of those lawyers.The law firm has historically performed collection work primarily on a
deferred billing basis wherein the law firm receives payment for services rendered upon collection from the property owners or at amounts ultimately subject to negotiations
with the Company.
During 2016, the Company experienced a decline in collection events that affected revenues both to the Company and BLG. That resulted in an increase in the related party
receivable and reflects the decision by the Company to advance funds to BLG based on the amount of their unpaid legal fees due from property owners. Effective January 1,
2017, the Company entered into a new services agreement with BLG which partially alters the traditional deferred billing arrangement noted above.
Under the new agreement, the Company pays BLG a fixed monthly fee of $82,000 per month for services rendered. The Company will continue to pay BLG a minimum per
unit fee of $700 in any case where there is a collection event and BLG receives no payment from the property owner. This provision has been expanded to also include any unit
where the Company has taken title to the unit or where the association has terminated its contract with either BLG or the Company.
Amounts collected from property owners and paid to BLG for 2018 and 2017 were approximately $984,000 and $1,136,000, respectively. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017,
receivables from property owners for charges ultimately payable to BLG approximate $2,753,000 and $3,657,000, respectively.
Under the related party agreement with BLG in effect during 2017 and 2018, the Company pays all costs (lien filing fees, process and serve costs) incurred in connection with
the collection of amounts due from property owners. Any recovery of these collection costs are accounted for as a reduction in expense incurred. The Company incurred
expenses related to these types of costs of $297,000 and $560,000, during 2018 and 2017, respectively. Recoveries during 2018 and 2017 related to those costs were
approximately $278,000 and $331,000, respectively.
The Company also shares office space and related common expenses with BLG. All shared expenses, including rent, are charged to the legal firm based on an estimate of
actual usage. Any expenses of BLG paid by the Company that have not been reimbursed or settled against other amounts are reflected as due from related parties in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheet.
The Company assessed the collectability of the amount due from BLG and concluded that even though BLG had repaid $252,771 during 2017, it did not have the ability to
repay the remaining balance at the end of 2017 and as such took a reserve of approximately $1.4 million for the balance due as of December 31, 2017. Amounts receivable from
BLG as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 were approximately $25,500 and $0, respectively.
LMF has engaged BLG on behalf of many of its Association clients to service and collect the accounts and to distribute the proceeds as required by Florida law and the
provisions of the purchase agreements between LMF and the Associations. In addition, Ms. Gould entered an employment agreement to work part-time for LMF. Ms. Gould’s
employment agreement with LMF permits her to also work as General Manager of Business Law Group, P.A. which pays her additional compensation of $150,000 per year.
Note 11. Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The Company estimates that the fair value of its financial assets and liabilities approximate carrying value except for its finance receivables. FASB ASC 820, Fair Value
Measurements and Disclosures defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants on the measurement date. ASC 820 also establishes a fair value hierarchy which requires an entity to classify its fair value estimates based on the “Level” of
reliability of data inputs used in those estimates. Under this guidance, financial instruments are categorized within the fair value hierarchy as follows:
Level 1 inputs – Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that can be assessed at the measurement date.
Level 2 inputs – Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.
Level 3 inputs – Unobservable inputs significant to the fair value estimate that are supported by little or no market pricing and are based on the Company’s estimates and
assumptions that presumably market participants would use.
The Company considers the data inputs used to estimate the fair value of its finance receivables to fall within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. Fair value measurements as
noted below are based on the income approach using a discount rate of 8.65% and 7.95% for
F-22

LM FUNDING AMERICA, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
finance receivables at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. The recovery period as of both dates was assumed to be 8.5 years. The carrying amount and estimated fair
value of finance receivables at December 31 are as follows:
2018
Carrying
Amount
Finance receivables:
Original product
Special product, net of allowance (1)
(1)

$

425,000
237,000

2017
Fair
Value

$

4,005,000
543,000

Carrying
Amount
$

638,000
339,000

Fair
Value
$

5,705,000
890,000

New Neighbor Guaranty program

Note 12 Management’s Plan
On August 27, 2014, FASB issued ASU 2014-05,Disclosure of Uncertainties about an Entity’s ability to Continue as a Going Concern, which requires management to assess a
company’s ability to continue as a going concern within one year from financial statement issuance and to provide related footnote disclosures in certain circumstances.
The Company has experienced significant operating losses over the past 3 years (2016 through 2018) with cumulative losses of approximately $11,490,000. These losses
resulted in the usage of all cash proceeds from the Company’s initial public offering in 2015.
The Company was able to settle the $4,720,860 promissory note that had been due in April 2018 along with accrued interest and other costs with its primary creditor in
exchange for 2,953,189 common shares and repay its other outstanding promissory note of $717,500 during the twelve months ended December 31, 2017. After the Company
was able to stabilize its business, it successfully raised $5.4 million through a secondary public offering on October 30, 2018.).
Under a purchase agreement dated January 16, 2019, the Company owes Craven $3,582,613 which may be converted into common stock or paid in cash by January 15,
20120. Craven’s intent is to convert the note into common shares and has agreed to extend repayment 12 months from April 15, 2019.
We believe that we have enough cash to mitigate the substantial doubt raised by our recent operating losses and satisfy our estimated liquidity needs for the 12 months from the
issuance of these financial statements and avoid any substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern as defined by ASU 2014-05. However, we
cannot predict, with certainty, the outcome of our actions to generate liquidity, including the availability of additional debt financing, or whether such actions would generate
the expected liquidity as currently planned. Additionally, a failure to generate additional liquidity could negatively impact our ability to acquire units.

Note 13. Subsequent Events
On January 15, 2019, the Company entered into a Stock Purchase Agreement with Craven House North America, LLC (“Craven”) to purchase all of the shares of IIU, Inc.
(“IIU”) as a possible synergistic effort to diversify revenue sources that are believed to be accretive to earnings. IIU providesglobal medical insurance products for international
travelers, specializing in policies covering high-risk destinations, emerging markets and foreign travelers coming to the United States. All policies are fully underwritten with no
claim risk remaining with IIU.
The Board of Directors of LMFA approved the purchase of IIU. LMFA purchased 100% of the outstanding stock of IIU for $5,075,000. IIU is required to have a minimum net
working capital of $15,000 and at least $152,000 in cash. LMFA paid the Purchase Price at closing as follows:
•

Cancellation by LMFA of all principal and accrued interest of IIU’s Promissory Note dated November 3, 2018 and issued to LMFA for principal indebtedness and
accrued interest of $1,507,387.
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•

LMFA issued to Craven a $3,582,613 Convertible Promissory Note for the balance of the Purchase Price. At the option of Craven, the Convertible Note may be
paid in restricted common shares of LMFA or cash. The Convertible Note shall bear simple interest at 3% per annum. The Convertible Note shall be due and
payable 360 days from the Closing Date. If repaid by LMFA in restricted common stock, the outstanding principal and interest of the Convertible Note shall be
paid by LMFA by issuing to Seller a number of restricted common shares equal to the adjusted principal and accrued interest owing on the Convertibl e Note
divided by $2.41. Craven has verbally agreed to extend repayment of this Convertible Promissory Note 12 months from April 15, 2019.

LMFA shall seek shareholder approval for issuing restricted common shares in payment of the Convertible Note. As a condition to closing, LMFA’s officer and directors
agreed to vote all of their shares in favor of approving the issuance of shares pursuant to the Convertible Note.
The closing date of the transaction occurred on January 15, 2019. The effective date of the transaction was January 1, 2019. The definitive agreements requires LMFA to
provide customary covenants including, but not be limited to, covenants restricting subsequent indebtedness, issuance of securities, payment of indebtedness, conduct of
business, redemptions, cash or stock dividends, pledge of securities, foreign investments and other transactions affecting the amount of issued and outstanding shares of
LMFA’s common stock.
The Company purchased IIU after December 31, 2018, as such there are no revenue or earnings of the acquired included in the consolidated income statement for the year
ended December 31, 2018. The Company provided the audited financial statements of IIU in a Form 8-K filed on April 8, 2019.
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2.1

Contribution Agreement, dated October 21, 2015, by and between CGR63, LLC, BRR Holding, LLC and LM Funding America, Inc. (incorporated by
reference from Exhibit 2.1 to the Form 8-K filed on October 23, 2015)

2.2

Stock Purchase Agreement, dated January 16, 2019, by and between LM Funding America, Inc. and IIU, Inc (incorporated by reference from Exhibit 2.1 to
the Form 8-K filed on January 16, 2019)

3.1

Certificate of Incorporation of LM Funding America, Inc., as amended. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1
(Amendment No. 2) filed on August 27, 2015 (Registration No. 333-205232))

3.2

By-Laws of LM Funding America, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on June 25, 2015
(Registration No. 333-205232))

4.1

Form of Warrant Agreement. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment No. 1) filed on August 7, 2015
(Registration No. 333-205232))

4.2

Form of Common Stock Certificate. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment No. 2) filed on August
27, 2015 (Registration No. 333-205232))

4.3
4.4

Senior Convertible Promissory Note, dated March 29, 2018. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Form 8-K filed on July 23, 2018)
Warrant to Purchase Common Shares, dated April 2, 2018, between the Company and Esousa Holdings LLC. ( incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.1 to the Form 8-K filed on July 23, 2018)
Form of Common Warrant. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Form 8-K filed on November 5, 2018)
Form of Pre-Funded Warrant. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to Form 8-K filed on November 5, 2018)
Form of Underwriter’s Warrant. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to Form 8-K filed on November 5, 2018)
Employment Agreement, dated October 22, 2015, by and between Bruce M. Rodgers and LM Funding America, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.1 to the Form 8-K filed on October 23, 2015)

4.5
4.6
4.7
10.1#
10.2#

Employment Agreement, dated October 22, 2015, by and between Carollinn Gould and LM Funding America, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2
to the Form 8-K filed on October 23, 2015)

10.3#

Employment Agreement, dated October 22, 2015, by and between Sean Galaris and LM Funding America, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to
the Form 8-K filed on October 23, 2015)

10.4#

Employment Agreement, dated January 4, 2016, by and between the Company and Steve Weclew. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Form 8-K
filed on January 7, 2016)

10.5#

Employment Agreement, dated January 4, 2016, by and between the Company and Aaron L. Gordon. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Form
8-K filed on January 7, 2016)

10.6#

LM Funding America, Inc. 2015 Omnibus Incentive Plan. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Form 8-K filed on October 23, 2015
)

10.7#

Form of LM Funding America, Inc. 2015 Omnibus Incentive Plan Stock Option Award Agreement. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Form 8K filed on October 23, 2015)

10.8#

Form of LM Funding America, Inc. 2015 Omnibus Incentive Plan Restricted Stock Award Agreement. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Form
8-K filed on October 23, 2015)

10.9

Services Agreement, dated April 15, 2015, between LM Funding, LLC and Business Law Group, P.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the
Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on June 25, 2015 (Registration No. 333-205232))

10.10

Software License Agreement, dated April 15, 2015, between LM Funding, LLC and Business Law Group, P.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to
the Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on June 25, 2015 (Registration No. 333-205232))
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10.11

Assessment Recovery Indemnity (ARI) Policy for Community Associations, dated December 1, 2012, in favor of LM Funding, LLC and issued by Security
National Insurance Company, a member of AmTrust North America, an AmTrust Financial Company. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the Form
of Association Receivables Purchase Agreement. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on June 25,
2015 (Registration No. 333-205232))

10.12

Form of Association Receivables Purchase Agreement. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on June
25, 2015 (Registration No. 333-205232))
Form of Escrow Agreement among SunTrust Bank, N.A., International Assets Advisory, LLC and LM Funding America, Inc. (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.11 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment No. 1) filed on August 7, 2015 (Registration No. 333-205232))

10.13
10.14

Form of Selected Dealer Agreement between International Assets Advisory, LLC and the members of the selling group. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.12 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment No. 1) filed on August 7, 2015 (Registration No. 333-205232))

10.15

Credit Agreement, dated December 30, 2014, among LMF SPE#2, LLC, as borrower, LM Funding, LLC, CGR63, LLC and LM Funding Management, LLC,
as guarantors, and Heartland Bank, as lender. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on June 25, 2015
(Registration No. 333-205232))

10.16

Irrevocable Continuing Guaranty Agreement, dated December 30, 2014, by LM Funding, LLC, CGR63, LLC and LM Funding Management, LLC in favor of
Heartland Bank. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on June 25, 2015 (Registration No. 333-205232))

10.17

Pledge Agreement, dated December 30, 2014, by LM Funding, LLC and CRE Funding, LLC in favor of Heartland Bank. (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.15 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on June 25, 2015 (Registration No. 333-205232))

10.18

Form of Lock-Up Agreement. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on June 25, 2015 (Registration No.
333-205232))

10.19

Errors and Omissions Agreement, dated June 25, 2015, by LMF October 2010 Fund, LLC in favor of IBERIABANK. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.17 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment No. 1) filed on August 7, 2015 (Registration No. 333-205232))

10.20

Business Loan Agreement (Asset Based), dated June 25, 2015, between LMF October 2010 Fund, LLC and IBERIABANK. (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.18 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment No. 1) filed on August 7, 2015 (Registration No. 333-205232))

10.21

Commercial Guaranty, dated June 25, 2015, by Carollinn Gould in favor of IBERIABANK. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to the Registration
Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment No. 1) filed on August 7, 2015 (Registration No. 333-205232))

10.22

Commercial Guaranty, dated June 25, 2015, by Bruce Rodgers in favor of IBERIABANK. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to the Registration
Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment No. 1) filed on August 7, 2015 (Registration No. 333-205232))

10.23

Commercial Security Agreement, dated June 25, 2015, by LMF October 2010 Fund, LLC in favor of IBERIABANK. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.21 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment No. 1) filed on August 7, 2015 (Registration No. 333-205232))

10.24

Promissory Note, dated June 25, 2015, by LMF October 2010 Fund, LLC in favor of IBERIABANK. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22 to the
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Amendment No. 1) filed on August 7, 2015 (Registration No. 333-205232))

10.25#

Form of Indemnification Agreement entered into between LM Funding America, Inc. and its directors and officers. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.21 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed on June 25, 2015 (Registration No. 333-205232)

10.26#

Employment Agreement, dated May 10, 2016, by and between the Company and R. Dean Akers. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on May 11, 2016)
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Amendment to Employment Agreement of Bruce M. Rodgers, dated August 30, 2016, by and between the Company and Bruce M. Rodgers. (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on August 31, 2016)
Amendment to Employment Agreement of Carollinn Gould, dated August 30, 2016, by and between the Company and Carollinn Gould. (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on August 31, 2016)
Amendment to Employment Agreement of R. Dean Akers, dated August 30, 2016, by and between the Company and R. Dean Akers. (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on August 31, 2016)
Amendment to Employment Agreement of Steve Weclew, dated August 30, 2016, by and between the Company and Steve Weclew. (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on August 31, 2016)
Amendment to Employment Agreement of Aaron Gordon, dated August 30, 2016, by and between the Company and Aaron Gordon. (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on August 31, 2016)

10.32#

Employment Offer, dated November 16, 2017 and effective November 29, 2017, by and between the Company and Richard Russell. (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 1, 2017)

10.33#

Securities Purchase Agreement, dated March 29, 2018, between the Company and Esousa Holdings LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 23, 2018)

10.34#

Registration Rights Agreement, dated March 29, 2018, between the Company and Esousa Holdings LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 23, 2018)

10.35#

Common Stock Purchase Agreement, dated March 29, 2018, between the Company and Esousa Holdings,LLC. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to
the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 23, 2018)

10.36

First Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated March 31, 2017 and effective March 15, 2017, among LMF SPE#2, LLC, as borrower, LM Funding, LLC, and
LM Funding Management, LLC, as guarantors, and Heartland Bank, as lender. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.32 to the Annual Report on Form 10K filed on April 4, 2017)

10.37

Irrevocable Continuing Guaranty Agreement, dated March 31, 2017 and effective as of March 15, 2017, by the Company in favor of Heartland Bank.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.33 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on April 4, 2017)

10.38

Pledge Agreement, dated March 31, 2017 and effective as of March 15, 2017, by the Company in favor of Heartland Bank. (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.34 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on April 4, 2017)
First Amendment to Pledge Agreement, dated March 31, 2017, effective as of March 15, 2017, by LM Funding, LLC in favor of Heartland Bank.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.35 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on April 4, 2017)

10.39
10.40

Master Exchange Agreement, dated December 11, 2017, by and between the Company and Esousa Holdings LLC. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1
to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 12, 2017)

10.41
10.42

Form of Warrant to Purchase Common Stock. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 12, 2017
)
Senior Convertible Promissory Note, dated as of November 9, 2018 by and between the Company and IIU Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to
the Form 10-Q filed on November 14, 2018)

10.43
10.44
10.45*
10.46*
10.47*

Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of November 9, 2018 by and between the Company and IIU Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Form 10-Q filed on November 14, 2018)
Convertible Promissory Note . (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 17, 2019)
Employment Agreement dated April 15, 2019, by and between the Company and Richard Russell
Amendment to Employment Agreement of Carollinn Gould, dated April 15, 2019, by and between the Company and Carollinn Gould
Amendment to Employment Agreement of Bruce M. Rodgers, dated April 15, 2019, by and between the Company and Bruce M. Rodgers

21.1*

Subsidiaries of the registrant.
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31.1*
31.2*
32.1*
32.2*
101.INS
101.SCH
101.CAL
101.DEF
101.LAB
101.PRE
#
*

Description

Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
XBRL Instance Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

Indicates a management contract or compensatory arrangement.
Filed herewith.
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Signatures
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by
the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized:
LM FUNDING AMERICA, INC.
Date: April 16, 2019

By:

/s/ Bruce M. Rodgers
Bruce M. Rodgers
Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board

KNOW ALL THESE PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Bruce M. Rodgers and Stephen Weclew and each of
them, jointly and severally, his attorneys-in-fact, each with full power of substitution, for him in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this Report on Form 10-K, and to file
the same, with exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, hereby ratifying and confirming all that each said attorneys-in-fact
or his substitute or substitutes, may do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this Report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant in the
capacities and on the dates indicated.
Name

Title

Date

/s/ Bruce M. Rodgers
Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of Directors
(Principal Executive Officer)

April 16, 2019

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)

April 16, 2019

Member of the Board of Directors

April 16, 2019

Andrew Graham

Member of the Board of Directors

April 16, 2019

/s/ Martin A. Traber

Member of the Board of Directors

April 16, 2019

Member of the Board of Directors

April 16, 2019

Member of the Board of Directors

April 16, 2019

Member of the Board of Directors

April 16, 2019

Bruce M. Rodgers

/s/ Richard Russell
Richard Russell

/s/ Carollinn Gould
Carollinn Gould

/s/ Andrew Graham

Martin A. Traber

/s/ Joel Rodgers
Joel Rodgers

/s/ Douglas McCree
Douglas McCree

/s/ Frederick Mills
Frederick Mills
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EXHIBIT 10.45
EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT
THIS EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is dated as of April 15, 2019 (the “Effective Date”), by and between
LM Funding America, Inc., Delaware incorporated corporation (the “Company”), and Richard Russell (“Executive”).
Recitals
A.
Executive has been an employee of the Company since November, 2017. LM Funding, LLC is a wholly owned
subsidiary of Company. The Company desires to retain Executive, and Executive desires to continue his employment with the Company, upon
the terms and conditions set forth herein; and
B.
The Company and Executive agree to protect the interests of the Company and Company’s customers and
Confidential Information (as defined below) that may have been or that may be disclosed to Executive as set forth herein.
Agreement
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises made herein and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt
and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties, intending to be legally bound, agree as follows:
Section 1.

Employment, Duties and Acceptance.

(a)
The Company shall employ Executive during the Term (as defined below) as Chief Financial
Officer. Executive shall be responsible for performing the duties and exercising the powers which the Chief Executive Officer and Board of
Directors of the Company (the “Board”) may from time-to-time assign to him in his capacity as Chief Financial Officer of the Company in
connection with the conduct and management of the business of the Company and its subsidiaries and affiliates.

(b)
Executive hereby accepts such employment and agrees, during the Term, to render Executive’s
services to the Company on a full-time basis and to devote Executive’s full business time and attention to the business and affairs of the
Company and any subsidiary or affiliate of the Company. Executive agrees that at all times during the Term, Executive will faithfully perform
the duties so assigned to him to the best of Executive’s ability. Executive further agrees to accept election and to serve during all or any part of
the Term as an officer, director or representative of any subsidiary or affiliate of the Company, without any compensation therefor other than
that specified in this Agreement. Executive shall report directly to the Chief Executive Officer.
(c)
The duties to be performed by Executive hereunder shall be principally performed at the
Company’s offices located in Tampa, Florida, subject to reasonable travel requirements on behalf of the Company. Executive shall be entitled
to an annual paid time off of 30 days on the same terms that the Company provides to other similarly situated senior Company executives in
accordance with the Company’s policies and practices; provided that Executive shall schedule the timing and duration of Executive’s vacations
in a reasonable manner taking into account the needs of the business of the Company.
(d)
Executive acknowledges that from time to time the Company may promulgate workplace
policies and rules. Executive agrees to fully comply with all such policies and rules, and understands that failure to do so may result in a
disciplinary action up to and including immediate discharge for Cause.
Section 2.
Term. As used herein, the “Term” means the period commencing on the Effective Date. The Term shall
be for one year and is automatically renewed each successive year unless Executive or the Company gives written notice of termination on or
before the 30th day prior to the annual anniversary of the Effective Date of its desire not to renew the Term. Any such renewal shall be upon
the terms and conditions set forth herein unless otherwise agreed between the Company and Executive. In the event that the Company gives
written notice that it does not intend to renew the Term, Executive shall be entitled to the benefits set forth in Section 4(b)(iii).
Section 3.

Compensation. Executive shall be entitled to the following compensation:

(a)
The Company agrees to pay to Executive a salary in cash (the “Salary”), as compensation for
the services to be performed by Executive, at the rate of $200,000 per calendar year, paid in accordance with the Company’s customary payroll
procedures and subject to applicable withholding. During the Term, the Board shall have the right to increase, but not decrease, the Salary,
except the Board may decrease the Salary in connection with a base salary decrease that is generally applicable to all members of the
Company’s senior management. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Executive will be eligible for additional annual salary merit
increases during the Term beginning in 2019 based on the evaluation of Executive’s performance as determined by the Board in its sole
discretion. Executive’s salary as in effect from time to time shall constitute the “Salary” for purposes of this Agreement.
(b)
The Company shall reimburse Executive for all reasonable expenses incurred by Executive in
the course of performing Executive’s duties under this Agreement that are consistent with the Company’s policies in effect from time to time
with respect to travel, entertainment and other business expenses, subject to the Company’s requirements with respect to reporting and
documentation of such expenses.
(c)
Executive shall be eligible to participate in any equity incentive plan, restricted share plan, share
award plan, stock appreciation rights plan, stock option plan or similar plan adopted by the Company on the same terms and conditions
applicable to other senior Company executives, with the amount of such awards to be determined by the Board in its sole discretion. Executive
shall be eligible for an annual bonus and long term incentive awards as determined at the sole discretion of the Board.
(d)
Executive shall be entitled to all rights and benefits for which Executive shall be eligible under
any retirement, retirement savings, profit-sharing, pension or welfare benefit plan, life, disability, health, dental, hospitalization and other
forms of insurance and all other so-called “fringe” benefits or perquisites (except for with respect to any plan that provides severance or other
similar benefits), on the same terms that the Company provides to other similarly situated senior Company executives (subject to all
restrictions on participation that may apply under federal and state tax laws).

Section 4.

Termination.

(a)
Events of Termination. Executive’s employment with the Company shall terminate (the date of
such termination being the “Termination Date”) immediately upon any of the following:
(i)

Executive’s death (“Termination Upon Death”);

(ii)
the effective date of a written notice sent to Executive stating the Company’s
determination, made in good faith, that due to a mental or physical condition, Executive has been unable and failed to substantially render the
services to be provided by Executive to the Company for a period of at least 180 days out of any consecutive 360 days (“Termination For
Disability”);
(iii)
the effective date of a written notice sent to Executive stating the Company’s
determination, made in good faith, that it is terminating Executive’s employment for Cause (as defined below) (“Termination For Cause”);
(iv)
the effective date of a notice sent to Executive stating that the Company is
terminating Executive’s employment without Cause (including any notice from the Company to Executive pursuant to Section 2 that the
Company has decided not to renew the Term), which notice can be given by the Company at any time after the Effective Date at the
Company’s sole discretion, for any reason or for no reason (“Termination Without Cause”);
(v)
the effective date of a notice (other than a notice delivered pursuant to
Section 4(a)(vi) of this Agreement) sent to the Company from Executive stating that Executive is electing to terminate Executive’s
employment with the Company without Good Reason (“Resignation Without Good Reason”); or
(vi)
the effective date of a written notice to Company stating Executive’s
determination, made in good faith, that a Good Reason Event (as defined below) has occurred within 30 days preceding such notice and as a
consequence Executive is electing to terminate Executive’s employment hereunder for a Good Reason Event (“Resignation For Good
Reason”); provided,

however, that Executive will give the Company 30 days to cure such Good Reason Event, and if the Company fails to cure such Good Reason
Event within 30 days after Executive gives written notice of resignation hereunder, then Executive may immediately terminate Executive’s
employment with the Company, and such termination will be a Resignation For Good Reason hereunder; provided, further, that Executive’s
termination shall be deemed a Termination For Cause if the Company has delivered to Executive written notice of any act or omission that, if
not cured, would constitute Cause at any time preceding the notice provided by Executive hereunder.
As used herein, the term “Cause” shall mean (i) commission of a willful act of dishonesty in the course of Executive’s duties
hereunder, (ii) conviction by a court of competent jurisdiction of, or plea of no contest to, a crime constituting a felony or conviction in respect
of, or plea of no contest to, any act involving fraud, dishonesty or moral turpitude, (iii) Executive’s performance under the influence of
controlled substances (other than those taken pursuant to a medical doctor’s orders), (iv) frequent or extended, and unjustifiable, absenteeism,
(v) Executive’s personal misconduct or refusal to perform duties and responsibilities or to carry out the lawful directives of the Board, which, if
capable of being cured shall not have been cured, within 30 days after the Company shall have advised Executive in writing of its intention to
terminate Executive’s employment, or (vi) Executive’s material non-compliance with the terms of this Agreement, which, if capable of being
cured, shall not have been cured within 30 days after the Company shall have advised Executive in writing of its intention to terminate
Executive’s employment for such reason.
As used herein, the term “Good Reason Event” shall mean (i) a material adverse change in the responsibilities or duties of
Executive as set forth in this Agreement (including a change in reporting where Executive no longer reports directly to the Chief Executive
Officer, or a change in Executive’s capacity as Chief Financial Officer) without Executive’s prior consent at a time when there are no
circumstances pending that would permit the Board to terminate Executive for Cause, such that Executive is no longer acting as part of the
senior management team of the Company, (ii) any reduction in the Salary or a material reduction in Executive’s benefits (other than (x) a
reduction in Salary that is the result of an administrative or clerical error, and which is cured within 15 business days after the Company
receives notice of such failure or (y) a reduction in Salary or benefits that are generally applicable to all members of the Company’s senior
management), (iii) a material breach by the Company of this Agreement that is not cured within 30 days following the Company’s

receipt of written notice of such breach from Executive, or (iv) without Executive’s prior written consent, the relocation of Executive’s
principal place of employment outside of a 50 mile radius from the location of the Company’s offices in Tampa, Florida as of the Effective
Date. With regard to clause (i), Executive acknowledges that the Company has flexibility under Section 1(a) to assign Executive a broad range
of responsibilities and duties that are consistent with him being a member of the senior management team and such assignments will not
constitute a “Good Reason Event.”
(b)

Effect of Termination.

(i)
Death or Disability. In the event of Termination Upon Death or Termination
For Disability pursuant to Sections 4(a)(i) or 4(a)(ii) of this Agreement:
(A)
Executive (or Executive’s legal representative) shall be
entitled to receive in cash an amount equal to any earned but unpaid Salary owing by the Company to Executive as of the Termination
Date (the “Accrued Salary”);
(B)
Executive (or Executive’s legal representative) shall be
entitled to receive in cash, to the extent provided under any management bonus plan, an amount equal to the pro rata portion,
determined as of the Termination Date, of any bonus to which Executive would have been entitled had Executive been employed by
the Company at the time such bonus would have otherwise been paid (the “Accrued Bonus”); and
(C)
all unvested Restricted Shares, Options, and Warrants
granted to Executive during the Term of this Agreement shall become fully vested and non-forfeitable as of the Termination Date.
(ii)
Termination For Cause. In the event of a Termination For Cause pursuant to
Section 4(a)(iii) of this Agreement, Executive shall be entitled to receive in cash an amount equal to any Accrued Salary.
(iii)
Termination Without Cause and Resignation For Good Reason and
Termination Upon Non-renewal. In the event of Termination Without Cause or Resignation For Good Reason pursuant to Sections 4(a)(iv) or
4(a)(vi) of this Agreement, subject to Section 4(c)(ii) of this Agreement:

(A)
entitled to receive in cash an amount equal to the Accrued Salary;

a Executive (or Executive’s legal representative) shall be

(B)
entitled to receive in cash an amount equal to the Accrued Bonus;

Executive (or Executive’s legal representative) shall be

(C)
Executive (or Executive’s legal representative) shall be
entitled to receive in cash an amount equal to Executive’s Salary (at the rate then in effect, and without taking into account any
reductions that would have given rise to Good Reason termination by Executive), payable in equal installments in accordance with the
Company’s customary payroll procedures commencing on the Termination Date and ending 24 months thereafter; Company’s
obligation to pay Executive shall be subject to reduction on a dollar for dollar basis from income earned from Executive’s
substantially similar full time employment (“Replacement Employment”), beginning at the time the Executive commences
Replacement Employment. Company shall have the right to a look-back period of 24 months after the Termination Date to verify the
accuracy of payments made and to confirm that Executive has not agreed to work for a below-market rate during the twelve months
immediately following the Termination Date, provided, however; the foregoing Replacement Employment reduction shall not apply
in the event of Termination Without Cause or Termination for Good Reason arising from a change of control where more than 50% of
the Company’s directors are replaced in which case Executive shall receive 24 months Executive Salary, payable as described.
(D)
all unvested Restricted Shares, Options and Warrants
granted to Executive during the Term of this Agreement shall become fully vested and non-forfeitable as of the Termination Date.
(iv)
Resignation Without Good Reason. In the event of Resignation Without
Good Reason pursuant to Section 4(a)(v) of this Agreement, Executive shall be entitled to receive in cash an amount equal to any Accrued
Salary.
(v)
Executive shall be entitled to receive:

Upon Termination For Any Reason.

In the event of any termination,

(A)
any unpaid reasonable, reimbursable business expenses
incurred by Executive in the course of performing Executive’s duties under this Agreement that were incurred in a manner consistent
with the Company’s policies in effect from time to time with respect to travel, entertainment and other business expenses, subject to
the Company’s requirements with respect to incurring, reporting and documenting such expenses; and
(B)
application as shall be determined under the provisions of those plans.
(c)

benefits under the Company’s benefit plans of general

Additional Provisions.

(i)
Any amounts to be paid pursuant to this Section 4 shall be paid in accordance
with the Company’s existing payroll or bonus payment practices, as applicable.
(ii)
As a condition to the Company’s obligations, if any, to make any Accrued
Bonus and severance payments provided under Section 4(b)(iii)(B) and (C), Executive shall have executed, delivered and not revoked a general
release in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A.
(iii)
Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement, the obligations and
commitments under Section 5 of this Agreement shall survive and continue in full force and effect in accordance with their terms
notwithstanding any termination of Executive’s employment for any reason or termination of this Agreement for any reason.
(iv)
Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, the Company
shall have no obligation to pay any amounts payable under Sections 4(b)(i)(B), 4(b)(iii)(B) or 4(b)(iii)(C) of this Agreement during such times
as Executive is in breach of Section 5 of this Agreement, after the Company provides Executive with notice of such breach.
(v)
Executive agrees that termination of Executive’s employment for any reason
shall, with no further action by Executive required, constitute Executive’s resignation, as of the Termination Date and to the extent applicable,
from all positions as an officer, director or representative of the Company and any subsidiary or affiliate of the Company.

Section 5.
(a)

Noncompetition, Nonsolicitation And Confidentiality.
Definitions.

“Company’s Business” means the business of providing specialty financial products to nonprofit incorporated
community associations in the states in which the Company has conducted business.
“Competitor” means any company, other entity or association or individual that directly or indirectly is engaged in the
Company’s Business.
“Confidential Information” means any confidential information with respect to the Company’s Business and/or the
businesses of its clients or customers, including, but not limited to: the trade secrets of the Company; products or services; standard proposals;
standard submissions, surveys and analyses; policy forms; fees, costs and pricing structures; marketing information; advertising and pricing
strategies; analyses; reports; computer software, including operating systems, applications and program listings; flow charts; manuals and
documentation; data bases; all copyrightable works; the Company’s existing and prospective clients and customers, their addresses or other
contact information and/or their confidential information; existing and prospective client and customer lists and other related data; expiration
periods; policy numbers; coverage specifications; daily reports and related correspondence; premium renewal notices; and all similar and
related information in whatever form. The term Confidential Information does not include, and there shall be no obligation hereunder with
respect to, information that (i) is generally available to the public on the date of this Agreement, (ii) becomes generally available to the public
other than as a result of a disclosure by Executive not otherwise permissible hereunder or (iii) Executive has learned or learns from other
sources where, to Executive’s knowledge, such sources have not violated their confidentiality obligation to the Company or any other
applicable obligation of confidentiality.
(b)
Noncompetition. Executive covenants and agrees that during the period commencing on the
Effective Date and ending two years following the Termination Date (the “Restricted Period”), Executive will not, directly or indirectly, own,
manage, operate, control, render service to, or participate in the ownership, management, operation or control of any Competitor anywhere in
the United States of America; provided, however, that Executive shall be entitled to own

shares of stock of any corporation having a class of equity securities actively traded on a national securities exchange or on the Nasdaq Stock
Market which represent, in the aggregate, not more than 1% of such corporation’s fully-diluted shares.
(c)
Nonsolicitation of Employees. Executive covenants and agrees that during the Restricted
Period, Executive will not, directly or indirectly, employ or solicit, or receive or accept the performance of services by any then current officer,
manager, employee or independent contractor of the Company or any subsidiary or affiliate of the Company, or in any way interfere with the
relationship between the Company or any subsidiary or affiliate of the Company, on the one hand, and any such officer, manager, employee or
independent contractor, on the other hand.
(d)
Nonsolicitation of Customers and Vendors. Executive covenants and agrees that during the
Restricted Period, Executive will not, directly or indirectly, knowingly induce, or attempt to induce, any customer, salesperson, distributor,
supplier, vendor, manufacturer, representative, agent, jobber, licensee or other person known by Executive to be transacting business with the
Company or any subsidiary or affiliate of the Company (collectively the “Customers” and “Vendors”) to reduce or cease doing business with
the Company or any such subsidiary or affiliate of the Company, or in any way to interfere with the relationship between any such Customer or
Vendor, on the one hand, and the Company or any subsidiary or affiliate of the Company, on the other hand.
(e)
Representations and Covenants by Executive.
Executive represents and warrants
that: (i) Executive’s execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement do not and will not conflict with, breach, violate or cause a default
under any contract, agreement, instrument, order, judgment or decree to which Executive is a party or by which Executive is bound;
(ii) Executive is not a party to or bound by any employment agreement, noncompete agreement or confidentiality agreement with any other
person or entity (other than the Company) and Executive is not subject to any other agreement that would prevent Executive from performing
Executive’s duties for the Company or otherwise complying with this Agreement; (iii) Executive is not subject to or in breach of any
nondisclosure agreement, including any agreement concerning trade secrets or confidential information owned by any other party; and
(iv) upon the execution and delivery of this Agreement

by the Company, this Agreement shall be the valid and binding obligation of Executive, enforceable in accordance with its terms.
(f)
Nondisclosure of Confidential Information. Executive hereby acknowledges and represents that
Executive has consulted with independent legal counsel regarding Executive’s rights and obligations under this Agreement and that Executive
fully understands the terms and conditions contained herein and Executive agrees that Executive will not, directly or indirectly: (i) use,
disclose, reverse engineer or otherwise exploit for Executive’s own benefit or for the benefit of anyone other than the Company the
Confidential Information except as authorized by the Company; (ii) during Executive’s employment with the Company, use, disclose, or
reverse engineer (x) any confidential information or trade secrets of any former employer or third party, or (y) any works of authorship
developed in whole or in part by Executive during any former employment or for any other party, unless authorized in writing by the former
employer or third party; or (iii) upon Executive’s resignation or termination (x) retain Confidential Information, including any copies existing
in any form (including electronic form), that are in Executive’s possession or control, or (y) destroy, delete or alter the Confidential Information
without the Company’s consent. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Executive may use the Confidential Information in the course of performing
Executive’s duties on behalf of the Company or any subsidiary or affiliate of the Company as described hereunder, provided that such use is
made in good faith. Executive will immediately surrender possession of all Confidential Information to Company upon any suspension or
termination of Executive’s employment with Company for any reason.
(g)
Inventions and Patents. Executive acknowledges that all (i) inventions, innovations,
improvements, developments, methods, designs, analysis, drawings, reports, processes, novel concepts and all similar or related information
(whether or not patentable) that relate to the Company’s or any of its subsidiaries’ or affiliates’ actual or anticipated businesses, (ii) research
and development and (iii) existing or future products or services that are, to any extent, conceived, developed or made by Executive while
employed by the Company or any subsidiary or affiliate of the Company (“Work Product”) belong to the Company or such subsidiary or
affiliate. Executive shall promptly disclose such Work Product to the Board and, at the cost and expense of the Company, perform all actions
reasonably necessary or requested by the Board (whether during or after the Term)

to establish and confirm such ownership (including, without limitation, executing assignments, consents, powers of attorney and other
instruments).
(h)

Miscellaneous.

(i)
Executive acknowledges that (x) Executive’s position is a position of trust and
responsibility with access to Confidential Information of the Company, (y) the Confidential Information, and the relationship between the
Company and each of its employees, Customers and Vendors, are valuable assets of the Company and may not be converted to Executives own
use and (z) the restrictions contained in this Section 5 are reasonable and necessary to protect the legitimate business interests of the Company
and will not impair or infringe upon Executive’s right to work or earn a living after Executive’s employment with the Company ends.
(ii)
Each of the foregoing obligations shall be enforceable independent of any
other obligation, and the existence of any claim or cause of action that Executive may have against the Company, whether predicated on this
Agreement or otherwise, shall not constitute a defense to the enforcement by the Company of these obligations.
(iii)
Executive acknowledges that monetary damages will not be an adequate
remedy for the Company in the event of a breach of this Agreement and that it would be impossible for the Company to measure damages in
the event of such a breach. Therefore, Executive agrees that, in addition to other rights that the Company may have at law or equity, the
Company is entitled, without posting bond, to seek an injunction preventing Executive from any breach of this Agreement.
(iv)
In the event of a breach or violation by Executive during the Restricted
Period of any restriction in Section 5(b), (b) or (d) of this Agreement, the Restricted Period shall be tolled until such breach or violation has
been cured.
(v)
The parties intend to provide the Company with the maximum protection
possible with respect to its Customers and Vendors. The parties, however, do not intend to include a provision that contravenes the public
policy of any state. Therefore, if any provision of this Section 5 is unlawful, against public policy or otherwise declared void, such provision
shall not be deemed part of this Agreement, which otherwise shall remain in full force and effect. If, at the

time of enforcement of this Agreement, a court or other tribunal holds that the duration, scope or area restriction stated herein is unreasonable
under the circumstances then existing, the parties agree that the court should enforce the restrictions to the extent it deems reasonable.
(vi)
Executive hereby agrees that prior to accepting employment with any other
person or entity during the Term or during the Restricted Period following the Termination Date, Executive will provide such prospective
employer with written notice of the existence of this Agreement and the provisions of this Section 5 of this Agreement, with a copy of such
notice delivered simultaneously to the Company in accordance with Section 10 of this Agreement.
(vii)
Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement, the obligations and
commitments of this Section 5 shall survive and continue in full force and effect in accordance with their terms notwithstanding any
termination of Executive’s employment for any reason or termination of this Agreement for any reason.
Section 6.
Withholding Taxes. Prior to making any payments required to be made pursuant to this Agreement, the
Company may require that the Company be reimbursed in cash for any taxes required by any government to be withheld or otherwise deducted
and paid by the Company in respect of such payment by the Company. In lieu thereof, the Company shall have the right to withhold the
amount of such taxes from any sums due or to become due from it to Executive.
Section 7.
Expenses. In the event of any legal action to enforce Executive’s or the Company’s rights under this
Agreement, each party will be responsible for that party’s reasonable attorneys’ fees, expenses and disbursements.
Section 8.
Assignment. This Agreement is binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their
respective successors and assigns. Executive shall not assign or transfer any rights or obligations hereunder. The Company shall have the right
to assign or transfer any rights or obligations hereunder only to (a) a successor entity in the event of a merger, consolidation, or transfer or sale
of all or substantially all the assets of the Company or (b) a subsidiary or affiliate of the Company. Any purported assignment, other than as
provided above, shall be null and void.
Section 9.
Indemnification. The Company shall indemnify Executive for any act or omission done or not done in
performance of Executive’s duties hereunder in accordance with the

Company’s certificate of incorporation, by-laws and any other constituent document to the extent provided for any other officer or member of
the Board. The Company’s obligations under this Section 9 shall survive any termination of this Agreement or Executive’s employment
hereunder.
Section 10.
Notices. All notices, requests, consents and other communications required or permitted to be given
hereunder, shall be in writing and shall be delivered personally or sent by prepaid telegram, telex, facsimile transmission, overnight courier or
mailed, first class, postage prepaid by registered or certified mail, as follows:
If to the Company:
If to Executive:

LM Funding America, Inc., Bruce M. Rodgers, CEO
To Executive’s address as reflected on the payroll records of the Company

or such other address as either party shall designate by notice in writing to the other in accordance herewith. Any such notice shall be deemed
given when so delivered personally, by telex, facsimile transmission or telegram, or if sent by overnight courier, one day after delivery to such
courier by the sender or if mailed, five days after deposit by the sender in the U.S. mails.
Section 11.
Entire Agreement. This Agreement shall constitute the entire agreement between Executive and the
Company concerning the subject matter hereof. This Agreement supersedes and preempts any prior employment agreement or other
understandings, agreements or representations by or among the parties, written or oral, that may have related to the subject matter hereof. No
provisions of this Agreement may be modified, waived or discharged unless such waiver, modification or discharge is agreed to in writing,
signed by Executive and an authorized officer of the Company.
Section 12.
Governing Law. This Agreement shall be subject to and governed by the laws of the State of Florida,
without giving effect to the principles of conflicts of law under Florida law that would require or permit the application of the laws of a
jurisdiction other than the State of Florida and irrespective of the fact that the parties now or at any time may be residents of or engage in
activities in a different state. Employee agrees that in the event of any dispute or claim arising under this Agreement, jurisdiction and venue
shall be vested and proper, and Employee hereby consents to

the jurisdiction of any court sitting in Tampa, Florida, including the United States District Court for the Middle District of Florida.
Section 13.
Full Settlement. Executive acknowledges and agrees that, subject to the payment by the Company of the
benefits provided in this Agreement to Executive, in no event will the Company nor any subsidiary or affiliate thereof be liable to Executive
for damages under any claim of breach of contract as a result of the termination of Executive’s employment. In the event of any such
termination, the Company shall be liable only to provide to Executive, or Executive’s heirs or beneficiaries, the benefits specified in this
Agreement.
Section 14.
Strict Compliance. Executive’s or the Company’s failure to insist upon strict compliance with any
provision of this Agreement or the failure to assert any right Executive or the Company may have hereunder shall not be deemed to be a waiver
of such provision or right or any other provision or right of this Agreement. The waiver, whether express or implied, by either party of a
violation of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall not operate or be construed as a waiver of any subsequent violation of any such
provision.
Section 15.
Creditor Status. No benefit or promise hereunder shall be secured by any specific assets of the
Company. Executive shall have only the rights of an unsecured general creditor of the Company in seeking satisfaction of such benefits or
promises.
Section 16.
Section 409A. This Agreement is intended to comply with the requirements of Section 409A of the
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (“Section 409A”), and shall be construed accordingly. Any payments or distributions to be made
to Executive under this Agreement upon a separation from service of amounts classified as “nonqualified deferred compensation” for purposes
of Section 409A, shall in no event be made or commence until six months after such separation from service if Executive is determined to be a
specified Executive of a public company (all as determined under Section 409A). Each payment of nonqualified deferred compensation under
this Agreement shall be treated as a separate payment for purposes of Section 409A. Any reimbursements made pursuant to this Agreement
shall be paid as soon as practicable but no later than 90 days after Executive submits evidence of such expenses to the Company (which
payment date shall in no event be later than the last day of the calendar incurred). The amount of such reimbursements paid and any in-kind
benefits the year following the calendar year in which the

expense was provided during any calendar year shall not affect the reimbursements paid or in-kind benefits provided in any other calendar
year, and the right to any such payments and benefits shall not be subject to liquidation or exchange for another payment or benefit.
Section 17.
Cooperation. Executive agrees to provide assistance to and cooperate with the Company upon its
reasonable request with respect to matters within the scope of Executive’s duties and responsibilities during the Restricted Period. During such
Period, the Company shall, to the maximum extent coordinate or cause any such request with Executive’s other commitments and
responsibilities to minimize the degree to which such request interferes with such commitments and responsibilities. The Company agrees that
it will reimburse Executive for reasonable documented travel expenses (i.e., travel, meals and lodging) that Executive may incur in providing
assistance to the Company hereunder.
Section 18.
Non-disparagement. Executive agrees to not make any statements, written or oral, while employed by
the Company and thereafter, which would be reasonably likely to disparage or damage the Company, its affiliates or subsidiaries or the
personal or professional reputation of any present or former employees, officers or members of the managing or directorial boards or
committees of the Company or its affiliates or subsidiaries. The Company agrees that it will instruct each of its and its affiliates’ and
subsidiaries’ members, directors, managers, officers and employees not to make any disparaging communication regarding Executive, and no
such person or entity will be authorized on the Company’s or any affiliate’s or subsidiary’s behalf to make any such disparaging
communications regarding Executive.
Section 19.
Recoupment. Executive agrees to reimburse the Company for all or a portion, as determined below, of
any bonus or incentive or equity-based compensation paid or awarded to Executive by the Company, if the Board determines that (a) the
payment, award or vesting thereof was predicated upon the achievement of certain financial results that were subsequently the subject of a
material financial restatement, (b) Executive engaged in fraud or misconduct that caused, in whole or in part, the need for the material financial
restatement, and (c) a lower payment, award or vesting would have occurred based upon the restated financial results. In such event, Executive
agrees to reimburse (in the manner determined by the Board, including cancellation of options or other stock awards) any bonus or incentive or
equity-based compensation previously paid, awarded or vested in

the amount by which such bonus or incentive or equity-based compensation actually paid, awarded or vested exceeds the lower payment,
award or vesting that would have occurred based upon the restated financial result; provided that no reimbursement shall be required if the
payment, award or vesting otherwise subject to reimbursement hereunder occurred more than three (3) years prior to the date the applicable
reinstatement is disclosed. In addition, notwithstanding anything to the contrary, any bonus or incentive or equity-based compensation, or other
compensation, payable to Executive pursuant to this Agreement or any other agreement, plan or arrangement of the Company shall be subject
to repayment or recoupment (clawback) by the Company to the extent applicable under Section 304 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (and
not otherwise exempted) and in accordance with such policies and procedures as the Board or the Compensation Committee of the Board may
adopt from time to time, including policies and procedures to implement applicable law (including, but not limited to, Section 954 of the DoddFrank Act), stock market or exchange rules and regulations or accounting or tax rules and regulations.
Section 20.
Survival. Any provision of this Agreement that is expressly or by implication intended to survive the
termination of this Agreement shall survive or remain in effect after the termination of this Agreement.
Section 21.
Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, anyone of which need not
contain the signature of more than one party, but all such counterparts taken together shall constitute one and the same agreement.
[Signature Page Follows]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the day and year first written above.
LM FUNDING AMERICA, INC.
By:/s/ Bruce M. Rodgers
Bruce M. Rodgers, Chief Executive Officer
EXECUTIVE
/s/ Richard Russell
Richard Russell

EXHIBIT A
FORM OF RELEASE
This RELEASE (“Release”) is granted effective as of the [] day of [], 20[] by [
•••] (the “Executive”) in favor of [] (the “Company”)
and the other Released Parties (as defined below). This is
the Release referred to in the Employment Agreement,
dated as of _____________________, between the
Company and the Executive (the “Employment
Agreement”). The Executive gives this Release in
consideration of the Company’s promises and covenants
contained in the Employment Agreement, with respect to
which this Release is an integral part.
1.
Release of the Company. The Executive, for himself, his successors, assigns, attorneys, and all those entitled to assert his
rights, now and forever hereby releases and discharges the Company and its respective officers, directors, stockholders, trustees, Executives,
agents, parent corporations, subsidiaries, affiliates, estates, successors, assigns and attorneys (the “Released Parties”), from any and all claims,
actions, causes of action, sums of money due, suits, debts, liens, covenants, contracts, obligations, costs, expenses, damages, judgments,
agreements, promises, demands, claims for attorney’s fees and costs, or liabilities whatsoever, in law or in equity, which the Executive ever
had or now has against the Released Parties, arising by reason of or in any way connected with or which may be traced either directly or
indirectly to the employment relationship which existed between the Company or any of its parents, subsidiaries, affiliates, or predecessors and
the Executive, or the termination of that relationship, that the Executive has, had or purports to have, from the beginning of time to the date of
this Release, whether known or unknown, that now exists, no matter how remotely they may be related to the aforesaid employment
relationship including but not limited to claims for employment discrimination under federal or state law, except as provided in Paragraph 2;
claims arising under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act, 42 U.S.C. § 2000(e), et seq. or the Americans With Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. § 12101,
et seq.; claims for statutory or common law wrongful discharge, including any claims arising under the Fair Labor Standards Act, 29 U.S.C.
§ 201, et seq.; claims for attorney’s fees, expenses and costs; claims for defamation; claims for wages or vacation pay; claims for benefits,
including any claims arising under the Executive Retirement Income Security Act, 29 U.S.C. § 1001, et seq.; and provided, however, that
nothing herein shall release the Company of its obligations to the Executive under the Employment Agreement between

the Company and the Executive or any other contractual obligations between the Company or its subsidiaries or affiliates and the Executive
(including, without limitation, any equity award agreement or indemnification agreement), or any indemnification obligations to the Executive
under the Company’s certificate of incorporation, bylaws, operating agreement or other constituent document or any federal, state or local law
or otherwise.
2.
Release of Claims Under Age Discrimination in Employment Act. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the
Executive agrees that by executing this Release, he has released and waived any and all claims he has or may have as of the date of this Release
for age discrimination under the Age Discrimination in Employment Act, 29 U.S.C. § 621, et seq. It is understood that the Executive has been
advised to consult with an attorney prior to executing this Release; that he in fact has consulted a knowledgeable, competent attorney regarding
this Release; that he may, before executing this Release, consider this Release for a period of 21 calendar days; and that the consideration he
receives for this Release is in addition to amounts to which he was already entitled. It is further understood that this Release is not effective
until seven calendar days after the execution of this Release and that the Executive may revoke this Release within seven calendar days from
the date of execution hereof.
The Executive agrees that he has carefully read this Release and is signing it voluntarily. The Executive acknowledges that he has
had 21 days from receipt of this Release to review it prior to signing or that, if the Executive is signing this Release prior to the expiration of
such 21‑day period, the Executive is waiving his right to review the Release for such full 21‑day period prior to signing it. The Executive has
the right to revoke this release within seven days following the date of its execution by him. However, if the Executive revokes this Release
within such seven-day period, no severance benefit will be payable to him under the Employment Agreement and he shall return to the
Company any such payment received prior to that date.
THE EXECUTIVE HAS CAREFULLY READ THIS RELEASE AND ACKNOWLEDGES THAT IT CONSTITUTES A
GENERAL RELEASE OF ALL KNOWN AND UNKNOWN CLAIMS AGAINST THE COMPANY UNDER THE AGE
DISCRIMINATION IN EMPLOYMENT ACT. THE EXECUTIVE ACKNOWLEDGES THAT HE HAS HAD A FULL OPPORTUNITY
TO CONSULT WITH AN ATTORNEY OR OTHER ADVISOR OF HIS

CHOOSING CONCERNING HIS EXECUTION OF THIS RELEASE AND THAT HE IS SIGNING THIS RELEASE VOLUNTARILY
AND WITH THE FULL INTENT OF RELEASING THE COMPANY FROM ALL SUCH CLAIMS.
Name
[
Date: [•], 20[•]

of

Executive:
]

Exhibit 10.46
AMENDMENT TO EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT OF CAROL LINN GOULD
This (“Amendment”) is dated April 15, 2019, (“Effective Date”) to the Employment Agreement dated as of October 22, 2015 and amended as
of August 30, 2016 (“Amendment”), by and between LM Funding America, Inc., Delaware incorporated corporation (the “Company”), and
Carollinn Gould (“Executive”).
WHEREAS: On August 30, 2016, Executive and Company agreed to reduce Executive’s cash Salary compensation by an amount equal to
30% of the original agreed upon amount pro-rata, commencing on the effective date of the Amendment and continuing thereafter for the
duration of the term of the original Employment Agreement at the request of the Board of Directors. This reduction is in connection with cost
saving measures and a general reduction of salaries to the Company’s senior management; and
WHEREAS: Such reduction has remained in place from the date of the Amendment and the end of the original Employment Agreement and
through the Effective Date
NOW THEREFORE: Section 3(a) of the Employment Agreement, titled, “Compensation” is hereby deleted in its entirety and hereby
substituted with the following, to read:
(a) Commencing April 15, 2019, the Company agrees to pay to Executive a salary in cash (the
“Salary”), as compensation for the services to be performed by Executive, at the rate of $150,000 per calendar
year, paid in accordance with the Company’s customary payroll procedures and subject to applicable
withholding. Upon completion of the initial public offering, Executive shall be eligible for a bonus as
determined by the Board. Based on Executive’s performance, Executive will receive a merit increase for
calendar year 2016, effective January 1, 2016, in an amount to be determined by the Board in its sole
discretion. During the Term, the Board shall have the right to increase, but not decrease, the Salary, except the
Board may decrease the Salary in connection with a base salary decrease that is generally applicable to all
members of the Company’s senior management. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Executive will
be eligible for additional annual salary merit increases during the Term beginning in 2016 based on the
evaluation of Executive’s performance as determined by the Board in its sole discretion. Executive’s salary as in
effect from time to time shall constitute the “Salary” for purposes of this Agreement.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the day and year first written above.
LM FUNDING AMERICA, INC.
By:
Russell
Richard Russell, Chief Financial Officer

/s/

Richard

EXECUTIVE
/s/
L Gould
Carol L. Gould

Carol

Exhibit 10.47
AMENDMENT TO EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT OF BRUCE M. RODGERS
This (“Amendment”) is dated April 15, 2019, (“Effective Date”) to the Employment Agreement dated as of October 22, 2015 and amended as
of August 30, 2016 (“Amendment”), by and between LM Funding America, Inc., Delaware incorporated corporation (the “Company”), and
Bruce M. Rodgers (“Executive”).
WHEREAS: On August 30, 2016, Executive and Company agreed to reduce his or her cash Salary compensation by an amount equal to 30%
of the original agreed upon amount pro-rata, commencing on the effective date of the Amendment and continuing thereafter for the duration of
the term of the original Employment Agreement at the request of the Board of Directors. This reduction is in connection with cost saving
measures and a general reduction of salaries to the Company’s senior management; and
WHEREAS: Such reduction has remained in place since the date of the Amendment, through the end of the original Employment Agreement,
and through the Effective Date.
NOW THEREFORE: Section 3(a) of the Employment Agreement, titled, “Compensation” is hereby deleted in its entirety and hereby
substituted with the following, to read:
(a) Commencing April 15, 2019, the Company agrees to pay to Executive a salary in cash (the
“Salary”), as compensation for the services to be performed by Executive, at the rate of $385,000 per calendar
year, paid in accordance with the Company’s customary payroll procedures and subject to applicable
withholding. Upon completion of the initial public offering, Executive shall be eligible for a bonus as
determined by the Board. Based on Executive’s performance, Executive will receive a merit increase for
calendar year 2016, effective January 1, 2016, in an amount to be determined by the Board in its sole
discretion. During the Term, the Board shall have the right to increase, but not decrease, the Salary, except the
Board may decrease the Salary in connection with a base salary decrease that is generally applicable to all
members of the Company’s senior management. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Executive will
be eligible for additional annual salary merit increases during the Term beginning in 2016 based on the
evaluation of Executive’s performance as determined by the Board in its sole discretion. Executive’s salary as in
effect from time to time shall constitute the “Salary” for purposes of this Agreement.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the day and year first written above.
LM FUNDING AMERICA, INC.
By:
Russell
Richard Russell, Chief Financial Officer
EXECUTIVE
/s/ Bruce M. Rodgers
Bruce M. Rodgers

/s/

Richard

Exhibit 21.1
SUBSIDIARIES OF LM FUNDING AMERICA, INC.
Except as indicated below, all of the following subsidiaries are 100% owned by LM Funding, LLC, a Florida limited liability company:
NAME OF SUBSIDIARY
LM Funding, LLC (1)
LM Funding, LLC (1)
LMF October 2010 Fund, LLC
REO Holdings Management, LLC (2)
LM Funding of Colorado, LLC
LM Funding of Washington, LLC
LMF SPE#2, LLC
LM Funding of Illinois, LLC
LM Financial Partners, LLC
Central Florida Office Ventures, LLC
Data Investigative Services, LLC
Diligent Association Title, LLC
IIU, Inc (1)
Wallach & Company (3)
(1)
(2)
(3)

JURISDICTION OF ORGANIZATION
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Colorado
Washington
Florida
Illinois
Florida
Florida
Florida
Florida
Virginia
Virginia

Owned 100% by LM Funding America, Inc.
REO Holdings Management owns a number of single purpose LLC entities for owning various properties
Owned 100% by IIU, Inc.

Exhibit 31.1
Certification of Chief Executive Officer
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
I, Bruce Rodgers, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of LM Funding America Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of
the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results
of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e)
and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which
this report is being prepared;
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure
controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and
the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.

April 16, 2019

/s/ Bruce Rodgers
Bruce Rodgers
CEO and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

A signed original of this document has been provided to LM Funding America, Inc. and will be retained by LM Funding America, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and
Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

Exhibit 31.2
Certification of Chief Financial Officer
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
I, Richard Russell, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of LM Funding America Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of
the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results
of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e)
and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which
this report is being prepared;
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure
controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and
the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.

April 16, 2019

/s/ Richard Russell
Richard Russell
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

A signed original of this document has been provided to LM Funding America, Inc. and will be retained by LM Funding America, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and
Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

Exhibit 32.1
Written Statement of the Chief Executive Officer
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350
Solely for the purposes of complying with 18 U.S.C. ss.1350, I, the undersigned Chief Executive Officer of LM Funding America, Inc. (the “Company”), hereby
certify, based on my knowledge, that the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the annual period ended December 31, 2018 as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on April 16, 2019 (the “Report”), fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and that
information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

April 16, 2019

/s/Bruce Rodgers
Bruce Rodgers
CEO and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

A signed original of this document has been provided to LM Funding America, Inc. and will be retained by LM Funding America, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and
Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

Exhibit 32.2
Written Statement of the Chief Financial Officer
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350
Solely for the purposes of complying with 18 U.S.C. ss.1350, I, the undersigned Chief Financial Officer of LM Funding America, Inc. (the “Company”), hereby
certify, based on my knowledge, that the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the annual period ended December 31, 2018 as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on April 16, 2019 (the “Report”), fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and that
information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

April 16, 2019

/s/ Richard Russell
Richard Russell
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

A signed original of this document has been provided to LM Funding America, Inc. and will be retained by LM Funding America, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and
Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

